
 

 

Contact: 
Direct Dial: 
E-mail: 
Date: 

Brent Cross 
01275 888 078 
brent.cross@n-somerset.gov.uk 
13 March 2024  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Sir or Madam 
 
The Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel – Thursday, 21 March 
2024, 10.00 am – New Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 
A meeting of the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel will take place as 
indicated above.   
 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
To: Members of the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 

 
Councillors: 
 
Dan Thomas (Chairperson), Timothy Snaden (Vice-Chairperson), Nigel Ashton, 
Annabelle Chard, Jemma Coles, Wendy Griggs, Lisa Pilgrim, Terry Porter, Luke 
Smith, Joe Tristram, Richard Tucker and Georgie Bigg. 
 
 
 
This document and associated papers can be made available in a different 
format on request. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

Agenda 
  
1.   Public Discussion (Standing Order SSO9)   

 
To receive and hear any person who wishes to address the Panel on matters 
which affect the District and fall within the remit of the Panel. The Chairperson will 
select the order of the matters to be heard. Members of the Panel may ask 
questions of the member of the public and a dialogue between the parties can be 
undertaken. 
  
Requests to speak must be submitted in writing to the Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services, or the officer mentioned at the top of this agenda letter, by 
noon on the day before. 
  

2.   Apologies for Absence and Notifications for Substitutes   
  

3.   Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (Standing Order 37)   
 
A Member must declare any disclosable pecuniary interest where it relates to any 
matter being considered at the meeting. A declaration of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest should indicate the interest and the agenda item to which it relates. A 
Member is not permitted to participate in this agenda item by law and should 
immediately leave the meeting before the start of any debate. 
  
If the Member leaves the Chamber in respect of a declaration, he or she should 
ensure that the Chairperson is aware of this before he or she leaves to enable 
their exit from the meeting to be recorded in the minutes in accordance with 
Standing Order 37. 
  
  

4.   Minutes  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
Minutes of the meeting of 2 November 2023, to approve as a correct record. 
  

5.   Matters referred by Council, the Executive, other Committees and Panels (if 
any)   
  

6.   Alliance Homes Update  (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
Report of the Chief Operating Officer, Alliance Homes. 
  

7.   Quality Assurance and Preparedness for Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
inspection   (Pages 15 - 40) 
 
Report of the Assurance Lead Programme Manager. 
  

8.   Report of the ASH Adult Social Care Performance Measures working group   
(Pages 41 - 44) 
 
Report of the Chairperson, Adults Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny 
Panel. 
  

Page 2



 

 

9.   Healthwatch Report: Time to think differently about Social Care  (Pages 45 - 
78) 
 
Report of the Chair of Healthwatch, BNSSG. 
  

10.   Adult Social Services and Housing Annual Commissioning Intentions Report 
2024/25  (Pages 79 - 216) 
 
Report of the Head of Strategy and Commissioning. 
  

11.   Update on the management of 'Transitions' between Children's social care 
and Adult social care.  (Pages 217 - 228) 
 
Report of the Head of Service - Mental Health, Learning Disability and DoLS. 
  

12.   Finance Update (as at month 10)  (Pages 229 - 242) 
 
Report of the Senior/Principal Accountant (Adults). 
  

13.   The ASH Panel Work Plan March 2024  (Pages 243 - 246) 
 
Report of the Policy and Scrutiny Senior Officer. 
 

 
 
 Exempt Items 

 
Should the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel wish to consider 
a matter as an Exempt Item, the following resolution should be passed -  
 
“(1) That the press, public, and officers not required by the Members, the Chief 
Executive or the Director, to remain during the exempt session, be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of the following item of business on the ground 
that its consideration will involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972.” 
 
Also, if appropriate, the following resolution should be passed –  
  
“(2) That members of the Council who are not members of the Adult Services and 
Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel be invited to remain.” 
 
Mobile phones and other mobile devices 
 
All persons attending the meeting are requested to ensure that these devices are 
switched to silent mode. The chairman may approve an exception to this request 
in special circumstances. 
 
Filming and recording of meetings 
 
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting purposes. 
 
Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press 

Page 3



 

 

and public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to 
do so, as directed by the Chairman.  Any filming must be done as unobtrusively as 
possible from a single fixed position without the use of any additional lighting, 
focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard to 
the wishes of any members of the public present who may not wish to be filmed. 
As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the 
Chairman or the Assistant Director Legal & Governance and Monitoring Officer’s 
representative before the start of the meeting so that all those present may be 
made aware that it is happening. 
 
Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social 
media to report on proceedings at this meeting. 
 
Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
On hearing the alarm – (a continuous two tone siren) 
 
Leave the room by the nearest exit door.  Ensure that windows are closed. 
 
Last person out to close the door. 
 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings. 
 
Do not use the lifts. 
 
Follow the green and white exit signs and make your way to the assembly point. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until authorised to do so by the Fire Authority. 
 
Go to Assembly Point C – Outside the offices formerly occupied by Stephen 
& Co 

 

Page 4



 

1 
 

Brent Cross,  01275 888 078 ASH minutes 021123 
 

Minutes 
of the Meeting of 

The Adult Services and Housing Policy and 
Scrutiny Panel 
Thursday, 2 November 2023 
New Council Chamber - Town Hall 
 
Meeting Commenced: 10.03 am Meeting Concluded: 12.35 pm 
 
Councillors: 
 
Dan Thomas (Chairperson) 
Timothy Snaden (Vice-Chairperson) 
 
Nigel Ashton 
Annabelle Chard 
Jemma Coles 
Lisa Pilgrim 
Luke Smith 
Joe Tristram 
Richard Tucker 
 
Apologies: Councillors: Wendy Griggs and Terry Porter. Co-opted Member Georgie Bigg. 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Jenna Ho Marris and Roger Whitfield. 
 
Officers in attendance: Hayley Verrico, Gerald Hunt, Sarah Stillwell, Abby Murphy, 
Graham Booth, Brent Cross and Harriet Isherwood. 
  
ASH
12 

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (Standing Order 37) 
 
None. 
  

ASH
13 

Minutes 
 
Minutes of the Panel meeting held on 6 July 2023 – to approve as a correct 
record. 
  
Recommended: that the minutes of the meeting of 6 July 2023 be approved as a 
correct record. 
  

ASH
14 

Better Care Fund Update 
 
The Assistant Director, Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing Solutions 
presented the report which discussed the Better Care Fund Plan for 2023-25. As 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Brent Cross,  01275 888 078 ASH minutes 021123 
 

the report had not been included, Members were reminded that this report had 
also been discussed at the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting of 24 August, and 
could be found in the papers for that meeting. 
  
The report included details of the North Somerset Local Priorities, key changes 
since the previous Better Care Fund Plan, and the approach to collaboration and 
joint commissioning. The Assistant Director also gave a verbal update on 
progression of the Winter Planning preparations. 
  
In discussion, the following topics were raised:  

       Even though the coming winter would be challenging, the main reasons 
behind North Somerset performing comparatively well on hospital 
discharges were the work on falls interventions, the use of TEC 
(Technology Enabled Care) and improvements in the capacity of the 
reablement service. 

       The Wellness and Rapid Response teams being linked to create a 
collaborative model to prioritise responses to incidents. 

       Monitoring by Transfer of Care hubs would work to prevent people being 
discharged from hospital before they were clinically ready, in the context of 
the national Discharge to Assess model where this was a pressure point. 

       That longer stays in hospital could reduce the cost of care packages 
needed, but that since longer waiting times and delays in elective surgeries 
that started during the Covid pandemic were still occurring and causing a 
backlog, it was not always practical to keep patients in hospitals for longer. 
  

Recommended: that with the understanding that the report would be circulated 
after the meeting, and Member’s comments collated, the report be received and 
comments forwarded to officers in the form of minutes. 
  

ASH
15 

Performance Monitoring 
 
The Principal Business Intelligence Lead presented the report which was a 
response to Members asking for regular performance updates at the previous 
meeting of the ASH Panel. It was emphasised that the data used was from quarter 
1 as that had been what was available at the publication deadline for this meeting. 
  
Members suggested that, to make the data more timely, they could be circulated 
to the Panel on a monthly basis instead of holding them over to one of the three 
formal meetings a year. 
  
Members also discussed: the reduction in the number of affordable homes 
available; the use of the ‘local measure’ statistic in the reports, and that the KPIs 
containing these had been agreed as part of the Corporate Plan progress in 
response to requests from Members; and that officers would return with more 
detail on the increase in crisis support numbers. 
  
Recommended: that the report be received and comments forwarded to officers 
in the form of minutes. 
  

ASH
16 

Housing Strategy Year 1 Review 
 
The report was presented by the Head of Housing Solutions and provided a 

Page 6



3 
 

Brent Cross,  01275 888 078 ASH minutes 021123 
 

review of the Housing Strategy to ensure that all actions were still relevant and 
achievable. 
  
Members commented as follows: 

       That the use of incentives, as opposed to penalties, for landlords was 
preferable. 

       That the incentives (of up to £5,000) had caused an increase in the number 
of landlords contacting the Housing team. 

       That compulsory purchase of empty homes was always meant to be a last 
resort. 

       That the Affordable Housing working group could investigate whether there 
was a  need for increasing the number of 1-bedroom housing units in new 
builds. 

       That the Local Housing Allowance was a rate set by national government 
and had not increased since 2020 – Members were urged to lobby local 
MPs and government directly for an update to this. 

       That there had been an increase in the number of people approaching the 
Housing team because of unaffordable rents. 

  
Recommended: that the report be received and comments forwarded to officers 
in the form of minutes. 
  
********************************************************************************************* 

The Panel adjourned for a short break at 11:11 a.m. 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

The Panel reconvened at 11:20 a.m. 
********************************************************************************************* 
  

ASH
17 

North Somerset Safeguarding Adults Board 
 
The Director of Adult Social Services presented the report covering the activity of 
the North Somerset Safeguarding Adults Board for the 2022-23 year. Included in 
the presentation were details about the funding of the Board, a few case studies 
showing the work carried out by the Board and an overview of the safeguarding 
work carried out by North Somerset Council. 
  
Members sought more detail on the case studies and were assured that the 
lessons learned from the Safeguarding Adults Reviews were shared robustly. Any 
data that was missing from the draft report was being validated by the Department 
of Health and Social Care and would be on the Board’s website by the following 
week. Members were also assured that the reviews were multi-agency and that 
on-site reviews engaged with all staff and not solely at the management level 
when performing a Safeguarding Adults Review. 
  
Recommended: that the report be received and comments forwarded to officers 
in the form of minutes. 
  

ASH
18 

Adult Social Services Commissioning Strategy 
 
The report, presented by the Assistant Director, Commissioning, Partnerships and 
Housing Solutions, went into detail on the seven-year overarching commissioning 

Page 7



4 
 

Brent Cross,  01275 888 078 ASH minutes 021123 
 

strategy that identified the commissioning intentions for both statutory and non-
statutory (early prevention and intervention) services, given that Adults Social 
Services was currently spending approximately £100m annually on 
commissioning. 
  
In discussion, Members raised the following topics: that the majority of out-of-
district placements were from hospitals in Devon and Somerset; that the difference 
between Extra Care housing and Supported Living was that Supported Living 
accommodation was smaller and focused on more complex need; possible links to 
the Local Plan to support need; and that the data could be reported on more 
regularly.  
  
Recommended: that the report be received and comments forwarded to officers 
in the form of minutes. 
  

ASH
19 

Finance Update 
 
The Senior / Principal Accountant (Adults) presented the report summarising and 
discussing current forecast spend against budget for adult services, highlighting 
key variances, movements, and contextual information. The forecast was based 
on figures at the end of month 5 (August 2023) and showed a predicted year end 
underspend of £0.282m. 
  
Members’ input on the data to be used for future reports was requested, and the 
Director of Adults Services pointed out that difficult savings of £17m would need to 
be made over the coming four year period as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) process. 
  
Members then had queries and requests for clarification on the following:  

       that demands were managed through the use of the reablement service, 
TEC, adaptations to accommodation, the pathways from Childrens to 
Adults Services, and a focus on doing more work on preventative 
strategies.  

       The financial projections were made on a combination of volume and price 
due to the different cost of individual packages. 

       The Office for National Statistics produced ward-level population data that 
were used in financial projections. 

  
Recommended: that the report be received and comments forwarded to officers 
in the form of minutes. 
  

ASH
20 

ASH Work Plan November 2023 
 
The Policy and Scrutiny Senior Officer discussed the Panel’s work plan and invited 
discussion with Members for additional items to add to it, as well as picking up any 
actions from the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

   
Chairman 

 
 

Page 8



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 21 March 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Alliance Homes Update 
 
Town or Parish:  
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Iain Lock, Chief Operating Officer, Alliance 
Homes 
 
Key Decision: NO 
 
Reason: 
Not an Executive decision. 
 
 
Recommendations 
To update and receive feedback from the Panel on the activities of Alliance Homes. 
 
1. Summary of Report 
Following recent communication with Elected Members and Senior Council Officers, it has 
been agreed that Alliance will report an update to ASH on matters affecting housing 
services and maintenance across the Alliance Homes portfolio. 
 
The paper in Appendix 1 provides a high-level strategic context and aims to support a 
proactive, transparent conversation. 
 
2. Policy 
The applicable ambitions set out in the North Somerset Corporate Plan 2024-28 are:  

• Our communities are caring, healthy and safe, where people help each other to live 
well.  

• Our towns and villages are thriving and sustainable places to live, work and visit. 
 
3. Details 
As set out in appendix 1. 
 
4. Consultation 
N/A. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
N/A. 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
N/A.  
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
N/A. 
 
8. Risk Management 
N/A. 
 
9. Equality Implications 
N/A. 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
N/A. 
 
11. Options Considered 
As set out in appendix 1. 
 
 
Author: 
Brent Cross, Policy and Scrutiny Senior Officer 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1: Alliance Homes Update 
 
 
Background Papers: 
None. 
 
 
 

Page 10



REPORT 
 

 

Alliance Homes | Report to ASH 21st March 2024 1 

Report for Adult Services & Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel (ASH) 

Date of meeting 21st March 2024 

Subject Alliance Homes Update 

Status For information and discussion 

Presented by Iain Lock – Chief Operating Officer 

Executive summary Following recent communication with Elected Members and Senior Council 

Officers, it has been agreed that Alliance will report an update to ASH on matters 

affecting housing services and maintenance across the Alliance Homes portfolio. 

This paper provides a high-level strategic context and aims to support a proactive, 

transparent conversation.  

1. Our strategic ambitions 

2. Our operating framework 

➢ Our strategic 

plan – Plan A 

2.0 – sets out 

our ambitions 

against five core 

objectives. 

➢ We anchor what 

we do (and what 

we don’t) 

against Plan A 

2.0, aligning our 

KPIs, risk and 

priorities too. 

➢ We have 

developed a 

three-point 

operating 

framework to 

underpin how 

we work. 

➢ This framework 

helps to build 

accountability. 

Page 11



REPORT 
 

 

Alliance Homes | Report to ASH 21st March 2024 2 

3. Operating environment 

Macro environment 

The context for social housing has never been tougher. Changes to housing policy at a national level has 

resulted in new requirements for regulation and in particular safety and consumer standards, along with 

more scrutiny, increased demand for services and competition for resources. 

This macro-operating environment, together with an ongoing recovery from Covid (which meant we had to 

change how we work and defer investment in homes), has created a compounded challenge for housing 

associations, including Alliance. This is further exacerbated by public service funding pressures more 

broadly. 

As a result, there is a considerable strategic landscape working against housing, making the delivery of 

excellent service a bigger challenge. 

Local environment – Alliance context 

Our customers 

Customers are at the centre of our business, both in terms of our ambitions and how we design services. 

However, we know that we do not always get things right. 

Through our extensive and evolved customer engagement and segmentation work, we know our customers 

are experiencing life differently, with more customers presenting with complex cognitive and physical 

disabilities. This creates a new dynamic for us in terms of customer / landlord relationships and the types of 

services we can and cannot support. At times, the changing customer profile places additional pressures 

and requires more intensive management, but we are adapting our approaches in response. 

Customers rightly deserve their landlord to be accountable and transparent. We have a range of feedback 

mechanisms both formal and informal that we encourage customers to utilise, including: our Housing 

Ombudsman compliant complaints process, our contact centre, social media channels, through our 

community investment work in our core neighbourhoods, satisfaction surveys, our online customer 

engagement platform HIVE and at every point of customer contact. 

What is important, though, is not only how we listen, but how we capture learning, map trends, and take 

meaningful action. We have already taken steps to increase our resources in our feedback team to ensure 

complaints are resolved to service standard. 

Our homes 

We also know that a quality home, in good condition that is well maintained unlocks customer satisfaction 

and better life chances. 

We have seen a significant and material increase in demand for our property repairs and maintenance 

services over the last three years. 

The effects of under delivery of planned investment during the Covid-19 pandemic, the five years of rent cuts 

in the years preceding Covid, an ageing stock profile and more media interest in housing and housing 

condition, has been a catalyst for that spike in demand. The compound impact has directly affected our 

ability to respond, causing some challenges in efficiency, and this means we have a backlog that we are 

working through. 

Key challenges in the repairs arena have included the increased prominence of damp, mould and disrepair 

cases. We know this is a sector-wide issue and we have taken steps to improve our practices. 

As a responsible landlord, we invest a range of services and spend millions every year in repairing homes, 

improving homes when they are empty for new customers, upgrading homes with new kitchens, bathrooms, 

roofs, windows, and doors etc. We strive to achieve a standard higher than the minimum required by the 

Regulator of Social Housing. 

 

Page 12



REPORT 
 

 

Alliance Homes | Report to ASH 21st March 2024 3 

4. Performance 

Despite some of the operating challenges outlined above, we have continued to focus on performance 

improvement and investing our resources in improving quality of our homes. 

As requested, we have included some key metrics below that summarise key areas of enquiry requested by 

ASH. 

Stock condition 

Compliance with Decent Homes  99.12% 

Complaints 

Stage 1 resolution time   42 days 

Stage 2 resolution time   47 days 

This is a measure of stock condition and the 

core benchmark for housing associations. We 

employ three stock condition surveyors who 

complete routine surveys of all homes every 

five years to understand investment needs. 

We are experiencing more formal complaints 

than ever. We are not where we want to be 

but have approved resources to build a bigger 

feedback team to help improve performance. 

Maintenance spend (forecast YE 2/24) 

Responsive maintenance  £5.25m 

Planned investment (major works) £10.050m 

We are spending more each year to meet 

maintenance demands which has increased 

by 30% year on year. Our budgets for next 

year have increased further again, above 

inflation, to continue our investment in 

existing homes. 

Maintenance plans 

We develop investment plans based on stock data and using customer insight. Priorities include tackling 

damp and mould, energy investments / affordable warmth, major component replacements, safety 

servicing and safety projects and routine repairs. 

Investing in new homes 

Forecast completions (all locations) 136 

Forecast spend to YE 23/24   £50.3m 

We continue to invest in new homes, with 

80% of our total programme in North 

Somerset. We prioritise social rent, balanced 

with Shared Ownership to create diverse 

communities. 

We know building more affordable homes 

is essential to support the nation, regional 

and local housing crisis. We are 

ambitious and have delivered at scale, 

especially in North Somerset. 

An example here is 125 new affordable 

homes being delivered in partnership with 

Keepmoat Homes, Homes England, and 

North Somerset Council at Winterstoke 

Gate (Parklands Village). 

Page 13



REPORT 
 

 

Alliance Homes | Report to ASH 21st March 2024 4 

5. Evolving our engagement  

We recognise that elected Members and the Council are important stakeholders. With challenges to tackle, 

we will commit to evolving our engagement.  

The start of this is our attendance and reporting to ASH, which will provide a forum for proactive discussion 

about how we can work in partnership to address issues, against a wider understanding of our operating 

environment and regulatory pressures.  

Additionally, we already work with Councillors on topical matters. As an example, a recent petition 

concerning customers at Milton Rise and Charter Road has been the catalyst for thinking differently about 

how relationships need to evolve. In this instance, we have met with Senior Council Officers, Ward 

Councillors and cabinet members to agree a way forward that will include local engagement events and 

greater information sharing.  

We recognise that local political changes can make engagement harder. However, we are developing a 

stakeholder map of North Somerset, using ward boundaries to map against our housing portfolio. This will 

then allow us to be proactive in how we engage, when and with the right people. We intend to evolve this 

further with specific ‘ward profiles’ that gives Councillors more insight into the number of Alliance properties 

in an area, the type and tenure as well as key contacts.  

Our Councillor enquiry process has not always been followed fully and this can sometimes lead to delays in 

responding to emails or letters. We will refresh and re-publish that process, along with suggested service 

standards for replying that will help to manage expectations and avoid duplication or repeat enquiries, which 

we know adds frustration. 

6. Summary 

We welcome ongoing communication and engagement. There is a lot to do operationally, and we need the 

support of our key strategic partners and stakeholders to achieve success. We welcome feedback on this 

report and look forward to future opportunities to engage. 

Page 14



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to: Adult Services & Housing Scrutiny Panel  
 
Date of Meeting: 21/03/2024 
 
Subject of Report: Quality Assurance and Preparedness for Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Jo Hopkins – Principal Occupational Therapist  
 
Key Decision: NO 
 
Reason: Update on progress in respect of future Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
Assurance Visit. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Members of Adult Services and Housing Policy Scrutiny Panel are asked to note the report 
and its contents as part of their preparation for a future assurance visit from CQC. 
 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
This report intends to inform members of the panel about the latest updates from CQC 
following the pilot inspections and learning from those inspections. This report also intends 
to outline the North Somerset position and our preparedness and preparation for the CQC 
assurance visit.  
 
2. Policy 
The Health and Care Act (2022) gave the Care Quality Commission (CQC) new regulatory 
powers to undertake independent assessment of local authorities (LA’s) delivery of regulated 
care functions set out in Part 1 of the Care Act (2014). 

The assessment framework draws on the new CQC approach that defines a set of quality 
statements that are arranged under topic areas and describe what good care looks like. 
The framework aims to: 

• Set out clearly what people should expect a good service or system to look like. 
• Put people’s experiences of care at the heart of judgements. 
• Ensure that gathering and responding to feedback is central to the expectations of 

those assessed. 
 
Our Cooperate plan – focuses on the priorities residents have identified and sets out our 
Council’s vision. CQC assurance visit fits under our ambition 2&4 whereby our communities 
are caring, healthy and safe and where our council delivers consistently good services and 
value for money to support our communities.   
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted
https://www.cqc.org.uk/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/about-us/how-we-will-regulate/single-assessment-framework
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/local-authorities/assessment-framework-local-authority-assurance
https://n-somerset.inconsult.uk/gf2.ti/-/1569250/187070085.1/PDF/-/Corporate%20Plan%202020-2024%20DRAFT.pdf


3. Details 
 
Health and Social Care Act 2022 enabled Care Quality Commission to inspect local 
authorities. A framework was developed to assure consistency of measures across all 153 
local authorities. In the summer of 2023, the pilot inspections started. Five Local Authorities 
were selected to part take in the pilots. Those were:  
- Birmingham City Council 
- Nottingham City Council  
- Suffolk City Council  
- Lincolnshire city Council  
- North Lincolnshire City Council.  

 
The pilot inspections gave the opportunity to CQC as well as the Local Authorities to: 

•  test, refine and further develop CQC approach through pilot assessments. 
• gather information to help develop CQC and local authorities understanding of 

performance across local authorities. 
• establish a starting point to use as the basis for future assessments. 
• build relationships within each of the areas. 

 
Following the initial pilot inspection each of the above LA was given rating and full report of 
the inspection was published in November 2023. 4 local authorities were given ‘Good’ rating 
whereas Nottingham City Council was rated as ‘Requires Improvement’. Certain themes 
emerged from the pilot inspections which allowed CQC and local authorities to evaluate how 
the evidence is gathered/reviewed and where more focus should be given.  
 
Following the pilot inspections 3 further LA’s were selected for an assurance visit and these 
were announced in December 2023 (West Berkshire, Hounslow and Herefordshire). In 
January & February 13 further LA’s have been selected but none are in the Southwest. 
Further assurance visits can be announced at any time, and it is highly likely that future 
announcements will include Southwest councils and so it is important that we maintain our 
momentum and continue to prepare for an assurance visit. CQC is aiming to undertake 
assurance visits in all local authorities by 2025.  
 
The assessment process and what to expect:  
 
CQC will write to local authorities to notify them that they will be assessed and ask them to 
complete an information return. All local authorities will have 3 weeks to return this 
information back to CQC. CQC will tell the local authorities what types of information they 
need and a date when this is to be submitted. They will review the information provided and 
start engaging with the voluntary and community groups, providers, and other stakeholders, 
to inform the interviews inspectors will carry out while on site. Following the information 
gathering stage, CQC will contact local authorities again to give a date for on-site interviews. 
This will always be at least 6 to 8 weeks in advance of the visit.  
 
The on-site visit will be facilitated by team which will consist of  
➢ Assessment Managers 
➢ Inspectors 
➢ Specialist Advisors 
➢ Executive Reviewers 

 
The team will hold interviews with the Corporate Leadership Team, speak with people who 
are using care and support services, and with their representatives, front line staff, Portfolio 
Holder, Elected Members, and partner organisations. 
 

Page 16

https://www.cqc.org.uk/care-services/local-authority-assessment-reports
https://www.cqc.org.uk/care-services/local-authority-assessment-reports


When CQC have gathered enough evidence across the quality statements, they will draft an 
assessment report. Local authorities will be able to check the report for factual accuracy in 
advance of publication. CQC is using calibration panels to assure quality and fairness when 
giving scores and ratings. When the assurance process is complete, the CQC communication 
team will liaise with local authorities communication team before the report is published.  
 
North Somerset and our preparedness  
 
The information return to CQC includes a self-assessment and we are currently in the process 
of preparing the self-assessment which we can keep updated. We are using this opportunity 
to highlight our key successes as well as reviewing the key risks and challenges we are 
facing. It is vital to get the self-assessment as robust as possible and therefore contribution 
form senior leadership is paramount.  
 
To give us a better overview and understanding of the self-assessment we have recently (1-2 
February 2024) undergone a series of workshops facilitated by Local Government 
Association (LGA). Those workshops were aimed at front line staff, middle management and 
senior leadership and provided front line staff with level of reassurance and confidence for 
when the visit takes place and senior leadership with feedback on areas where more focus 
should be given.  
 
We now have the Quality Assurance team in place (full time quality assurance officer and 
part time quality assurance programme manager), and we are focusing on gathering the 
evidence for CQC as well as making sure that quality services are being delivered in North 
Somerset.  
 
It is important that we have robust governance in place and we have developed the following: 

• Assurance board – this was created in recognition of the changes to Health and Social 
Care Act 2022 whereby CQC was given the authority to inspect the local authorities 
Adult Social Services. The purpose of the Assurance Board is to provide governance 
over the development and approval of a plan to demonstrate delivery of reforms to adult 
social care.   

• Assurance network - This network was developed to share understanding of the wider 
aspects of quality assurance within North Somerset Council. This includes 
understanding the quality assurance framework as well as quality standards which North 
Somerset Adult Social Services are required to ensure compliance with. Core members 
consists of representatives from each team in Adult Social Services as well as 
representatives from Senior Leadership.   

 
Our Quality assurance team is keeping abreast with the latest updates from CQC and 
networking with other Southwest local authorities and ADASS. Although we do not know 
when we can expect an assurance visit, there is a good degree of confidence that we will be 
able to present them with good evidence of sound practice, coproduction, and engagement 
in North Somerset.  
 
In addition to the above, we are reporting regularly to the Director, Adult Social Services & 
Housing, the Directorate Leadership Team and to the Performance and Quality Board chaired 
by Jo Walker and attended by the Leader and Elected Members. Regular reports are also 
provided to Adult Services & Housing Scrutiny Panel.  
 
 
  
 

Page 17



4. Consultation 
 
The assurance assessment framework has been developed by CQC as a coproduction with 
carers and older and disabled people. The department has been engaging with our own staff, 
as well as with other council colleagues, Local Government association (LGA) and 
Association of Directors of Adult social Services (ADASS).  
 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report although I should be noted 
that there could be costs attached to a negative rating from the CQC. 
 
Funding – N/A  
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
 
The Health and Care Act 2022 gave the Care Quality Commission (CQC) new regulatory 
powers to undertake independent assessment of local authorities’ delivery of regulated care 
functions set out in Part 1 of the Care Act 2014. High level enabling legislation was introduced 
through amendments to the Health and Social Care Act 2008. This created a new duty for 
the CQC to review local authorities’ performance in discharging their adult social care 
functions under the Care Act 2014. Alongside this, the Health and Social Care Act gives the 
CQC powers to have oversight of Integrated Care Systems. 
 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
Assurance framework is considering climate impact through all new policy development, and 
therefore contributing to the council of being green. Contract managements and sustainability 
of market is also contributing towards Climate change.  
 
8. Risk Management 
 
The outcome of a CQC assurance visit will result in recommendations for improvement and 
we will need to develop an improvement plan and report on progress to the CQC. Non-
compliance with this requirement could have a reputational impact on the council.  
 
 
9. Equality Implications 
 
Equality diversity and inclusion Inherent with Theme 1 in CQC and forms a quality framework.  
An equalities impact screen was undertaken on commencing the programme The outcome 
was that the self-assessment and subsequent improvement plan will benefit all people who 
use council run and commissioned services. 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
 
We are committed to working closely with all Directorates within the council to ensure that we 
receive a positive rating from our CQC assurance visit.  
 
The outcome of this inspection will reflect on the council overall.  
 

Page 18



 
11. Options Considered 
N/A  
 
Author: 
 
 
Katie Lyddon  
Quality assurance programme manager  
Adult Social Services  
North Somerset Council  
 
Tel:                   07 385 430 574 
E-Mail:             katie.lyddon@n-somerset.gov.uk 
Team Email:        AdultServicesQA@n-somerset.gov.uk 
Web:              www.n-somerset.gov.uk 
 
Appendices: 
 
Please see links within the text above.  
 
Background Papers: 
 
Please see links within the text above.  
 
 
 

Page 19

mailto:katie.lyddon@n-somerset.gov.uk
http://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
Assurance Framework: What it means 
to us

March 2024 
Katie Lyddon 

Quality Assurance Programme Manager
Presented by Jo Hopkins – Principal Occupational Therapist  

P
age 21



Our Local Context
• Quality Assurance Framework – launched 

2019

• Assurance is everyone’s business

• Performance and Quality Board oversight

• Assurance Programme offers new 
opportunities

P
age 22



Overview of the Assessment
What is the remit? 
They are assessing how local authorities meet their duties under Part 1 of the Care Act (2014)

Who will they want to speak to? 
• People with lived expertise – includes carers
• Principal Social Worker/Occupational Therapist
• Assurance Programme Manager
• Director
• Staff
• Elected members

P
age 23



Open, Fairer, Greener

P
age 24



Quality Statements
For each theme they set out:

•The “I” statements and “quality” statements that they will assess:

• The 9 Quality statements are the commitments that local authorities must commit to. 
Expressed as ‘we statements’, they show what is needed to deliver high-quality, 
person-centred care.

• I statements are what people expect. They are based on Think Local Act Personal’s 
‘Making It Real’ framework.

•Sections of the Care Act to which the quality statements relate

•Required evidence categories for each quality statement and sources of evidence.

P
age 25



Further Reading

What we know from the 5 pilot 
sites:

Evaluation of CQC's local authority pilot 
assessments - Care Quality Commission

Overview of the Assessment 
framework:

Assessment framework for local authority 
assurance - Care Quality Commission 
(cqc.org.uk)

P
age 26

https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/evaluation-la-pilot-assessments
https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/evaluation-la-pilot-assessments
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-regulation/local-authorities/assessment-framework
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-regulation/local-authorities/assessment-framework
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-regulation/local-authorities/assessment-framework


Learning from the First Five
Local Authority Overall Rating 

Received

Birmingham City 
Council

Good

Nottingham City 
Council 

Requires 
Improvement

Suffolk County 
Council 

Good

Lincolnshire 
County Council 

Good

North Lincolnshire 
Council 

Good

• We don’t need to be perfect. 
They had waiting lists and 
staff vacancies but were still 
good

• Partnership Working is 
essential

• Focus on transitions

• Need to seek the views of the 
“Seldom heard”

• A “learning culture” is needed

1. Evidence shows 
significant shortfalls 
in the standard of 
care – Inadequate 

2. Evidence shows 
some shortfalls in the 
standard of care – 
Requires 
improvement

3. Evidence shows a 
good standard of 
care - Good

4. Evidence shows an 
exceptional standard 
of care-  Excellent 

P
age 27



When are they likely to come?

• CQC ambition is to inspect all LA’s by 
end of 2025

• There is a similar, parallel process for 
inspecting ICS at present

• Local Authorities in the Southwest have 
been notified for an assurance visit

Date of notification Number of Local 
Authorities selected

In progress 3

January 7

February 5

P
age 28



The Process 

 

Preparation

•Self-Assessment
•Improvement 
Planning

•Staff Engagement
• coproduction- 
people with lived 
experience 

• data/evidence  
gathering 

Getting ‘the call’

•North Somerset yet to be 
selected

•Time will be given in advance 
of on-site arrival 

•Internal communication – 
Escalation plan is being 
prepared

•They will check our website

Information Return

•Required within between 1 
and 3 weeks

•Grouped and defined by 
Quality Statements

• case tracking (list of 50 
from which they will 
choose 6 + 4)

• resources it takes to 
prepare –must not be 
underestimated

Visit

•Around 3 days onsite
•Speaking to: PSW, 
DASS, Lead Member, 
frontline staff

•Not necessarily 
interested in middle 
management

Follow-up

•CQC may request further 
information following the 
visit

•Review and feedback on 
initial report

•Communication 
regarding final report – 
and rating

P
age 29

https://www.local.gov.uk/adult-social-care-assurance-guide-support-development-your-adult-social-care-self-assessment-6-june
https://www.cqc.org.uk/local-systems/local-authorities/la-information-return


Open, Fairer, Greener

Are we ready? q Raising Awareness
q Assurance Framework being reviewed
q Write a Practice Quality framework to 

include quality statements
q Draft Self-Assessment written
q Collaborative Approach to Self-

Assessment revisions
q Evidence Gathering
q Website Improvement Programme
q Collecting 50 cases
q Service Transformation continues

P
age 30



How are we supporting Staff
February 2024: Local Government Association (LGA) and Partners in Care and 
Health (PCH) delivered workshops for front line staff, management and Senior 
leadership. 

Feedback was Positive and Constructive:

91% agreeing the training met its objectives 
84% feeling more confident in their ability to engage with the CQC process (to a 
great or moderate extent)
79% would recommend this support to colleagues in another council’s 

P
age 31



What is working well for our staff: 
 - Welcoming LA – new staff feels supported and valued. Good induction 
and  support process. 

- Good stable leadership and management support.

- Good communication form the management and leadership.

- Good work culture with lots of informal and formal supervision. Good 
team morale and team culture. 

- Wellbeing offer for staff is excellent, flexibility of working, work from 
home is appreciated. 

 - Cultural support and general work ethos encouraging good staff 
retention.

- Support with disabilities and needs of individual workers is taken into 
consideration.  

 - OT framework and ASYE support and career progression opportunities. 

- Coaching and mentoring offer is excellent.

What is working well for people: 
 - We are responsive to the demand with a good service offer. 

 - LA is inclusive and transparent  - we know what we have available and 
not making empty promises. 

 - We listen, advocate, and challenge when appropriate (we are 
encouraged to challenge in North Somerset).

-  We ask people to tell us their story rather than “tell me how you 
mobilise”. 

 - We are not hiding behind the processes – everyone is an individual and 
we support people in unique and individual way.

- We have good screening process and triage the most urgent referrals. 

- We get the positive response from public how responsive our services 
are. 

- We work well with other agencies – village agents, GP, Police, voluntary 
sector to support people’s outcomes. 

- We have a good service offer to support people in various challenging 
circumstances. 

P
age 32



Key Areas for Improvement
Identified by Staff

q Waiting Lists
q Sourcing Care
q Our offer to carers
q Use of language and medical jargon
q Poor access to “easy read” documents and interpreter services
q Website
q Housing Offer
q ICT systems 
q Quality Monitoring in care homes
q Working relationships with partners/public

P
age 33



What are we doing about it?

Waiting lists:
1. -Be clear with people 

about wait times
2. -Innovative approach to 

reducing wait time (Team 
Effort Days)

3. -Collect data accurately
4. Fill staff vacancies

Sourcing Care: 
1. - Commissioning Strategy sets our 

ambition
2. - Focus on being fair and green
3. - Manage expectations
4. - Continue to offer alternatives
5. - Regular review of those waiting 
6. - Working with “off the framework” 

providers. 

P
age 34



What are we doing about it?
Offer for carers: 
1. - Carers Strategy: Final 

reviews
2. - Action plans can be 

implemented
3. -Review Carers team
4. - Clarify our offer to carers 

for staff awareness.
5. - Utilise technology to 

support carers. 

Use of language/
medical/professional jargon: 
1. - Changing the language we use 

to promote inclusion, e.g people 
who draw on care and support

2. - Write in plain English – check 
through management oversight

3. - Ensure assessments and 
support plans include the persons 
voice

P
age 35



What are we doing about it?

Poor access to easy read/ 
different languages/
interpreting service:
1. Inform staff what is available
2. Easy read training 

commissioned for all teams
3. Review if translation 

services can be less 
“clunky”

Website and access to 
information: 
1. Website refresh underway 

with digital
2. Financial Assessment tool 

being created
3. We are using feedback from 

the public to create our new 
digital offer.

P
age 36



What are we doing about it?
 Housing offer: 
1. Seek to fill the gap in housing 

options18-65 years old
2. Seek to fill the gap for 

specialist support (substance 
misuse, hoarding)

3. Extra care Housing offer 
under development

4. Improved working relationship 
with housing

 

Information Technology  - 
better data capture between 
systems: 
1.  Mental Health teams to 

record intervention on our 
Adults system (LAS) from 29th 
April. 

P
age 37



What are we doing about it?

Quality monitoring and 
reviews in the care home:
1. Target specific reviews 
2. We have a designated 

review team
3. We are working 

collaboratively with our 
quality monitoring team 
to reduce duplication

Working relationship with 
partners/public:
1.  Investing in coproduction and 

drawing on people with lived 
experience. 

2. Joint projects with health and 
social care

3. Our relationship with public and 
partners is improving. 

 

P
age 38



Is there anything else you 
would like to know?

Assurance Programme Manager: 
Katie.lyddon@n-somerset.gov.uk

P
age 39

mailto:Katie.lyddon@n-somerset.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 21 March 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Report of the ASH Adult Social Care Performance 
Measures working group 
 
Town or Parish:  
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Councillor Dan Thomas 
 
Key Decision: NO 
 
Reason: Not likely to incur expenditure over £500,000. 
 
 
 
Recommendations 

(i) That the ASH Panel endorse the recommendations in this report;  
(ii) and that the recommendations be sent to the relevant Executive Members;  
(iii) and that the Key Performance Indicators listed in this report be collected and 

regularly shared with the Panel.   
 
1. Summary of Report 
Members sought assurance from officers at the 6 July 2023 ASH meeting that appropriate 
performance indicators were being collected and communicated. This report lists the Key 
Corporate Performance Indicators that members of the working group agreed should be 
captured.  
 
2. Policy 
The collection of these performance indicators complies with the corporate ambition of ‘Our 
communities are caring, healthy and safe, where people help each other to live well’. 
 
3. Details 
The ASH Performance Management working group was created as a result of discussions 
at the 6 July 2023 meeting, to both inform Members and to provide assurance of the Adult 
Social Care directorate’s readiness for a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection. 
 
The working group met on 12 December 2023 and heard from officers on the kinds of 
performance indicators that were being collected and obtained feedback from Members 
about the possible Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that would be most useful. Some 
suggested KPIs were:  
 

• How long people were waiting for interventions from Adult’s Services 
• Rates of care home residency per 100,000 population 
• Rates of enquiries under Section 42 of the Care Act per 100,000 population 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



• Rates of concerns under Section 42 per 100,000 
• How successful we were at resolving positive outcomes from enquiries. 

 
At the meeting of 15 January 2024, officers went over the preparations for the CQC 
inspection and the Key Corporate Performance Indicators (KCPIs) proposed under North 
Somerset Council’s new corporate plan, which was to be introduced in April 2024. 
 
After discussion around the KPIs listed below, it was agreed that these would be 
endorsed/carried forward. 
 
Develop and deliver the wellness service. 

• An increase in the numbers of residents accessing the wellness service. 
Enable people to stay well, safe and at home for longer and provide the right care at 
the right place in the right time by delivering the actions in the Better Care Fund Plan 

• An increase in the number of people accessing social care discharged from acute 
hospitals who return to their normal place of residence which is then maintained year 
on year to 2028. 

• An increase in the older people will remain at home 91 days after discharge from an 
acute hospital which is then maintained year on year to 2028. 

Ensure we identify, recognise, and value carers by delivering the actions in the 
Carers Strategy 

• All new carers are offered an assessment and all known carers offered reviews year 
on year to 2028. 

• Carer reported quality of life score is better than the national average by 2028. 
• The percentage of adult carers who have as much social contact as they would like 

(18+ yrs.) is better than the national average by 2028. 
Expand the reablement service. 

• All new carers are offered an assessment and all known carers offered reviews year 
on year to 2028. 

• Carer reported quality of life score is better than the national average by 2028. 
• The percentage of adult carers who have as much social contact as they would like 

(18+ yrs.) is better than the national average by 2028. 
Implement the actions in the Care Quality Commission improvement plan. 

• A reduction in the number of people requiring allocation to a social worker as 
evidenced by a decrease in waiting lists. 

• An increase in good experiences of people who contact Adult Social Services and 
Housing Solutions through more compliments than complaints. 

Support hospital discharge flows 
• A decrease in the number of people going from hospital to a long-term nursing or 

residential placement. 
• A decrease in the number of residents admitted to an acute hospital due to a fall. 

Review and refresh North Somerset council information sources and Better Health 
website to improve the provision of information and advice. 

• An increase in the proportion of carers who find it easy to find information about 
support year on year to 2028. 

• An increase in the proportion of people who use care services who find it easy to find 
information year on year to 2028. 

• An increase in usage of the Better Health North Somerset website and related tools. 
Make the best use of Technology Enabled Care (TEC) by delivering the actions in the 
TEC Strategy 

• An increase in the number of care home residents receiving a TEC device. 
Support people who need care and support through information, advice and 
guidance, assessments and reviews 

Page 42



• A decrease in the number of people going from hospital to a long-term nursing or 
residential placement. 

• An increase in the proportion of section 42 safeguarding enquiries where a risk was 
identified, and the reported outcome was that this risk was reduced or removed by 
2028. 

• The proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily life is 
better than the national average by 2028. 

 
4. Consultation 
ASH Panel working group members; the Assistant Director, Adults Services; the Principal 
Business Intelligence Lead; the Assurance Lead Programme Manager. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
None, as these KCPIs will be collected under the Corporate Plan. 
 
Costs 
None 
 
Funding 
None 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
Collecting these KPIs will improve readiness for the upcoming CQC inspection as well as 
provide assurance for Members. 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
None. 
 
8. Risk Management 
None. This report is advisory and implementation will require separate risk management. 
 
9. Equality Implications 
[Have you undertaken an Equality Impact Assessment? Yes/No NO 
 
Applies equally to all residents of North Somerset; report is advisory and implementation 
will require separate Equality Impact Assessment. 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
None. Any reporting to be on existing performance measures. 
 
11. Options Considered 
None. 
 
 
Author: 
Brent Cross, Policy and Scrutiny Senior Officer 
 
Appendices: 
None. 
Background Papers: 
None. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Social Care & Housing Policy and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date of Meeting:  21st March 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Healthwatch Report: Time to think differently about 
Social Care 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Georgie Bigg, Chair, Healthwatch Bristol, 
North Somerset and South Gloucestershire 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
Reason: It does not meet the criteria for a key decision. 
 
Recommendations 
That the Panel review and feedback on the Healthwatch Report “Time to Think Differently 
about adult social care”. 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
The report is attached at Appendix 1 and sets out feedback received from people not 
currently using social care services about what is important to them in seeking social care 
now, and in the future and draws a number of considerations to take forward. Feedback 
was collected via two focus groups and written feedback from participants living in the 
Weston, Worle & Villages, and Woodspring Locality partnership areas.  
 
2. Policy 
Healthwatch is the independent national champion for people who use health and social 
care services.  There is a local Healthwatch in each area of England looking to find out 
what people like about services and what could be improved.  Nationally and locally, 
Healthwatch has the power to ensure that those in charge of health and social care “hear 
people’s voices” as well as seeking the public’s views and encouraging health and social 
care services to involve people in decisions that affect them. 
 
3. Details 
Healthwatch North Somerset was commissioned by North Somerset Adult Social Care to 
collect qualitative feedback to help inform and design the commissioning of services by 
hearing from local residents. The aim was to:  

• Connect with non-users of social care and those who are carers or potential service 
users of North Somerset Adult Social Care services.  

• Identify participants in both the Woodspring, and Weston, Worle & Villages Locality 
Partnerships in North Somerset, and gather feedback from local communities.  

• Agree group representation and size for each location and contact participants to 
manage their expectations, needs and ability to participate.  

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



• Conduct focus groups and facilitate open conversations. 

• Gauge interest in ongoing involvement and manage consent to be contacted by 
North Somerset Council in future.  

 
4. Consultation 
N/A 
 
5. Financial Implications 
N/A 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
N/A 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
N/A 
 
8. Risk Management 
N/A 
 
9. Equality Implications 
N/A 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
N/A 
 
11. Options Considered 
N/A 
 
Author: 
Gerald Hunt Assistant Director Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing  
Tel: 07766 366097 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1  Time to think differently about adult social services 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

Time to think differently about 
adult social care  
December 2023 

 

Page 47



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

1 

Contents 
Contents.................................................................................................................................. 1 

Executive summary ..................................................................................................... 2 

Considerations to take forward ....................................................................... 3 

Equalities Statement .................................................................................................. 4 

Background ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Purpose .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Engagement methodology ................................................................................. 6 

Involvement ....................................................................................................................... 6 

Findings .................................................................................................................................. 9 

Considerations for Adult Social Care ........................................................21 

References ....................................................................................................................... 23 

 

 

 

  

Page 48



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

2 

Executive summary 
Healthwatch North Somerset received feedback from people not currently using 
social care services about what is important to them in seeking social care now, 
and in the future.  Feedback was collected via two focus groups and written 
feedback from 24 participants living in the Weston, Worle & Villages, and 
Woodspring Locality partnership areas.  For the most part, feedback revealed 
that participants knew little about North Somerset Council social care provision.  
The few that did know about provision, this was because they cared for family 
members or had made enquiries about what care is available or volunteered 
with local support organisations and had signposted people to care.  

Informal care support was primarily provided by family and friends.  

What participants emphasised in stating what a good service looks like was the 
following: 

• Being listened to 

• Good communication between staff and service users 

• A timely and responsive service 

• A flexible service tailored for individual needs 

• A service that promotes independent living  

• A compassionate service 

• An accessible service 

Participants felt that the most important starting point when deciding what care 
and support they may need in the future would be:  

• for people to be able to access information on care and support 
independently 

• clearly accessible information on North Somerset Council’s online directory of 
services, including the social care webpages  

• the availability of social care 

• accessing a care assessment 

• accessing peer support 

Many of the projects’ participants found themselves thinking for the first time 
about their future care needs. For those more familiar with social care, they 
cared for family members, or volunteered with local support organisations, or 
lived with a long-term condition or disability.  These participants stated that they 

Page 49



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

3 

would access support in the future via ‘Care Connect’ (North Somerset Council 
Social Services). 

In relation to accessing information on social care, participants emphasised the 
need for information that was accessible through a single point of access, that 
they could find independently. 

 

Considerations to take 
forward 
Participant feedback evidences a need for: 

• a single point of access for the information on social care 

• clearer signposting about access points for information on social care  

• explicit information on care processes, how people are assessed and the 
potential outcomes of care assessments for example, in the form of a flow 
chart – using ‘social care journey maps’ was suggested  

• easily accessible information available 

• information people can access independently 

• guidance and opportunities for people to consider social care planning to 
address their potential future needs 

• information on social prescribing and eligibility for referral  

• information on advocacy services and eligibility for these 

• accessible information on financial planning in relation to social care  

• accessible language in all social care documents and on the North Somerset 
Council social care online site (https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-
social-care-health) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health


 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

4 

Equalities Statement 
Healthwatch North Somerset is committed to promoting equality and diversity 
and tackling social exclusion in all our activities.  We aim to ensure equitable 
access to our initiatives and projects. 

We include people’s lived experiences in our work and identify and mitigate 
against barriers to enable people to become involved in our research.  We 
address the participation needs of those who share one or more protected 
characteristic, or those that experience hidden discrimination, or are part of an 
‘invisible minority’.  We provide access to communication support to adjust for 
people’s needs and proactively assist people in attending events and meetings 
we hold and renumerate for people's time. 

Healthwatch North Somerset connects with existing patient, service user and 
voluntary sector organisations to reach into, and develop relationships with 
diverse communities and inclusion groups. 

 

Background 
North Somerset Adult Social Care provides support for people with a range of 
needs.  This includes older adults, people with mental health needs, people with 
disabilities, people with Learning Disabilities, people with physical and sensory 
impairment, and carers.   

As of 2020 the current age profile in North Somerset is inverted. There are more 
residents aged over 65 years than aged under 19 years. Sub-national population 
projections suggest this inversion will continue to increase with fewer young 
people and more older people year on year. Considering the split by age bands 
within the over 65s population, North Somerset has a higher percentage of over 
65s, over 75s, over 85s and over 90s compared to regional and national 
averages1. Ageing and multiple health conditions are one of the key public health 
issues North Somerset faces. 

North Somerset has a less diverse population in terms of ethnicity than regional 
or national averages. Over 97% of people gave their ethnicity as ‘white’ in the 
Census compared to 95% in the southwest and 86% nationally.  Around 19% of 
North Somerset residents said their day-to-day activities were limited a lot or a 

 
1 JNSA Report, North Somerset Council, 2023 

Page 51



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

5 

little compared to 17.9% nationally (due to disability and life-limiting long-term 
conditions). (2011 census 2) 

The Woodspring Locality has the highest rate of ill health (for older people) 
across all BNSSG localities and residents in this rural locality face poor public 
transport links.3  11% of North Somerset residents provided unpaid care of some 
kind (carers) similar to the national percentage4.  

Carer reported quality of life has fallen in recent years as has the amount of 
social contact they would like. Overall satisfaction with social services from 
carers has fallen in recent years. The proportion of carers who reported that they 
find it easy to find information about services has decreased over the years in 
North Somerset 5.   

North Somerset’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2021-24)6 states an action plan 
centred around the following: 

• prevention - prevent people from becoming unwell or experiencing poor 
health and wellbeing. 

• early intervention - support people to identify and manage health and 
wellbeing problems as early as possible. Ensure support is in the right place 
geographically and the interventions tailored to address the problems. 

 

Purpose 
Healthwatch North Somerset was commissioned by North Somerset Adult Social 
Care to collect qualitative feedback to help inform and design the 
commissioning of services by hearing from local residents. The aim was to:  

• Connect with non-users of social care and those who are carers or potential 
service users of North Somerset Adult Social Care services.  

• Identify participants in both the Woodspring, and Weston, Worle & Villages 
Locality Partnerships in North Somerset, and gather feedback from local 
communities. 

• Agree group representation and size for each location and contact 
participants to manage their expectations, needs and ability to participate.  

• Conduct focus groups and facilitate open conversations.  

 
2JNSA Report, North Somerset Council, 2023 
3 JNSA Report, North Somerset Council, 2023 
4 JNSA Spotlight report: North Somerset Population Demographics,  2023 
5 Spotlight report: Carers for adults, JNSA, 2023 
6 North Somerset’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2021-24) 

Page 52



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

6 

• Gauge interest in ongoing involvement and manage consent to be contacted 
by North Somerset Council in future. 

 

Engagement 
methodology 
This project ran from October – December 2023. Focus groups were held online 
via Zoom, and written feedback was collected verbally and by email. The Project 
Officer contacted 20 care, support and advocacy organisations, and Patient 
Participation Group Chairs of GP surgeries across North Somerset to inform them 
of the project and to recruit participants.  Healthwatch North Somerset 
contacted organisations in their networks and via their social media to recruit 
participants to the project (see Appendix). This was followed up by telephone 
calls and meetings with staff in voluntary and community sector organisations. 
North Somerset Council Adult Social Care distributed information through their 
carers and disability support networks via their Engagement Officer, and 
Inclusion Officer.   

 

Involvement 
All participants were sent the participant information sheet and completed a 
consent form and provided demographic details. Each participant was 
renumerated with a high street shopping voucher once their feedback had been 
received. The online focus groups were recorded on Zoom for purposes of 
professional transcription. Recruitment coincided with another local survey, and 
this impacted on recruitment to the focus group numbers initially – 5 people 
were involved in focus groups. These included people aged over 65 years and 
adults with long-term conditions from the Woodspring, and Weston, Worle & 
Villages Locality areas. Participants were offered the opportunity to give written 
feedback by email or post, 19 participants provided written feedback, and this 
proved to be a successful method particularly for those with access issues.  

Participants’ ages ranged from 34 – 84 years, 23 were White British, 18 were 
female and 6 were male.  11 had long-term conditions or lived with a disability.  15 
lived in the Weston, Worle & Villages locality, and 9 lived in the Woodspring 

Page 53



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

7 

locality.  Long-term conditions included diabetes, heart disease, fibromyalgia, 
rheumatoid arthritis, mental health conditions, axial  spondylarthritis, and autism. 

Four participants stated that they were long-term unemployed, one stated that 
they were living in poverty, one had, had contact with alcohol or drug services 
and one had limited social networks. Table 1. gives the demographic details of 
participants.  

Table 1. Demographic table of participants 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disabled person or having a 
long-term condition 

Number of participants 

Yes 11 

No 12 

Information not provided 1 

Postcode locality area Weston, Worle & Villages     15 

Woodspring                           9 

Age 

 

 

 

Information not provided 

25 - 49 years                  11 

50 - 64 years                       4 

65 - 79 years                        7 

80+ years                              1  

                                               1 

Gender Female                     18               

Male                          6 

Ethnicity White: British               23 

White: Irish                     1  

Sexual orientation Heterosexual               10 

Not stated                   14                                

Is your gender the same as the 
sex you were assigned at birth? 

YES  23              NO        1 

Carer YES   5              NO      19  

Total participants 24 

Page 54



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

8 

Table 2. Inclusion groups represented 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Themes of feedback 

Focus group questions to elicit feedback were developed in collaboration with 
North Somerset Council Adult Social Care staff. Topics that were discussed at 
these groups and in individual conversations were:  (See the Appendix for focus 
group questions) 

• Knowledge of adult social care 

• Knowledge of eligibility for adult social care 

• Who currently provides people with care and support in the community? 

• Most important things for people in accessing social care services  

• Accessing information and what are the gaps in information provided? 

• Most important aspects for people when deciding about care and support for 
the future 

• What makes a good service? 

• What independence means to people in relation to social care? 

• Prevention of poor health 

• Knowledge of advocacy services 

 Number of 
participants 

Homeless   0 

Limited family/social networks   1 

Long-term unemployed  4 

Living in poverty   1 

Refugee   0 

Contacted alcohol/drug 
services 

  1 

 

Geographically isolated   0 

Page 55



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

9 

Findings 
What do people know about Adult Social Care in North Somerset? 

Most participants had little knowledge of adult social care services provided by 
North Somerset Council. Those that did know of services this was because they 
were caring for their family members or because family and friends had 
accessed services or tried to find out if they were eligible for services.  
Participants who volunteered or worked for support organisations locally knew of 
services because of working with vulnerable people or those who had social 
care needs.  Those that did know about services did so because they had 
accessed information from the council’s online directory and the pages about 
adult social care.  

One participant commented:   

“I am aware and yes , I do know how to find out whether I am or the individuals I 
am caring for are eligible for services. This is due to the fact we have leaflets 
within our office. If I did not work in health care, I do not feel I would be aware of 
this service unless I spoke to my GP practice”. (Woman, 31) 

Those who knew about how to find out about eligibility for adult social care 
support, knew about this via the council social care website or knew they would 
need to contact Care Connect.  

Who provides people with their current care and support? 

Current informal care and support was mainly provided by family and friends, 
voluntary sector organisations, and private counselling, which enabled people to 
maintain their independence at home. This included help with transport and 
personal care. A few participants knew of Care Connect and ‘We Care and 
Repair’ as a first port of call to access care services. The following quotes 
illustrate this. 

“If I need help, I have good friends, many from my church, who will take me to 
things beyond the reach of my pavement mobility scooter, or shop if I cannot go 
out”. (Woman, 84) 

“I’m fortunate that I have family and friends around definitely…I’m aware of a 
number of voluntary organisations who can signpost and support in various 
ways, so ‘We Care and Repair’ and the like are very good for signposting”.  
(Woman, 55). 

Participants were not necessarily aware of the eligibility criteria for adult social 
care services in North Somerset and felt that they were not necessarily of high 
need enough to be eligible. Some stated that their first port of call when they 
may need to access social care services would be their GP or possibly a social 
prescribing service if that was provided by their GP surgery.  

Page 56



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

10 

“I manage alone using online deliveries and 
services, prioritising basic care for myself 
over socialising. When desperate a friend 
might help, or I just go without or have a 
shower another day when my friend is there” 

(Woman, 27, living with a long-term condition) 

 

Most important things about care and support? 

We asked participants what the three most important things for them were when 
seeking care and support provision.  Overall, these were:  

• Being in control/independence 

• Care that promotes independence 

• Quality (of service) 

• Cost – the financial implications of social care 

• Being listened to 

• Flexibility of service provision 

• Involving family in care decisions for the future 

This is illustrated by the following comments:  

“Being treated like the person with a disability and actually listening to your 
needs and what your disability is about, rather than suggesting things that 
people are asking you, if that makes sense”.  (Man, 50, living with a long-term 
condition). 

“I’ll say quality – the quality of the helper.  You need somebody that you can 
actually engage with”. (Woman, 69, living with a long-term condition) 

“Affordability, regularity and familiarity in professionals.  Consistency with 
professionals which then builds trust. Receiving care seems like such a daunting 
thought, particularly for someone who hasn’t received that sort of help before. 
For this reason, building trust I feel is key in providing a good service”. (Woman, 
32) 

“Help to support me in the things I like doing; help me make decisions on my 
own; hep me give feedback in surveys like this”. (Autistic man, 31)  

Page 57



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

11 

“To understand the bigger picture and financial implications to use the resource 
available wisely (over the) long term.…To invest more resources in prevention”. (Woman, 
44, Carer) 
 

Flexibility of services 

The importance of having flexible care support available was highlighted by 
several focus group participants that lived with long-term conditions which 
meant that the level of care they needed varied from day to day.   

One participant commented on this:  

“…you should be able to say, ‘Right, I need the carer today or next week or 
something like that and somebody should be there and saying `Right, I will put 
this in place for you”. (Woman, 69, with a long-term condition) 

Phrases and words that revealed what was most important to participants when 
seeking social care are illustrated below. 

“Trustworthy, competent and available at the point of need”. (Man, 61, with a 
long-term condition) 

“Being in control, independence, quality” . (Woman, 75) 

“Control, independence, pride”. (Man, 70, with a long-term condition) 

“Reliable, empowering, individualized”. (Woman, 27, with long-term condition) 

“Needing help with managing money; help with mental health; help with anxiety”. 
(Disabled woman, 27)  

“Fast accessibility to information; understanding what my options would be; 
involving my family and friends in decisions for the future”. (Woman, 52, with a 
long-term condition) 

“Accessibility to all, quality of care, and affordability”. (Woman, 57)  

“Maintaining some form of self-respect and being with my wife.  

“Not being kept alive beyond the point where the discomfort of living exceeds the 
pleasure of living”. (Male, 61, with a long-term condition) 

“Personal care; meal provision/shopping; mobility aids and advice”. (Woman, 68)  

 

Where do you access information? 

We asked participants where they access information about their current care 
and support and was there anything missing in the information. Participants who 
were living with a long-term condition mainly sought information from national 
charities representing their condition, and from medical specialists at 

Page 58



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

12 

Southmead Hospital or the Bristol Royal Infirmary; others used the NHS app. 
Participants also emphasised the ongoing importance of their family in 
providing care and support. The following comments reveal this.  

“I think the Rheumatology Department at the hospital, which is where I go, they’re 
really good at suggesting things.  They say ‘Have you thought about going to see 
occupational health, that sort of thing, which tends to be more of the driver for 
that as opposed to me going through my local GP or through more options in 
North Somerset Council.  I would say, the hospital’s a pretty big driver for that”.  
(Woman, 34 living with a long-term condition) 

“I would say Muscular Dystrophy UK because it’s a charity that knows my 
condition or my team at Southmead because they know my condition.  Using the 
person that knows my condition I think having them there is important and it 
does scare me in ten years’ time as our Mum – what happens when she’s no 
longer here? Who’ll I fall back on, and you need to have that safety net”.  
(Disabled man, 50). 

“I get information from the North Somerset LGBT+ forum”. (Disabled woman, 27).  

 

“…because I’ve got so many complex 
conditions I’m struggling regarding getting 
healthcare…I’m just not confident in knowing 
what I’m doing because I’m autistic perhaps 
it also complicates things, so it’s not clear to  

me the route, therefore I would tend not to even ask about it until 
it gets to a crisis situation…didn’t know who to ask or what words 
to mention”.  

(Man, 70, living with multiple long-term conditions) 

 

What information is missing? 

In terms of what is missing from the information available the main comments 
were the need for a single point of access to receive information on social care 
support, one participant suggested that this could be through for example, the 
NHS App. 

Participants commented on the need for information on adult social care 
available through the Council website could be easier to access, an example 
given was the need for some kind of flow chart of social care.  

Page 59



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

13 

“I feel that there are two areas of improvement: All signposting to be centralised 
and heavily promoted. (Clearer) visibility over next steps in any process so a 
carer & those cared for can assess the amount of time, resources and financial 
planning”. (Woman, 41, Carer) 

Others described not knowing where to go to find information on social care for 
a family member: 

 

“I had real difficulty last year trying to source 
care for my 94-year-old grandmother who 
was unable to safely carry out daily tasks. I 
looked online but it wasn’t clear on what my 
options were and whether they were suitable 

for what we needed at the time. This was all private care;  
I wouldn’t know where to start with anything provided by the 
NHS. It’s something I expected the district nurses to be able to 
sign post me to, but they didn’t seem to be able to do so”. 

(Woman, 32) 

 

What participants emphasised was the need for information to be accessible for 
them to be able to access it independently. 

“I personally rely on the NHS app for a lot of my stuff, knowing that that’s 
medical….I can see that people are going to look at the NHS app and want to find 
things there and at the moment it’s lacking from a social care viewpoint.  To me, 
the NHS app is the single point of contact but more needs to be added to it that 
isn’t there at the moment.  I’d like to see that expanded so that it can offer a 
single point of contact (and could signpost to social care services).  (Man, 70 
living with long-term conditions) 

“I think a nice clearly set out website where you can look things up when you’ve 
got a free five minutes and then just see what could be available an then the 
option to maybe book a further appointment because I would very much 
struggle to have the time to do it… .need to provide information on what you 
could be entitled to – maybe even like a flowchart explaining things and these 
are the potential next steps.  The starting point would be information you can 
look at without someone else”. (Woman, 34, living with a long-term condition) 

Page 60



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

14 

“If I was thinking about what’s the most important starting point, then to me it 
would be having a single point (of access for information) that I can go to that I 
would hopefully understand, (it’s about) being set off in the right direction”.  
(Woman, 51) 

 

Use of professional language 

An important factor when participants talked about accessing information was 
the language used in social care and it being difficult to understand. A couple of 
participants, despite having complex care needs in relation to their long-term 
conditions did not fully understand terms such as ‘signposting’, ‘care 
assessment’ or ‘capacity assessment’ for example.  This is revealed by the 
following comment: 

“Care assessment, I’ve never known the term care assessment.  Can you see that 
I’m coming from a completely different viewpoint.   These terms don’t mean 
much to me at all”.  (Man, 70, living with multiple long-term conditions). 

 

What is the most important starting point when you think about 
deciding what care and support you need in the future? 

Focus group participants felt that they may need these things to help them 
navigate care in the future: 

• clearly accessible information on the North Somerset Council social care 
website  

• for people to be able to help themselves, finding information on care and 
support independently 

• the availability of a range of social care services 

• being able to get a care assessment 

• having some peer support 

• finding services that help maintain their independence 

These priorities expressed by participants are s by the following quotes: 

“When I’m unable to care for myself, I would contact social services via Care 
Connect”. (Woman, 68) 

“Thinking about what care needs are required and whether care is the correct 
route to go down”. (Woman, 31) 

 

Page 61



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

15 

“The most important starting point is to have a clear understanding and visibility 
over what options are available and the processes needed in order to plan 
resources”. (Woman, 44, Carer)  

“It would be good if the foster system would keep the support up to the age of 30 
instead of the age of 25”. (Disabled woman, 27)  

“I’m not sure what you mean, I would start looking on the internet/contact Care 
Connect for an assessment when I do need it. In the meantime, I just adapt to 
what I still can do so I don’t need it, as I’m aware that there is not enough 
support available unless you are completely desperate”. (Woman, 27, with a 
long-term condition) 

 

What does a good service look like? 

What participants articulated in relation to a good service was the following: 

• Being listened to 

• Good communication between staff and service user 

• A timely and responsive service 

• A flexible service addressing individual needs and changing needs 

• A consistent service with professionals that people can trust  

• A compassionate service 

• An accessible service 

This is revealed by the following participant comments:  

“Friendly, efficient and delivered on time”.  (Woman, 63) 

“Compassionate, flexible and adaptable service to each individual”. (Man, 61)  

“Being able to look after myself for as long as possible”. (Woman, 67)  

“Consistency with professionals which then builds trust. Receiving care seems 
like such a daunting thought, particularly for someone who hasn’t received that 
sort of help before. For this reason, building trust I feel is key in providing a good 
service”. (Woman, 32) 

“A service that listens and is honest. Care and compassionate and looking at an 
individual as a whole and not being task orientated. The frustration occurs when 
an individual feels their expectations are different than what Is being provided. 
Communication is also the key, accepting when things go wrong and keeping 
individuals in the loop about important information/ changes”.  (Woman, 31) 

Page 62



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

16 

“Good access to pain relief and medication, identifying the best way of 
empowering the “patient/user” to retain as much independence as possible”. 
(Woman, 75) 

“Continuous investment in interventions that promote independent living, 
consistency & continuity, a holistic approach and a joint approach from 
supporting organisations”. (Woman, 41, Carer)  

“Reliable, empowering, individualised, good communication – listening to my 
needs and informing me of how this can be best met with the restricted budget 
and lack of staff”.  (Woman, 51, with a long-term condition) 

“A good service – the right time, right place, right service, working with patients in 
decision making, just to put it in a nutshell”.  (Woman, 55, living with a long -term 
condition) 

 

Looking at future needs 

Those participants that had thought about their future care needs tended to be 
people with long-term conditions or those living with a disability, and people 
who cared for or had sought care for family members.  This is illustrated by the 
following comments. 

“I have (thought about future care needs), since my mother needed support 
from 2002 to today and particularly when I first started struggling in 2015 to 
present day as my own abilities to care for myself have changed”.  (Woman, 27, 
with a long-term condition) 

“I would like to start before the needs arise, perhaps informative regular 
workshops & surgeries would work for the general public”. (Woman, 41, carer)  

“I’m 31 and I am already in the process of arranging Lasting Power of Attorney for 
health and finances for myself and my mum who is 68. The earlier we talk about 
care provision and individual wishes the easier the topic is when the time comes. 
Care is sometimes stigmatised to the older age range, whereas it should be a 
subject that all ages think about”.  (Woman, 31)  

“No, I have not been thinking about the future. If I was to get support, it should 
start as soon as possible”.  (Woman, 27, with a disability)  

 

What does ‘Independence’ mean in relation to social care? 

Participants felt that independence in relation to social care meant:  

• Shared decision-making about care 

• Being given the right support to maintain individual independence 

• Having and maintaining physical mobility 

Page 63



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

17 

• Independence with personal care capabilities 

• Autonomy over people’s decisions (people who receive care)  

• Good levels of support 

• Choice of care 

This is revealed by the following comments.  

“Being able to do the things, my day-to-day things in my life with the tools to be 
able to deliver it properly, like having a neat and tidy garden that’s like I would 
want a tidy house as opposed to not being able to do it because I can’t do the 
cleaning, so it’s about having the tools to be able to do things properly”.  
(Woman, 34, with a long-term condition) 

“(It’s about) not having your life change, you know, you have a carer come in 
and then they suddenly change everything, being able to fit in with your life, 
which is important and not having things forced on you (by care support)”.  
(Man, 50, living with a long-term condition) 

“Being able to live your life fully”. (Woman, 67)  

“Being able to safely undergo day to day tasks without needing the help of 
anyone else”. (Woman, 32) 

“Independence is a word which I believe has a purpose. I do however feel this 
word is thrown around a little too often. We as humans are dependent on family 
/ friends / support services at times to provide support and prevent social 
isolation. I do feel it’s a term recognised by individuals though, so it is important 
to consider what this means to the individual first. Independence to me means I 
can do a task myself such as eating / drinking / washing / getting out of bed. It 
does not mean I want to live an independent life”. (Woman, 31) 

“Making your own decisions; choice in care; good levels of support”. (Woman, 48, 
with a long-term condition) 

“Individualised care, choice, choice of accommodation and social life”. (Woman, 
47, carer) 

“Helping people to live as independently as possible”. (Woman, 34).  

“Enabling the service user to maintain as much control of their lives as possible”. 
(Woman, 55) “having control over my own life and time.”  

“Living in my own home, having means of transport”. (Woman, 41, Carer)  

“Allowing people to do as much as they can for themselves with support, 
allowing people to choose their lifestyle for example, staying in their own home, 
deciding when and what they eat, how their personal care is carried out”. 
(Woman, 27, with a long-term condition) 

“Independence - it means we do things by ourselves and if we need help, we 
could talk to someone”. (Woman, 27, with a disability)  

Page 64



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

18 

“This seems to be mostly about the retention of self-respect – providing enough 
but not more support than is needed”.  

“The ability to make decisions for myself obviously within the physical and 
medical constraints that I may be dealing with.  It’s about retaining as much 
control over one’s life as possible”. (Man, 70)  

 

What aspects of their independence is the most important to them? 
  
These were mainly retaining decision making, physical mobility and the ability to 
go out, revealed by the following comments.  

“Decision making; physical mobility”. (Woman, 34, with a long-term condition) 

“…being able to still do things for yourself rather than, you know, just having 
somebody to help you more than doing everything for you….” (Woman, 69, living 
with a long-term condition) 

 

Awareness of the importance of preventing poor health 

Participants were aware it was very important to prevent the development of 
poorer health. This was helped significantly by the availability of ‘good medical 
care’, accessible transport, physiotherapy and opportunities to exercise locally. 
People felt that this was their responsibil ity and highlighted the need for support 
with this for example, being provided with accessible transport, or having access 
to a physiotherapist or an exercise class. People emphasised the importance of 
prevention of poor health in terms of both physical and mental health. People 
also felt that prevention of poor health had a significant role in saving the cost of 
care later in people’s lives. This is illustrated by the following comments:  

“You keep healthier and it helps keep health problems at bay by, you know, 
seeing physios…helping to stay stronger because…it’s all connected with your 
joints and things and help stop the problems in the first place as much as 
possible…I think very much a top thing (prevention)…so especially with lots of 
other health conditions…and how if you don’t look after yourself, it can 
deteriorate sort of thing…” (Woman, 34, living with a long-term condition). 

“So having exercise, gaining access to exercise and sport. I do wheelchair yoga, I 
do hydrotherapy and I played football so having those options…I know North 
Somerset Council’s doing a project on that at the moment…improving sport in 
our area which is lacking…But I think without my hydrotherapy which I go to every 
week with my Mum and my brother, I wouldn’t be as I am now. I mean I drive a 
van and couldn’t get there without my van – that’s (hydrotherapy) probably 
stopped me having deteriorated so quick. I’m  stable now, so quite lucky”.  
(Disabled man, 50) 

Page 65



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

19 

“Prevention in medical terms to me is very important and mental health and 
wellbeing comes into this. Having someone there to talk to, to keep your mental 
health from declining .” (Woman, 27, with a disability) 

“I think taking responsibility to stay as fit and as active as possible is very 
important”. (Male, 55) 

“Incredibly important but an area that is not high priority – at least until more 
recently.  There is much more information about falls prevention, personal 
wellbeing and good mental health than there used to be and that’s a good 
thing.  I hope that continues to develop and that middle-aged people might 
start to plan and be more aware of how they can maintain their independence 
rather than waiting until a crisis happens”.  (Woman, 52, with a long-term 
condition) 

The importance of prevention of poor health in relation to self-management and 
how social care services can support this was highlighted by one participant:  

“Self – management of long-term conditions is vital. With the right support 
services in place this can be achieved.  Prevention of poorer health (to delay) 
long-term care is very important, given the lack of care support that is available. 
I believe that previously healthcare professions were given the time to support 
individuals to manage their long-term conditions. However, as the health system 
changes, there is now not enough time to do this. I know linking closely with the 
social prescribing team to find support services available that can prevent the 
need for care”. (Woman, 31) 

 

Awareness of advocacy 

Most people giving feedback were not generally aware of what advocacy 
services provide or of the advocacy services provided by North Somerset 
Council. Those that did know of advocacy services this was because they had 
accessed them for a member of their family or had acted as an advocate on 
their behalf or had volunteered as an advocate. Others thought that they may 
be able to access advocacy services through their GP or a social prescriber.  
One participant found out about an advocacy service via their district nurse.  
What was emphasised was the need to receive advocacy at the right time 
before people got to a crisis point in their care. This is revealed by the following 
comments: 

“I have been an advocate for my mother when I was well enough but not now. 
Someone at her care agency advocated for her when social services tried to cut 
her care package. If the time comes when I need advocacy I would look online – 
North Somerset Council or (the) Citizens Advice Bureau websites to see what is 
available”. (Woman, 27, living with a long-term condition) 

“I’ve got no experience of it (advocacy), I’ve been crying out for a long time to 
have someone to help me with this because I’m literally on my own.  I just wish I 
could have this when I was at my worst rather than a little bit late now. I wouldn’t 

Page 66



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

20 

know where to start. I was told that my GP could refer me to an advocacy 
service, they can’t, they don’t know anything about that, so that’s what I want 
and hopefully I’m on the first step to get there. I don’t know where I’ll be 
signposted. I hope someone will know that I do need some advocacy from 
somewhere. I feel much happier knowing that hopefully something can be 
arranged for me. A district nurse, she came round for me yesterday, and she said 
about advocacy and that’s what I want, that’s  what I’ve been asking for, for so 
long but I wouldn’t have known it was there until yesterday”. (Man, 70 living with 
long-term conditions).  

“I’ve actually done advocacy work because I’ve done training in advocacy as 
well for my (condition)…I’ve used that knowledge with the (support group the 
participant facilitates)”. (Disabled man, 50)  

Other participant comments suggest the need for advocacy to access care 
support. What was also emphasised was the need to receive advocacy at the 
right time before people got to a crisis point in their care.  

Participants with learning disabilities stated that they would like access to 
advocacy services. One commented on this:  

“I would need someone to help me understand everything; I would need this 
service”. (Man, 28, with learning disabilities)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

21 

Considerations for 
Adult Social Care  
Participant evidence suggests the need for: 

• a single point of access for information on social care 

• clearer signposting where to find information on social care 

• explicit information on the care process, how people are assessed and 
potential outcomes of care assessments 

• easily accessible information available 

• information people can access independently 

• guidance and opportunities in order that people can consider care planning 
for their future 

• Information on social prescribing and eligibility for referral  

• information on advocacy services and eligibility for these 

• accessible information on the financial planning of social care 

• accessible language in all social care documents and on the North Somerset 
Council social care website. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 68



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

22 

Future engagement  

One of the aims of this project was to gauge participant interest in engagement 
work for North Somerset Council Adult Social Care in the future. Eight participants 
agreed.  These participants will be invited to be involved in further work, to 
codesign of Adult Social Care services.  

Acknowledgements 

We would like to acknowledge all the support and advocacy organisations 
involved in this project and all the people with lived experience who gave us their 
valuable feedback, and North Somerset Council Adult Social Care. 

Quality assurance 

This project was designed using Healthwatch BNSSG methods and templates for 
research and engagement. Graphics and pictures: Healthwatch England, The 
Centre for Ageing Better. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

23 

References 
JNSA report North Somerset Council https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-
democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-
assessment-jsna-health-social-care (accessed December 2023) 

JNSA Spotlight report: North Somerset Population Demographics https://n-
somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-
04/JSNA%20population%20demographics%20spotlight%20report.pdf   

(accessed December 2023) 

Spotlight report: Carers for adults, JNSA, 2023 https://www.n-
somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-
04/JSNA%20carers%20spotlight%20report.pdf (accessed December 2023) 

North Somerset’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2021-24) https://n-
somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-01/HWBS%20action%20plan%20-
%20acc.pdf (accessed December 2023) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20population%20demographics%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20population%20demographics%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20population%20demographics%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20carers%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20carers%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-04/JSNA%20carers%20spotlight%20report.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-01/HWBS%20action%20plan%20-%20acc.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-01/HWBS%20action%20plan%20-%20acc.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-01/HWBS%20action%20plan%20-%20acc.pdf


 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

24 

 

 

APPENDIX 1. 
Organisations contacted to engage and recruit participants:  

Age UK North Somerset 

Alcoholics Anonymous group, Weston-super-Mare  

Big Worle 

Bournville Healthy Living Centre, Weston-super-Mare 

Bridging the Gap Together, North Somerset 

Community Centres 

Community Connect 

Multicultural Friendship Association, North Somerset  

Nailsea Leg Club 

North Somerset BME Network 

North Somerset Council Disabled Access Group 

North Somerset Together 

Patient Participation Group Chairs of GP surgeries across North Somerset  

Sirona Wellbeing Lead, North Somerset 

Somewhere to Go – community centre 

Voluntary Action NS 

West of England Rural Network (Curo Group) 

Weston College 

Weston-super-Mare Citizens Advice (NS) 

Weston-super-Mare Library 

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

25 

APPENDIX 2.  FOCUS GROUP AND WRITTEN FEEDBACK 
QUESTIONS 
North Somerset Adult Social Care project 

Written feedback questions for Weston-super-Mare & Worle, and Woodspring residents 
who have not used North Somerset Social Care services.  Please complete these 
questions and email them back to us by the 11 th of December 2023. 

1. Are you aware of what Adult Social Care Services North Somerset Council 
currently provide? 

a. Do you know how to find out if you’re eligible for services?  

b. Would you know how to access these services?  

 

2. If you need care and support currently, where do you access it? Who do you rely 
on for support? (practical, and care support) (e.g. Informal care/support, family, 
friends, neighbours, VCSE organisations, health services)  

3. What would be the most important starting point when you think about deciding 
what care and support you may need in the future?   

4. What are the 3 most important things for you in terms of care and support 
provision? 

5. What does a good service look like in terms of care and support?  

6. Have you thought about your future needs in relation to care and support in the 
future? Have you/When do you think you should/ started thinking about your 
future care needs?  

7. a. What do you think ‘independence’ means in relation to social care?  

b. What aspects of your independence are most important to you?  

8. How important is prevention when talking about adult social care? (Prevention of 
poor health) 

9. Where do you access information about your current care and support?  Is there 
anything missing in the information available? 

10. Advocacy services – do you have experience of this, know what it involves and 
what’s available? 

11. Would you be interested in any ongoing engagement group/activity in the future 
for North Somerset Council? Please confirm this in an email to Anna King, 
Healthwatch BNSSG.  

Thanks very much for your participation today.  You will be sent an E-voucher after 
today to acknowledge your contribution to the focus group. 

Page 72



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

26 

APPENDIX 3. DEMOGRAPHIC FORM 
 

North Somerset Adult Social Care Project 

  

Sharing this information helps social care providers understand how people's experiences 

may differ depending on individual characteristics. Your personal details will not be 

passed on. All of this information will be kept confidential and will be anonymised.  

  

Please tell us the first part of your postcode and the number in the second part of your 

postcode (e.g. BS14 3) ……………….............................................   

Please tell us your age: ………………..................................................................   

Please tell us your gender: …………………………………...................................  

Is your gender the same as the sex you were assigned at birth? 

………………..........................................................................................................   

Please tell us which sexual orientation you identify with: 

……………………………………..............................................................................   

Please tell us your ethnicity (your background): 

………………………………………………................................................................  

Do you consider yourself to be disabled, to have a disability, or to have a long-term 

health condition? YES ….....NO..........................................................   

If you answered ‘Yes’ to the last question, please tell us more about what these 

are:…………………………………………………………………………………………  

   

Do you consider yourself to be a carer? YES…………NO……..   
  

Do any of the below apply to you? (Please tick any that apply)   

 

Homeless Refugee or asylum seeker 

 

Live in poverty I’ve come into contact with drug or 

alcohol services 

Limited family or social networks I am geographically isolated 

 

Long-term unemployed I am in a stigmatised occupation 

 
 

  

Thank you for completing this form.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



 

Time to think differently about adult social care   

27 

 

Page 74



  

 

Healthwatch North Somerset  
Unit 21, Union Gallery, The Galleries 
Broadmead 
Bristol 
BS1 3XD 
 
www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk  
t: 03300 553251 
e: contact@healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk 

 @HealthwatchNS 
 Facebook.com/HealthwatchNorthSomerset 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Time To Think Differently 
about adult social care

• Collected via two focus groups and in written feedback from 
24 participants living in the Weston, Worle & Villages, and 
Woodspring Locality partnership areas.

• The participants were not service-users but many had 
disabilities or long-term conditions that made them think for 
the first time about their future care needs.

• feedback revealed that participants knew little about North 
Somerset Council social care provision.

Their principles of best practice were;

• Being listened to

• Good communication between staff and service users

• A timely and responsive service

• A flexible service tailored for individual needs

• A service that promotes independent living

• A compassionate service

• An accessible service

• Peer support

• A care assessment

• Accessible information on websites (N-SOD)

https://www.healthwatchnorthso
merset.co.uk/report/2024-01-
17/report-time-think-differently-
about-adult-social-care

P
age 77



Time To Think Differently  - recommendations

• Have a single point of access for the information on social care

• Use clearer signposting about access points for information on social care

• Give explicit information on care processes, how people are assessed and the 
potential outcomes of care assessments for example, in the form of a flow chart – 
using ‘social care journey maps’

• Provide easily accessible information available

• Provide information people can access independently

• Provide guidance and opportunities for people to consider social care planning 
to address their potential future needs

• Provide information on social prescribing and eligibility for referral

• Provide information on advocacy services and eligibility for these

• Provide accessible information on financial planning in relation to social care

• Use accessible language in all social care documents and on the North Somerset 
Council social care online site (https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-
care-health)

P
age 78

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health


 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 21st March 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Adult Social Services and Housing Annual 
Commissioning Intentions Report 2024/25 
 
Town or Parish: Both 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Teresa Stanley, Head of Strategy and 
Commissioning 
 
Key Decision: N/A 
 
Reason: 
This attached Adult Social Services and Housing Annual Commissioning Intentions Report 
2024/25 is for information, with the key decisions to be made by Full Council on 16th April 
2024. 
 
Recommendations 
For the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel to support the 
recommendations set out in the Full Council Decision report attached. 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
The purpose of Full Council report is to set out the planned Adult Social Services 
and Housing commissioning intentions and priorities for the coming 18 months and, 
where necessary, to seek approval to commence specific procurement activities or 
to extend contracts beyond their original term. 
 
The commissioning intentions set out within this document are intended to support 
the delivery of the Adults Social Services and Housing priorities, whilst supporting 
commissioning intentions as part of the new Adult Social Services Commissioning 
Strategy 2024 -2031.  It will ensure that the available resources are used most 
effectively, to enable the residents of North Somerset to live as independently as 
possible, exercising choice and control whilst being assured that where support is 
commissioned on their behalf, that it is of a quality and standard that they would 
expect. The commissioning team are focused upon a cross directorate approach 
which is person centred and outcome focused whilst supporting the delivery of the 
directorates savings targets as part of the Council’s Savings Plan.  
 
2. Policy 
Please refer to the policy detail within the attached Full Council Report. 
 
3. Details 
 Please refer to the detail within the attached Full Council Report. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 10



 
 
 
4. Consultation 
 Ensuring effective ongoing consultation and engagement is fundamental to the 
commissioning process and is embedded into each commissioning priority and re-
procurement process.   
   
The commissioning intentions for 2024/25 have been developed in consultation with Adult 
Social Services Director, Assistant Director for Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing 
Solutions, and relevant Heads of Services, as well as the Procurement Team. 
 
In addition, extensive consultation has been undertaken with the development of the Adult 
Social Care and Housing Commissioning Strategy which is fundamental to the annual 
commissioning intentions report.  This has included, where appropriate, wider consultation 
across the wider BNSSG system and Integrated Locality Care Partnerships. 
 
Furthermore, wider consultation and co-production of services is beginning to be developed 
with individuals in receipt of services, and their carers / families to ensure that services 
which are being commissioned, are appropriate, outcome focused and of the quality and 
standard we would expect. 
 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
In consultation with the Principal Accountant for Adult Social Services, there are no direct 
financial implications from this report. Each of the individual procurement activities or 
contract extensions will need to be considered within the available revenue and capital 
budgets for the activity.  
 
 
Costs 
The costs associated for each individual contract are detailed in Appendices A and B 
 
Funding 
N/A 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
Please refer to the detail within the Full Council report attached. 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
Please refer to the detail within the Full Council report attached.  
 
8. Risk Management 
 
Please refer to the detail within the Full Council report attached.  
 
 
9. Equality Implications 
Have you undertaken an Equality Impact Assessment? Yes 
 

Page 80



Please refer to the detail within the Full Council report attached.  
 
10. Corporate Implications 
 
There are no known corporate implications, however, where a commissioning activity is 
likely to cross over into another Directorate, appropriate consultation will be undertaken.  
This has already been reflected in the development of the various strategies which have 
been key to the commissioning intentions outlined in this report. 
 
11. Options Considered 
The nature of most of our activity within Adult Social Care and Housing is statutory and 
therefore an options appraisal will be undertaken as part of any commissioning activity to 
inform best practice and value, and most appropriate provision to achieve the desired 
service outcome.  Where appropriate this will include Voluntary Community Social and 
Faith Enterprises, the wider BNSSG system and Integrated Locality Care Partnerships. 
 
 
Author: 
Teresa Stanley, Head of Strategy and Commissioning 
 
Appendices: 
ASC Annual Commissioning Intentions Report to Full Council 
ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix A (New Activity) 
ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix B (Existing or previously agreed 
Activity) 
ASS Commissioning Strategy 2024 – 2031 
 
Background Papers: 
N/A 
 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Full Council 
 
Date of Meeting: 16th April 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Adult Social Services and Housing Commissioning 
Intentions 2024/25 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Cllr Roger Whitfield Executive Member for 
Adult Social Care and Safer Communities 
 
Key Decision: Yes 
 
Reason: 
Based on the financial envelope, this is a key decision which needs to be presented to full 
council. 
 
 
Recommendations 
The purpose of this report is to set out the planned Adult Social Services and Housing 
commissioning priorities for the next 18 months and, where necessary, to seek approval to 
commence specific procurement activities or to extend contracts beyond their original term, 
specifically:  
   

a) To agree the Adult Social Care and Housing commissioning intentions for the next 18 
months. 

   
b) To approve the commencement of activities listed in Appendices A & B, delegating to 

the Director for Adult Social Care, approval to determine the relevant procurement or 
commissioning routes, and the award of any contract, in consultation with the relevant 
Executive Member(s).   
  

c) To approve activity listed in Appendices A & B the extension of any contracts that 
have already reached the term under the original permission to commence a 
procurement.   

 
1. Summary of Report 
The purpose of this report is to set out the planned Adult Social Services and 
Housing commissioning intentions and priorities for the coming 18 months and, 
where necessary, to seek approval to commence specific procurement activities or 
to extend contracts beyond their original term. 
 
The commissioning intentions set out within this document are intended to support 
the delivery of the Adults Social Services and Housing priorities, whilst supporting 
commissioning intentions as part of the new Adult Social Services Commissioning 

Page 83



Strategy 2024 -2031.  It will ensure that the available resources are used most 
effectively, to enable the residents of North Somerset to live as independently as 
possible, exercising choice and control whilst being assured that where support is 
commissioned on their behalf, that it is of a quality and standard that they would 
expect. The commissioning team are focused upon a cross directorate approach 
which is person centred and outcome focused whilst supporting the delivery of the 
directorates savings targets as part of the Council’s Savings Plan.  
 
2. Policy 
This commissioning intentions report supports the Corporate Plan ambitions, specifically: 
 

 Our communities are caring, health and safe, where people help each other to live 
well. 

 Our council delivers consistently good services and value for money to support our 
community. 

 
The Corporate Plan acknowledges that within adults and communities the recognition that 
the council wants to improve the health and wellbeing of our residents, and that we will 
work with our NHS system, partners and voluntary, community and social enterprise sector 
partners to enable people to stay well, safe, and independent at home for longer.  
  
We must commission a range of services across adult social care that prevent and / or 
delay people from needing to rely on statutory services for as long as possible. Details of 
how we will achieve this will reflect a move to offering better outcomes, that improve and 
maintain the confidence and therefore, wellbeing of individuals requiring services. We also 
intend to focus on support for informal carers to maintain their caring role, as well as the 
use of Technology Enabled Care (TEC), in delaying the need for large packages of care 
and placements into care homes. 
 
The services in this commissioning plan are key to the commitments in respect of Adult 
Social Services and Housing priorities for 2024/25. 
 
Our commitments and priorities include: 
 

 Work with people who have care and support needs and their carers, so they remain 
safe, supported and well. 

 Work with our NHS system partners to enable people to stay well, safe, and 
independent at home for longer. 

 Enable communities to develop personal and community resilience, and a proactive 
approach to their health and wellbeing. 

 Enable people to maximise their independence, through a focus on empowering 
communities, information and advice, early intervention and technology enabled 
care. 

 Ensure more good quality, energy efficient, affordable homes are available for 
residents to rent or buy through partnership working. 

 Strengthen our collaboration and co-production with town and parish councils, the 
voluntary and the community sector to ensure we work together for the benefits of 
our residents. 

 Achieve a positive outcome under the Care Quality Commission inspection 
framework, evidencing our strengths and development plans. 

 Get better at how we communicate, inform, consult, engage and co-produce with our 
communities. 

Page 84



 Support a sustainable financial future for the council through innovation and 
transformation. 

 Make the best use of our assets and other resources to deliver value for money. 
 Strengthen our strategic partnerships to get the best for North Somerset, our 

residents, and communities. 
 

This report also supports aspects of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, particularly in 
respect of: 
 

 Prevention: prevent people from becoming unwell or experiencing poor health and 
wellbeing. 

 Early intervention: support people to identify and manage health and wellbeing 
problems as early as possible. 

 Thriving communities: focus on the wider factors and influences on health, and work 
with partners to support communities to thrive. 

 
Additionally, this report supports the Prevention of Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy. 
 
The commissioning plan will increasingly reflect our joint ambitions with North Somerset’s 
two NHS locality partnerships. 
 
 
3. Details 
The 2024/25 commissioning intentions, identified in appendices A and B are designed to 
improve the coordination of our approach to demand management and to support the best 
use of resources in recognition of improving outcomes and addressing budgetary 
pressures.   
   
The key strategic drivers for the directorate include: 
   

 Care Act 2014  
 Housing Act 1996 
 Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
 Homeless Reduction Act 2017 
 Accelerating Reform Fund 
 Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund  
 Better Care Fund  
 Homeless Prevention Grant 
 Health and Social Care Integration and the BNSSG Sustainable 

Transformation Plan   
 Discharge to Assess 
 Adult Social Care and Housing Commissioning Strategy 2024 - 2031 
 The Corporate Plan 2024 - 2028  
 North Somerset Housing Strategy 2022 – 2027 
 Prevention Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019 -2024 
 Strategic Housing Services Enforcement Policy 2018 
 Home Choice Policy 2023 
 North Somerset Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021 – 2024 
 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
 Council Savings Plan   

  

Page 85



Any commissioning undertaken is supported by the Procurement Team. 
 
The Contracts and Commissioning team is focused on developing an approach that 
is evidenced and needs led, person centred, strength-based and outcome focused.  
There is a desire to maximises the level of co-production that can be incorporated 
in the commissioning process to ensure that the services commissioned optimise 
outcomes for the person receiving the support, the Council, partners, and the 
providers of those services.  Commissioning is informed through evidence (both 
locally and nationally), best practice initiatives and local need, and undertaken in 
line with the Institute of Public Care commissioning cycle.   
 
Individual pieces of work will be brought to the Executive for further consideration 
where this is appropriate, for example where service design is proposed as part of 
the commissioning process and new models of service delivery are proposed, but 
this is not necessarily reflected in the information in the Appendices as these may 
only be identified once commissioning projects commence.   
   
An update on progress against plans will be provided to the ASHH Executive 
Members every 6 months, including where any conflict for resourcing of activity 
during the year has resulted in revised plans.   
 
Each approval includes delegation of further decisions in the process to the 
Director.  Further decisions include the authority to agree the outcome of the 
commissioning activity to determine the detail of the services to be procured, the 
procurement route and the award of any contract.  Decisions to award contracts 
will be taken in consultation with the relevant Executive Member(s).   
 
 
4. Consultation 
Ensuring effective ongoing consultation and engagement is fundamental to the 
commissioning process and is embedded into each commissioning priority and re-
procurement process.   
   
The commissioning intentions for 2024/25 have been developed in consultation with Adult 
Social Services Director, Assistant Director for Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing 
Solutions, and relevant Heads of Services, as well as the Procurement Team. 
 
In addition, extensive consultation has been undertaken with the development of the Adult 
Social Care and Housing Commissioning Strategy which is fundamental to the annual 
commissioning intentions report.  This has included, where appropriate, wider consultation 
across the wider BNSSG system and Integrated Locality Care Partnerships. 
 
Furthermore, wider consultation and co-production of services is beginning to be developed 
with individuals in receipt of services, and their carers / families to ensure that services 
which are being commissioned, are appropriate, outcome focused and of the quality and 
standard we would expect.  
 
The Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel were consulted on 21st March 
2024 
 

Page 86



5. Financial Implications 
In consultation with the Principal Accountant for Adult Social Services, there are no direct 
financial implications from this report. Each of the individual procurement activities or 
contract extensions will need to be considered within the available revenue and capital 
budgets for the activity.  
 
 
Costs 
The costs associated for each individual contract are detailed in Appendices A and B 
 
Funding 
N/A 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
The services considered in this commissioning intentions report meet our statutory 
requirements and as such are covered by the: 

 Care Act 2014  
 The Health and Care Act 2022 
 Mental Capacity Act 2005 
 Mental Health Act 1983, as amended in 2009  
 The Housing Act 1996 
 The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 
 The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 
 and, where appropriate, the Children’s and Families Act 2014. 

 
Local Authorities cannot provide these services themselves as the legislation requires them 
to be provided independent of the Local Authority or NHS Providers.  
 
In addition, the Corporate Procurement Policy is adhered to, alongside the Contract 
Standing Order Rules. Consideration has also been given to the newly implemented 
Provider Selection Regime for the procurement of health care services and the 
implementation of the Procurement Act 2023, which takes effect from autumn 2024. 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
Responding to the Climate Emergency is a council-wide commitment. 
The environmental implications of the commissioning of these services will be 
considered as part of the procurement process in accordance with the Council’s 
Procurement Strategy 2021-2025 and Social Value procurement guidance. In 
February 2019 the council declared a Climate Emergency and an Ecological 
Emergency in November 2020 and pledged to provide the leadership to enable 
North Somerset to become carbon neutral by 2030. All opportunities to inform and 
work with service providers to tackle the climate emergency, reduce carbon 
emissions, build adaptation and resilience to the local impacts of a changing 
climate and to restore nature should be taken. The provision of locally accessible 
services is essential to supporting the take up of low carbon active travel such as 
walking and cycling.    
A thorough risk assessment will be completed by the Procurement and Contracts and 
Commissioning Teams, the results of which will be detailed in any procurement plan and 
built into the tender process to ensure that any implications are fully covered. 
 

Page 87



 
 
 
 
8. Risk Management 
An overall risk rating of LOW has been determined, applying the principles of the corporate 
risk scoring matrix. 
This has been achieved by considering that the impact of any delays in delivering 
the commissioning intentions could be considered medium / high due to the impact 
of our statutory duties in respect of our duty of care and risks to vulnerable residents.  
However, the perceived likelihood of significant delays in these commissioning 
intentions would be considered rare. 
This is mitigated by bringing together all the identified commissioning intentions and 
priorities into a single place which creates an opportunity to ensure that we maximise 
our efficiency as commissioners and look for opportunities to align priorities across 
the directorate and reducing duplication.   
 
Further mitigation is supported as a thorough risk assessment will also be completed 
by the Procurement and Contracts and Commissioning Teams, against each 
individual activity, the results of which will be detailed in any procurement plan and 
will be monitored and mitigated throughout the procurement process and 
subsequent contract monitoring. 
 
 
9. Equality Implications 
Have you undertaken an Equality Impact Assessment?  Yes 
 
For each commissioning priority an equality impact assessment will be undertaken at the 
stage of planning & procuring / developing services.  Equality implications then continue to 
be considered within the monitoring and review of services.   
 
To ensure that equalities issues and implications have been fully considered as part of each 
of the commissioning activities, the equalities impact assessments are reviewed by the 
relevant Head of Service, and where required, guidance and support is sought from the 
council's equalities officer before procurement commences.   
 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
There are no known corporate implications, however, where a commissioning activity is 
likely to cross over into another Directorate, appropriate consultation will be undertaken.  
This has already been reflected in the development of the various strategies which have 
been key to the commissioning intentions outlined in this report. 
 
 
11. Options Considered 
The nature of most of our activity within Adult Social Care and Housing is statutory and 
therefore an options appraisal will be undertaken as part of any commissioning activity to 
inform best practice and value, and most appropriate provision to achieve the desired 
service outcome.  Where appropriate this will include Voluntary Community Social and 
Faith Enterprises, the wider BNSSG system and Integrated Locality Care Partnerships. 
 
 

Page 88



 
 
 
 
Author: 
Teresa Stanley 
Head of Strategy and Commissioning 
 
Owner: 
Gerald Hunt, Assistant Director for Commissioning, Partnerships and Housing  
 
 
Appendices: 
ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix A (New Activity) 
ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix B (Existing or previously agreed 
Activity) 
 
Background Papers: 
ASS Commissiong Strategy 2024 – 2031 
ASS Commissioning Intentions plan 2023/24 agreed at the Executive meeting June 2023 
 
 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
Project/Contract Description Current 

Contract 
End date 

Estimated 
Contract Value 
(whole term 
value) 

Commissioning 
Route 

Commissioning 
Manager 

Approval 
to proceed 
with the 
activity 
required? 

Specialised Care 
and Support 
Spot Framework 
Contract with 4 
Lots 

Specialist care and support 
provision in respect of Autism, 
Learning Disabilities, Sensory 
Impairment, Acquired Brain 
Injury, Transitions and Mental 
Health.  These are divided 
into 4 specialists ‘Lots’: 
Lot 1: Supported Living 
Supports individuals with a 
tenancy who have access to 
night support or core support, 
or have more than 105 per 
week one to one hours.  
Lot 2: Individualised 
Framework 
Supports Individuals with 
smaller packages that are 
less than 105 hours one to 
one per week. 
Lot 3: Adult Building Based 
Day Services 
Supports individuals who 
attend a building-based type 
day service.  
Lot 4: Complex Health and 
Behaviour Framework 

31/03/2025 £109,710,816 
(4-year + 2-year 
term) 
 
This is broken 
down to: 
 
£84,566,730 
 
 
 
 
 
£16,229,196 
 
 
 
 
 
£5,445,090 
 
 
 
 
£3,469,800 
 

Tender Michelle 
Pankow, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

P
age 91



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 

Supports individuals who are 
CHC Health funded with 
complex health needs or 
those individuals that have 
complex behaviour and need 
a specialist provider.  

 

Domiciliary Care 
and Support 
Framework 

This contract is for the 
provision of care and support 
to children, young people and 
adults. 
The Council is committed to 
commissioning high-quality 
personal care and support 
services for people who are 
assessed as being in need of 
a service to enable them to 
remain living in their own 
home.  
The ethos of the Service is 
quality of life for all Clients. It 
is a framework model that is 
open to all providers who 
deliver a variety of care and 
support provision.  

31/03/2025 £20,709,108 
(4-year + 2-year 
term) 

Tender Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

  

P
age 92



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
Reablement  Reablement Service aims are 

to enable individuals to 
remain living in their own 
home and community, for as 
long as possible whilst 
maintaining their optimum 
level of independence. It 
provides personalised, time 
limited support, with the aim 
of avoiding or delaying the 
need for long term care 
provision and facilitates 
hospital discharge. 

04/09/2024 £3,626,748 
This is the amount 
for both 
reablement and 
also rapid 
response and 
wellness (see 
below). The two 
services are not 
differentiated by 
finance reporting. 
(Based on 3 year 
re-commission) 

TBC pending 
decision under 
Provider 
Selection 
Regime (Health 
Care Services 
Procurement 
Rules) 

Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Rapid Response 
and Wellness 
Service 

This service is seen as a key 
service in the development of 
the Integrated Care 
Partnerships Aging Well 
programme. It looks at 
reactionary care to the 
residents of North Somerset. 
The service impacts across a 
number of key areas with a 
desire by the Integrated Care 
Board for further development 
of the service including an 
expansion of the falls 
pathway, short term 
reactionary care and support, 
reactive telehealth monitoring, 
welfare calls and observations 

04/09/2024 See above TBC pending 
decision under 
Provider 
Selection 
Regime (Health 
Care Services 
Procurement 
Rules) 

Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

P
age 93



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 

supporting both NSC duty and 
Sirona. 

 

Emergency 
Accommodation 
Framework 

This framework provides 
emergency accommodation to 
people who have approached 
the Homeless Prevention 
Team and who are assessed 
as being owed a duty by the 
Authority to provide interim 
accommodation whilst further 
investigations are made 

14/10/24 £2,500,000 
(5-year term) 

Extension of 
existing 
framework for 
18 months, 
under the 
same terms 
and conditions 

Alison Smith, 
Home Choice 
and Lettings 
Team Manager 

Yes 

Home Lifts 
(Supply, Repair 
& Maintenance) 

Lot 1 - Supply and Installation 
of seated stair lifts (straight, 
curved and compact) 
This contract supports the 
delivery of the Disabled 
Facilities Grants, a mandatory 
grant, introduced by the 
Housing Grants Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996.  
Good practice guidance 
encourages Local Authorities 
to use procured contracts to 
secure value for money, and 
help streamline and speed up 
service delivery. 
Funded by the DFG element 
of the Better Care Fund. 

31/5/2025 £1,315,000 
 
 

2-year option 
to extend 
current 
contract 

Claire Baxter, 
Housing 
Improvements 
and Adaptations 
Team Manager 

Yes 

P
age 94



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
Strawberry 
Gardens, Extra 
Care Housing 

Provision of on-site care 
within Strawberry Gardens 
extra care housing scheme. 
To enable residents to remain 
as independent as possible 
within their own home.  The 
care provider will also respond 
to emergency calls required 
by individuals. 

27/10/2024 £1,208,984 3-year option 
to extend 
current 
contract 

Michelle 
Pankow, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Community 
Meals 

Contract to supply food to be 
cooked in our own locations 
and delivered to vulnerable 
individuals in North Somerset 

30/06/2025  £680,000 TBC Elaine Insley, 
Community 
Meals Team 
Manager / 
Teresa Stanley, 
Head of 
Strategy and 
Commissioning 

No, market 
research 
currently 
underway 

Links Court 
Respite Service 

2 bedded respite service at 
Links Court, providing 24 hour 
staffed care provision. 
The service is modelled on 
supported living service 
provision rather than the 
traditional residential care 
model.   
This service is offered to 
adults, particularly 25 years+, 
and for those young people 
who previously enjoyed short 
breaks at Pizey Avenue. 
 

01/06/2024 £568,476 3-year Direct 
Award 

Rob Hepworth, 
Accommodation 
Change 
Manager 

Yes 

P
age 95



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
Park Home 
Insulation 
Scheme 

Green Homes Grant (HUG2) 
A successful consortium bid 
secured HUG2 funding from 
BEIS for the retrofit of 500 
traditional build properties and 
45 park homes across the 
consortium area. Bristol City 
Leap are delivering the 
scheme for the traditional 
build and NS are delivering 
the scheme for park homes. 

This supports the corporate 
plan vision to create a greener 
NS, supports the actions in 
the Climate emergency Action 
Plan and contributes to the 
commitment to become 
carbon neutral by 2030. 
 

31/3/25 £480,000 
 
 

Led by Bristol 
City Council 

Claire Baxter, 
Housing 
Improvements 
and Adaptations 
Team Manager 

Yes, should 
further 
funding 
become 
available 
would look to 
extend the 
current 
arrangements 

Handy Person 
Contract 

The contract has 6 
components that support 
qualifying individuals: 
A general Handy Person 
Service 
Home from Hospital Service 
providing minor adaptations / 
alterations to the home 
environment. 

31/01/2025 £460,000 2-year option 
to extend 
current 
contract 

Michelle 
Pankow, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

P
age 96



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 

Quoted Works Service 
providing minor adaptations 
and works to the home 
environment under £1000, to 
support people to remain 
independent. 
Urgent Works Service 
Warm Home Advice and 
Money Scheme Service 
Childrens Support Service 

Home Lifts 
(Supply, Repair 
& Maintenance) 

Lot 3 Supply and Installation 
of Vertical Through Floor Lift 
This contract supports the 
delivery of the Disabled 
Facilities Grants, a mandatory 
grant, introduced by the 
Housing Grants Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996.  
Good practice guidance 
encourages Local Authorities 
to use procured contracts to 
secure value for money, and 
help streamline and speed up 
service delivery. 
Funded by the DFG element 
of the Better Care Fund. 
 

31/5/2025 £450,000 
 
 

2-year option 
to extend 
current 
contract 

Claire Baxter, 
Housing 
Improvements 
and Adaptations 
Team Manager 

Yes 

  

P
age 97



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
Voluntary 
Sector Grants 

North Somerset Council has 
historically provided grant 
funding to a number of 
organisations. The provision 
of a grant has been given 
where there is a clear link 
between the Council’s 
supporting people agenda and 
where activities support the 
strategic aims and objectives 
of the Council.  

31/03/2024 £853,432 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1-year direct 
award 

Estelle Radcliffe 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Single E-
Learning 
Platform 

For North Somerset Council to 
provide an e-learning platform 
which will be accessed by all 
local care providers, 
domiciliary and care homes, 
to provide a consistent 
approach to learning and 
development; This will provide 
NSC greater insight into the 
quality and content of training 
being received by our carers. 
The platform will be funded 
via innovation grant funding.  
This will also be linked into the 
development of the North 
Somerset Care Academy, 
which will identify and support 

N/A £117,000 Up to 3 years 
Tender 

Lee Derbidge, 
Learning and 
Development 
Officer 

Yes P
age 98



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 

Adult Social Care as a career 
choice. 

Mental Health 
Accommodation 
Solution 

This service will be providing 
3 flats and support to people 
with long term mental health 
to return to general housing 
following discharge from 
residential care settings / 
hospital; the service will 
support the tenants to 
manage the property and 
develop the skills required for 
independent living, with 
support being stepped down 
as the individual develops 
their independence 

N/A £82,500 1-year direct 
award 

Rob Hepworth, 
Accommodation 
Change Manger 

Yes 

Harvard Support 
Services Move-
on Service 

This contract will be providing 
core support into a 3 
bedroomed property for 
existing tenants of Harvard 
and Folley House.  This will 
enable individuals the 
opportunity to move into more 
independent living, which in 
turn will free up 
accommodation for more 
complex supported living. 
This will then be 
encompassed under Lot 1 of 
The Specialised Care and 

31/03/2025 £9,124 1-year direct 
award 

Michelle 
Pankow, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

P
age 99



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 

Support Spot Framework 
Contract (details above) 

  

P
age 100



Appendix A 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2023/24 
(New)     
 
UKCIL PA 
Register 

Contract to provide a personal 
assistant recruitment register, 
to support direct payment 
users, in effectively recruiting 
Pas to deliver their care. 

01/12/2024 £3,000 Annual 
Direct Award 

 Sue Kelly, 
Connecting 
Lives Manager 

Yes 

Vyond Cloud based subscription tool 
that allows the creation of 
engaging and eye-catching 
information videos and 
bitesize learning.  This tool 
supports the delivery of 
training and information to 
providers and paid carers 

14/08/2024 £518.17 Annual 
subscription 
Direct Award 

Lee Derbidge,  
Learning and 
Development 
Officer 

Yes 

 

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 
Project/Contract Description Current 

Contract 
Expiry 
Date 

Estimated 
Contract 
Value 
(whole term 
value) 

Commissioning 
Route 

Commissioning 
Manager 

Approval 
to proceed 
with the 
activity 
required? 

Support to Live 
at Home 
Woodspring 
Contract 
 

Provision of home care for 
Clients living in the Integrated 
Care Partnership Area of 
Woodspring. This is the Lead 
Provider Woodspring Contract 
and will be supported by the 
Support to Live at Home Flexible 
Framework Agreement 

30/06/2024 £20,000.000 Tender 
completed; new 
contract due to 
commence July 
2024 for up to 7 
years 

Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

N/A already 
approved at 
Full Council 
Jan 2023 
Contract 
Awarded 
Jan 2024 

Bathing Contract 
Framework 

Contract for the delivery of 
bathing adaptations as part of the 
Disabled Facilities grant. 
This contract supports the  

delivery of the Disabled Facilities 
Grants, a mandatory grant, 
introduced by the Housing 
Grants Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996.  
Good practice guidance 
encourages Local Authorities to 
use procured contracts to secure 
value for money, and help 
streamline and speed up service 
delivery. 
 

31/03/2024 £3,800,000 2-year direct 
award 

Claire Baxter, 
Housing 
Improvements 
and Adaptations 
Team Manager 

N/A 
Directors 
Decision 
signed 
12/02/2024 

P
age 103



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 
Blocked Booked 
Beds 

North Somerset has several 
block-booked beds to ensure a 
maintained and cost-effective 
care home bed capacity in North 
Somerset. 

 
Current provision is 77 block 
beds across 5 care homes 
covering Nursing and residential 
care. 
 
The block-booked beds are 
recommissioned for 6 months at 
a time. 

Rolling 6-
month 
contracts 

12-month total 
cost of 38 
beds 
£2,226,610 
 
 
 
Additional 12 
months of 39 
beds with 
Sycamore 
Lodge 
£1,966,521 

Direct award to 
4 Homes (total 
38 beds)   
 
 
 
 
 
 
Direct award to 
Sycamore 
Lodge for  
39 beds  
 
 
 

Estelle Radcliffe, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Contract 
Novation – Extra 
Care Housing 
Lakeside Court 

Provision of on-site care within 
Lakeside Court extra care 
housing scheme. To enable 
residents to remain as 
independent as possible within 
their own home.  The care 
provider will also respond to 
emergency calls required by 
individuals.  
Contract Novation from Home 
Life Carers Limited  to Agincare 
Limited 

31/10/2026 £2,177,710 4 years with 
option to extend 
for a further 3 
years 

Michelle Pankow 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Domestic Abuse 
Services 

The current domestic abuse 
services provide specialist 
support for adults (and where 

31/03/2024 £1,800,000 2-year permitted 
extension to 
current contract 

Michelle Pankow Yes 

P
age 104



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 

applicable, their children) who 
have experienced or are 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer. 

Pathways to 
Adulthood / Pizey 
Avenue Scheme 
 

Joint commissioned provision 
with Children’s Social Care 
providing short-term respite 
breaks, and support to prepare 
young people on their pathway to 
adulthood 

31/03/2024 £1,249,226 2-year  
direct award 

Teresa Stanley 
(Adults) 
Alison Stone 
(Childrens) 
Heads of 
Strategy and 
Commissioning 

N/A as 
decision 
signed by 
Directors of 
Adults and 
Children’s 
Services on 
31/01/2024 

Support to Live 
at Home 
Woodspring 
Flexible 
Framework 
Agreement 
 

Provision of home care for 
Clients living in the Integrated 
Care Partnership Area of 
Woodspring. This flexible 
framework is to support the Lead 
Provider Woodspring Contract 
and we will be looking to approve 
two to three providers 

30/06/2024 £5,000,000 Tender 
Going out to 
tender Spring 
2024 

Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

N/A already 
approved at 
Full Council 
Jan 2023 

Community 
Meals 

Contract to supply food to be 
cooked in our own locations and 
delivered to vulnerable 
individuals in North Somerset 

30/09/2024 £850,000 Up to 9 months 
permitted 
extension to 
current contract 

Elaine Insley, 
Community 
Meals Team 
Manager / 
Teresa Stanley, 
Head of Service 
Development 

Yes 

  

P
age 105



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 
Advocacy  Recommission of Statutory 

Advocacy Services for Adults.  
This service is a statutory duty 
under the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and is funded as one 
element of the Local Reform and 
Community Voices Grant 
received by the Council. 
 
The provider will supply the 
following statutory advocacy 
services: 
Mental Capacity Advocacy 
(IMCA) 
Independent Mental Health 
Advocates (IMHA) 
NHS Complaints Advocates 
(IHCA) 
Independent Advocacy (ICCA)  
 
The new contract will also 
include the following areas which 
are currently purchased outside 
the main contract. 

• Litigation Friend. 
• 39A referrals. 

30/06/2024 £600,000 
 

Tender in 
progress, award 
expected in 
March 2024 

Michelle Pankow 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 
 

  

P
age 106



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 
Wellness and 
Active Lifestyles   

This contract provides activities 
that promotes good health, 
wellbeing, and engagement for 
people with dementia. 
The service is delivered across 5 
days from Tamar Court. 

31/03/2024 £184,600 1-year Direct 
Award 

Elizabeth 
Longdon, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Healthwatch Local Authorities have a duty to 
ensure that an effective local 
Healthwatch is operating in their 
area, delivering the activities set 
out in the legislation.  
A jointly commissioned service 
across BNSSG for the provision 
of the provider to feedback to 
local authorities to understand 
the needs, experiences and 
concerns of people who use 
health and social care services 
and to speak out on their behalf. 

30/09/2024 £166,200  Tender jointly 
across BNSSG 
with Bristol 
Leading 
Out to tender 
06/02/2024 

Estelle Radcliffe, 
Contracts and 
Commissioning 
Officer 

Yes 

Accelerating 
Reform Fund 

Funding from the Department of 
Health and Social Care to 
support innovation in social care. 
The aim of the funding is to 
support the growth of services 
that make person centred care a 
reality, support unpaid carers to 
live healthy and fulfilling lives and 
respond to rising demand and 
the changing needs of the local 
population. 
 

N/A £75,000 - 
£100,000 
(from initial 
£300,000 
across 
BNSSG) 
 
£28,488 
2023/24 
 
£87,005 
2024/25 

One off DHSC 
grant funding 

Teresa Stanley, 
Head of 
Strategy and 
Commissioning 

Yes 

P
age 107



Appendix B 
Adult Social Services Commissioning Plan 2024/25 
(Existing or previously agreed activity)     
 

Partnership working with South 
Glos and Bristol to combine 
resources where appropriate and 
share learning. 
 
North Somerset main focus with 
this funding will be in respect of 
utilising technology to support 
unpaid carers with virtual respite 
and day care, and to promote the 
local Home Share scheme.  
 

International 
Recruitment 

The grant will be used to support 
social care employers undertake 
best practice overseas 
recruitment to reduce the 
incidence of poor practice; to 
support the orientation and 
wellbeing of social care workers 
from overseas, and to increase 
retention of these workers within 
the social care workforce.  

N/A £60,000 One off grant Poppy Carson, 
Proud to Care 
Lead 

Yes 

Be Proud to Care 
Website 

Joint commissioned provision 
across BNSSG and the ICB for 
the ‘Be Proud to Care’ campaign, 
to promote the value of working 
in social care and increase new 
entrants to jobs in social care. 

12/2023 £254  3 years 
Direct Award 

Poppy Carson, 
Proud to Care 
Project Lead 

Yes 

 

P
age 108



 

 

Commissioning Strategy 
 

Adult Social Services and Housing  

2024-2031 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Charlotte Badger 
Strategy and Policy Development Officer 
Adult Social Services and Housing  
v2.5 

Page 109



  

2 

 

Contents 

Commissioning Strategy ...........................................................................................1 

1. Executive Summary ..............................................................................................3 

2. Strategy Purpose, Aim and Vision ........................................................................4 

3. Corporate Plan .....................................................................................................8 

3. What is Adult Social Care? ...................................................................................9 

4. Putting the ‘Health’ in Health and Social Care – our Integrated Care Partnership 
(ICP) .......................................................................................................................11 

5. Technology Enabled Care (TEC) .......................................................................15 

6. National and Local Context ................................................................................16 

7. Policy, Legal and Regulatory Framework ...........................................................18 
Legislation and White Papers .............................................................................18 
Guidance and Strategies ....................................................................................21 

8. Demographics and Need Analysis .....................................................................23 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) .........................................................24 
Early Intervention and Prevention (EIAP) ...........................................................26 
Older People .......................................................................................................27 
Ethnicity ..............................................................................................................30 
Gender ................................................................................................................31 
Living and Support Arrangements, including Carers ..........................................32 
Dementia .............................................................................................................35 
Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment .......................................................37 
Learning Disability and/or Autism .......................................................................41 
Transitions ..........................................................................................................43 
Mental Health ......................................................................................................44 

9. Overview of our Market, Commissioned Services and Spend ...........................46 
North Somerset Market Overview .......................................................................46 
Social Care .........................................................................................................50 
Health ..................................................................................................................55 
Contracts .............................................................................................................56 
Grants .................................................................................................................62 
Spend ..................................................................................................................65 

10. Engagement and Other North Somerset Council Strategies ............................68 
Key Themes from Initial Engagement .................................................................69 
North Somerset Council Strategies .....................................................................70 

11. Climate Emergency ..........................................................................................73 

12. Procurement and Social Value .........................................................................74 

13. Commissioning Intentions ................................................................................75 

Page 110



  

3 

 

Early Intervention & Prevention, Community & Voluntary Sector Support ..........76 
Market Position Statement and Quality Assurance .............................................76 
Homecare/Domiciliary Care ................................................................................77 
Accommodation with Care and Support .............................................................77 
Care Homes (nursing and residential) ................................................................78 
Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment .......................................................78 
Learning Disability and/or Autism .......................................................................78 
Transitions ..........................................................................................................79 
Mental Health ......................................................................................................79 
Micro-providers, Direct Payments (DPs) and Personal Assistants (PAs) ...........79 
Self-Funders .......................................................................................................80 

14. Appendices .......................................................................................................81 
Action Plan 2023/2024 (to be updated annually) ................................................81 
Glossary of Terms ...............................................................................................95 
References ........................................................................................................100 

 
1. Executive Summary 
Adult social services currently does not have an overarching commissioning strategy  

and therefore, it was deemed essential to develop one, given that we spend  

approximately £100m gross per year commissioning individual care and support  

services. 

 

The commissioning strategy identifies and addresses the care needs of people living 

with a diverse range of conditions, from physical and mental disorders and learning 

disabilities, to people who are aging and becoming frailer. 

 

The commissioning strategy is key to underpinning the direction of travel for North 

Somerset Council’s adult social services. It identifies our commissioning intentions to  

external providers in delivering our statutory responsibilities, under the Care Act  

2014, for people with eligible care and support needs, to keep them safe from harm  

and neglect and promote wellbeing. Adult social services also commission non- 

statutory support services in line with our early intervention and prevention agenda. 

 

The commissioning strategy outlines the current market position within adult social 

services, detailing provision, and occupancy and how the budget is divided between 

services.  

Page 111



  

4 

 

It sets out our commissioning intentions and priorities over the coming 7 years; 

identifying any gaps in service provision as well as setting out our plan in terms of 

meeting the evolving needs of those with eligible needs living within North Somerset. 

 

This commissioning strategy supports several of the current Corporate Plan 

ambitions, including: 

• Our communities are caring, healthy and safe, where people help each other 

to live well. 

• Our council delivers consistently good services and value for money to 

support our community. 

 

It also compliments our adult social services overall mission and vision “To  

promote wellbeing by helping people in North Somerset be as independent as  

possible for as long as possible.”  

 

The strategy compliments the annual commissioning intentions report, which in turn  

supports the delivery and commissioning of our current and future priorities.  

 

Extensive consultation has been undertaken in developing this strategy, which is 

evidenced throughout.  

 

The strategy contains a detailed action plan which focuses on developing and 

implementing regional and local approaches to market sustainability and 

improvement, quality assurance, work force and provider development, Technology 

Enabled Care, and support for people to continue to live at home, including housing 

with support options. It also considers communication and partnership working, 

including the ICB and the wider system. 
 

2. Strategy Purpose, Aim and Vision 
This 7-year overarching commissioning strategy for adult social services is a 

statement that defines our overall mission and adult social care (ASC) vision, “To 

promote wellbeing by helping people in North Somerset be as independent as 

Page 112



  

5 

 

possible for as long possible”. The strategy will support the direction of travel for 

North Somerset Council (NSC) to meet adult social care needs in North Somerset 

(NS) by commissioning external providers to deliver the statutory1 responsibility we 

have for people eligible for care and support services in our area, in line with the 

Care Act 2014. 

 

Ian MacBeath (2022) from the Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS) sees ASC 

as much more than personal care. ASC helps people to live good lives and enhances 

health and wellbeing, marginalised people are given independence, choice, and 

control. Despite the challenges, ASC is ‘magnificent’ as it offers the best chance in 

life for people who are older and disabled, those who are caring for older and 

disabled people, or those working in the sector. James Bullion (2022), of the Care 

Quality Commission, found that ASC needs funding certainty; long term reform; and 

a long-term plan linking ASC with other services based on systematic reform. 

 

Our Corporate Plan recognises that adult social care funding has its challenges, with 

a national solution for sustainable funding essential. Care markets locally and 

nationally are challenged by rising costs, and recruitment and retention of staff while 

needing to deliver quality service provision. As demand for these services increase in 

line with an aging population, so does the cost to the council, alongside a decade of 

reducing LA government funding. Providers perform well in NS, even with some care 

homes experiencing environmental challenges due to the fabric of the buildings and 

accessibility restrictions. Older peoples’ services in NS are sustainable and dementia 

services and nursing markets are in general sufficient (enough). There is mixed 

evidence of a short term over supply given a drop in self-funder demand and there is 

a need to refresh some of our provision environments. The residential market is over 

saturated in NS and our recent MSP encouraged providers to diversify given 

recognised gaps in the market for younger adults with specialist learning disability 

(LD) and mental health (MH) services.  

 
1 Statutory services are those the Local Authority or ‘Council’, have a legal obligation to deliver, for 

example under the Care Act 2014 to keep people safe from harm and neglect and promote wellbeing.   

Page 113

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


  

6 

 

 
There is an associated action plan to this commissioning strategy (see appendices), 

which will help NSC to achieve our longer term aims. There will be timescales 

against each action and the plan itself will be reviewed annually. There is also an 

easy read version outlining the key points of the strategy. Commissioning is often 

explained using the commissioning cycle of ‘analyse, plan, do, and review’. This 

relates to the assessment of needs, planning of services, procurement of services 

and ongoing quality monitoring of services2 (see The King’s Fund). However, there 

are many factors that interplay with each other, primarily with the aim of achieving the 

‘duty of best value’ (Communities and Local Government). This is while managing 

the political landscape and budgetary constraints, as well as adhering to legal and 

practice frameworks. Our commissioning strategy will provide a bridge between 

‘where we are now’ and ‘where we want to be’ as an organisation in relation to 

delivering social care and other support in NS, utilising best practice and research 

wherever possible (in line with the ConnectED project aims, running in conjunction 

with the University of Bristol, several LAs and health partners). The national 

 
2 Analyse: The analysis of need, capacity, assets and resources and capability of the market involves agreeing 
priority needs with partners defining the outcomes to meet needs. Plan: Gap analysis, relevant stakeholder 
engagement, design of services, service pathways and developing joint strategies where able. Do: Implementing 
the commissioning plan, facilitating the market, building capacity, sourcing providers capable of meeting a 
specification and contracting new services; delivering to users. Review: Contract monitoring and reviewing 
effectiveness of strategy. Reviewing and learning from delivery and feedback from users (Institute of Public Care). 

Page 114

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-how-it-changing
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5945/1976926.pdf
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/files/publications/How_to_Commission_the_Adult_Social_Care_Workforce.pdf


  

7 

 

landscape, including funding, will change a lot in 7 years. We need to be pragmatic in 

our strengths-based approach to delivering our health and social care priorities in line 

with colleagues and the Integrated Care Board (ICB) and governmental directives, 

wider policy documents and objectives. We are committed to ‘bridging the gap’ that 

care home and homecare providers find themselves in by awarding above 

inflationary fee uplifts each year. 

 

This commissioning strategy should be read with our market position statement 

(MPS), which sets out our provider market both now and for our future vision to be 

realised. The Care Act (2014) places a duty on LAs to facilitate and shape care and 

support markets; to ensure sustainability, diversity and continuous improvement and 

innovation in the services that run in our area. In conducting our Care Act market 

shaping duties, we are keen to work with and alongside our strategic partners, which 

will affect how we commission and deliver services. This will be of benefit to the 

people who live and work in NS and help us to manage budgets, as well as other 

factors, including an aging population. Our MPS is important to our relationship with 

the care and support sector, including voluntary, community, faith based and social 

enterprises (VCFSE) as well as people who need care and support and their carers. 

It sets out our long-term vision for the future of care and support services, explains 

what innovative approaches and services are needed, as well as encouraging 

providers and partners to help us be creative to meet people’s needs.  

 

In line with our published market sustainability plan (MSP) following on from the fair 

cost of care exercise, we recognise that market sustainability is important for the 

sector to deliver better health and wellbeing outcomes. by promoting independence 

and supporting a ‘Home First’ and preventative approach, which is often more 

effective than cure and crisis management. Although the focus of this strategy is 

adult commissioned services, we must consider these services in partnership with 

the wider Integrated Care System (ICS) which has replaced the Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) across the Bristol, North Somerset, and South 

Gloucestershire area (Health and Care Act, 2022). There are two Integrated Care 

Locality Partnerships (ICPs) in NS – One Weston, or Weston, Worle and Villages 

Page 115

https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted


  

8 

 

which covers the South, as well as Woodspring, which broadly covers the North. 

Continued work across both Locality Partnerships form part of the Better Care Fund 

(BCF) priorities for NS for 2023-2025, as well as mitigation of the cost-of-living crisis 

impacts upon health inequalities and more integrated and collaborative working 

across health and social care. 

 

3. Corporate Plan 
Our vision is for North Somerset (NS) to be open, fair and green, and we have four 

ambitions:  

 

1. Our children and young people are cared for, safe, supported and are given 

equality of opportunity to thrive. 

2. Our communities are caring, healthy and safe, where people help each other to 

live well. 

3. Our towns and villages are thriving and sustainable places to live, work and visit. 

4. Our council delivers consistently good services and value for money to support our 

community. 

 

We are also committed to contributing to the United Nations Sustainable 

Development Goals. You can find more about our Corporate Plan at http://www.n-

somerset.gov.uk/ 

 

Page 116

http://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/
http://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/


  

9 

 

4. What is Adult Social Care? 

 

Adult Social Care (ASC) means different things for different people, it is more than 

hospital discharges and care homes, although they do play a large part. Social care 

keeps people safe from harm, as well as enabling them to live independently. NSC’s 

vision for ASC (2018), “Maximising Independence and Wellbeing” sets out our vision 

statement: To promote wellbeing by helping people in North Somerset (NS) be as 

independent as possible for as long possible.  

 

Adult social services use a variety of approaches which are detailed in the practice 

framework “Your Strengths, Your Rights, Your Goals.” There are various approaches 

utilised in the delivery of social services and this is passed onto commissioned 

providers as commitment and accountability to our principles. The wellbeing principle 

is important and is set out in the Care Act 2014 that the LA has a general duty to 

promote an individual’s wellbeing. This can relate to personal dignity; physical, 

mental health and emotional wellbeing; protection from abuse and neglect; control 

over day-to-day life including care and support and the way it is provided; 

participation in work, training, education, or recreation; social and economic 

wellbeing; domestics, family and personal relationships; suitability of living 

accommodation; and the individual’s contribution to society, which ties into our vision 

and values. Our values are essential to achieving good outcomes for people. Our 

values like ‘putting customers first’ and ‘getting things done’ apply to all our services, 

but there are also specific values relevant to social care professions and roles: 

Page 117

https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Presentation%20-%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf


  

10 

 

• We will put people first and put them at the centre of what we do.  

• We will treat people with dignity and respect, valuing their individuality and 

diversity.  

• We will empower people, giving them as much choice and control as possible, 

maximising their independence, consistent with their safety and wellbeing.  

• We will strive to protect people from abuse and neglect, and we will protect the 

rights of people whose mental capacity is reduced by ill health or disability.  

• We will work in partnership with our clients, their carers, the voluntary and 

community sector, and health organisations.  

• We will ensure that the services which we provide, arrange or commission are 

of excellent quality.  

• We will ensure that services are provided consistently and in line with 

standards, so that people know what to expect and people with similar needs 

get a similar response.  

• We will manage resources well on behalf of the community, conscious if 

someone receives a service they do not need, it may not be there for 

someone who does. 

 

We are committed to work closely with people with care and support needs, their 

families/carers, partner agencies, as well as the voluntary and community sector. Our 

aim is to empower communities, build relationships and strengthen networks to 

achieve best outcomes for people with care and support needs. The way social care 

is delivered has been changing over decades and what someone who receives social 

care services looks like might be completely different to how people think or perceive 

care recipients would look and behave like. We may know someone who has needed 

care and support services, after a hospital stay, or when a partner passes away who 

took care of everything at home. As part of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-

24 we aim to take a Home First approach, as we know people do better in their own 

environments. This applies to hospital discharges as well as longer term care 

provision. Independence is the aim and what we can do to help people achieve their 

goals in remaining as independent for as long as possible, with support if needed. 

 

Page 118

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/priorities-strategies/health-wellbeing-strategy-2021-24
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/priorities-strategies/health-wellbeing-strategy-2021-24


  

11 

 

Social care can be delivered both formally and informally, by both paid and unpaid 

carers, in a variety of ‘roles’ to many thousands of people. People who have care 

needs might be frail though age, have a physical or learning need, or complex mental 

health. ASC can be delivered at home, in care homes, in hospitals, in work, 

education, as well as in the community by people who work for employers including 

the LA, care companies, charities, or for themselves as a personal assistant (PA). 

Social care and support help people who need it, whether in decision making, such 

as looking after their finances, or being able to take part in activities. It is important 

people who have social care services are in control, as much as possible and have 

choice in how their care and support is delivered to meet their needs.  

 

5. Putting the ‘Health’ in Health and Social Care – our Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) 
Health and social care are often talked about together and interchangeably, but there 

are some basic differences. 

 
“The English National Health Service (NHS) is publicly funded and generally free to 

use, with hospital services in an area usually provided by one or two acute trusts. 

Social care, on the other hand, is means tested and provided by multiple independent 

(private or not for profit) providers employing their own care workers and other 

support staff (Quilter-Pinner & Hochlaf, 2019). Social care in this context typically 

refers to the provision of ‘packages’ of care (support with washing, dressing and other 

activities of daily living) for people in their own homes, or residential care provided by 

care or nursing homes. However, social care is complex, encompassing multiple 

other services including aids and home adaptations, daycare, and support for family 

carers. Local authorities (LAs) in each area have a responsibility to work with local 

providers to ensure that social care needs are met (Local Government 

Association, 2018) (cited in Allan et al 2022)”. 

 

An ICP is a statutory committee jointly formed between the NHS Integrated Care 

Board (ICB) and all upper-tier local authorities that fall within the Integrated Care 

System (ICS) area. The ICP will bring together a broad alliance of partners 

concerned with improving the care, health, and wellbeing of the population, with 

Page 119



  

12 

 

membership determined locally. The ICP is responsible for producing an integrated 

care strategy on how to meet the health and wellbeing needs of the population in an 

ICS area (NHS England).  

 

Although this commissioning strategy is focussed on adult social care and support 

services, much of our work is done in collaboration with the wider health Integrated 

Care System (ICS) – Healthier Together – which replaced the BNSSG Clinical 

Commissioning Group. In NS, we have two Integrated Care Locality Partnerships – 

One Weston, sometimes called Weston, Worle and Villages, which covers the south, 

as well as Woodspring, which covers the north. The BNSSG strategic vision (June 

2023) is ‘healthier together by working together’; people enjoying healthy and 

productive lives, supported by a fully integrated health and care system – providing 

personalised support close to home for everyone who needs it. Healthier Together 

work to improve health and wellbeing, reduce inequalities, and provide integrated 

services for the one million people living in the local area. 

 

In our ICS area, we work on a system basis and the two localities are aligning our 

tender processes where possible. NS take the lead in commissioning on behalf of 

health within the BNSSG area. Some system wide priorities to delivering health and 

social care across the Locality Partnerships include Discharge to Assess (D2A), 

which relates to hospital discharge pathways, and Home First. Current NSC 

commissioned and inhouse services to support prevention of admission to hospital 

include the Wellness Service, Response 24, dementia wrap around care team 

(DWACT) pilot, live in care worker, waking night care worker, sitting service care 

worker, an extra care flat, Home from Hospital, block beds, technology enabled care 

(TEC) and Carelink. It is part of our Better Care Fund (BCF) priorities to support the 

wider workforce and develop innovative preventive care infrastructure, including first 

response, rapid response, and a virtual community hub. Housing related initiatives 

are also linked health and social care outcomes, including Disabled Facilities Grants 

and TEC.  

 

Page 120



  

13 

 

Our BCF local priorities similarly reflect a continuation of the focus on maximising 

independence and investing in support services to deliver this, from expanded 

reablement capacity, TEC, and work with the voluntary sector. Our ‘Healthier Together’ 

shared aim, is to continue to reduce the use of bedded provision as part of discharge 

except where it offers an improvement in personal outcomes or promotes a better 

likelihood of discharge to original residence.  

 

NSC approaches to collaboration and joint commissioning include:   

• Expand and make permanent via BCF the promising results from a pilot with 

Response 24 to support people who fall – First Response Service.  

• Improving End of Life experiences by increasing the number of people 

discussing their end of life wishes and dying in their place of choice, e.g., the 

Weston ‘Good Grief’ festival which was extended across North Somerset. 

• North Somerset Together Virtual Hub – a collaborative partnership led by 

Citizens Advice North Somerset. A 2-year new service pilot jointly funded by 

NSC and North Somerset Locality Partnerships, taking direct referrals from 

frontline staff within health and community settings, providing a one-stop 

connector service to support navigation of support systems, community assets 

and social welfare support. Helps to reduce inequalities by addressing wider 

factors of health, such as debt, housing, employment, and physical activity.  

• Expansion of Wellness Service following merger with NSC Rapid Response 

service to provide telephone support and access to TEC with an emphasis on 

loneliness and social isolation. 

• For Woodspring area addressing inequity of opportunities and outcomes 

derived from our rurality and larger older population. 

• Mobilisation of the North Somerset Ageing Well model focussed on 

prevention, pro-active care, and complex care (including dementia). Dementia 

carers support a local funding priority in BCF discharge grant.  

• Expansion of capacity in our reablement service, our virtual TEC hub, Home 

from Hospital service which will be expanded particularly to support 

Discharges from our Bristol Acutes to incorporate the Link Workers.  

• Continued commitment to Proud to Care, retention bonuses in domiciliary 

Page 121



  

14 

 

care; retention fees and retainer payments for domiciliary care providers whilst 

people are in hospital. 

• Incentive payments for care homes to complete faster discharge 

assessments. These incentives, £250 per assessment and placement 

completed in 24 hours, was introduced in winter with dramatic impact (length 

of placement time reduced by c25%) and is supported via BCF.  

• Despite the sizable contraction in headcount within ICB funding settlements, 

NSC and our two locality partnerships have agreed a jointly commissioned 

service development post to support progress on joint priorities and find 

further joint commissioning opportunities.  

• The use of the winter discharge grant to advance payment of pay awards for 

care workers has improved recruitment across the board and we have had 

great success across social media including local television and radio on our 

Proud to Care campaign promoting the positives of working in care, 

particularly following the award of a local carer winning the national carer of 

the year. 

• Current retendering of domiciliary care contracts are designed on setting up 

two strategic provider partners for each locality and boundaries co-terminus 

with each locality. Access Your Care one of existing strategic partners, plays 

an active engagement role in locality partnership business and in particular 

our local priority to upskill our local care workforce. 

 

The BCF has been used in the winter to support these initiatives and collaboration 

with local strategic providers and Locality Partnership stakeholders creating a shared 

vision for collaboration across health and social care to develop a care academy. 

There are 274 care homes across the BNSSG area – 183 proving residential care 

and 91 nursing care, so it is important that work is collaborative across the whole 

system to coordinate hospital discharges, as well as aiming to prevent admission to 

hospital in the first place. Our Reablement Vision for North Somerset Council is ‘a 

goal orientated, short term, therapy led service which is integrated with health 

and considers TEC first’. The mission being ‘to support people by reducing care 

needs, avoiding admission, and supporting hospital discharge’.  

Page 122



  

15 

 

6. Technology Enabled Care (TEC) 
Technology Enabled Care (TEC) is high on the agenda at NSC and within the wider 

ICS. There is currently a dedicated Technology Enabled Project Lead in post funded 

by the Integrated Care Board (ICB) across Bristol, NS and South Gloucestershire 

(BNSSG) delivering a variety of projects. The primary aims are to reduce numbers of 

hospital admissions, GP visits, savings for care workers and wider financial savings 

for the ICS. Genie is a NS specific project and savings across care packages for 

people is the main aim. There are also more qualitative outcomes which the projects 

will hope to realise, including increasing carer confidence, detecting, and preventing 

falls; detecting and preventing infections; improving people’s sleeping habits; and 

decreasing carer stress. A TEC Strategy is being written and will be published. The 

digital switchover, due by December 2025, is a priority for the TEC team to ensure as 

smooth a transition as possible. “Ageing is inevitable, but how we age is not” (A 

consensus on healthy ageing, Office for Health Improvement & Disparities, 2023). 

 

The current TEC based projects being piloted in 2023/2024 include a variety that are 

to help prevent falls using sensor-based falls technology: 

• 400 acoustic monitoring units across 7 care homes, utilising radar technology. 

• 1000 vayyar units across 500 residents being delivered across 3 batches (2 in 

care homes and 1 in the community – extra care housing and supported 

living). 

• 90 whzan digital ward - health units to be distributed across the BNSSG, 

which deliver telehealth blood pressure and temperature checks. 

• 25 Technicare fit bits are being rolled out – 7 in Bristol and 18 units in the 

public health based Healthy Lifestyles Team. 

• There is 1 local to NS project being piloted this year – the Genie – which is a 

desktop robot delivering healthcare, of which there are 40. 

 

Robust evaluations of pilot projects will be key to move forward effectively, as well as 

alignment of TEC and commissioning teams. Despite work that is currently 

happening across the ICS in relation to TEC, awareness needs to be increased for 

teams who are recommending TEC to people. Each team will have their own 

Page 123



  

16 

 

localised team plan and teams supported with implementation. The benefits of high 

street technology are also important; we need to be mindful that we are utilising it 

where it is the most cost-effective option. There are a variety of falls watches that are 

effective falls detectors for example. There will be a focus on training and upskilling 

staff who are prescribing TEC so that the benefits are fully realised for people who 

need it to support them to be as independent for as long as possible in their home 

environment, whatever their tenure. 

 

The benefits of using TEC can be far reaching and have positive cost implications. 

TEC can provide some clear benefits for people who have early onset dementia 

consistent with the delay and prevent agenda. Fit bits, for example, will promote 

physical activity which could potentially delay strokes. There are many benefits 

across the BNSSG of using TEC appropriate to delay hospital admission, such as the 

whzan virtual ward devices, but how we realise the benefits on a local level will need 

to be a focus for us in NS. Processes for purchasing TEC will need to be formalised 

so that commissioning TEC items by operations becomes more par for the course, 

such as a GPS watch people who wander with purpose. Prevention work will utilise 

existing services, in line with the digital switchover, and develop response plans. 

 

7. National and Local Context 
Budget pressures are significant nationally and locally, partly due to Brexit, the covid-

19 pandemic and post covid recovery. We are currently living in a cost-of-living crisis 

which is affecting many people in terms of energy and food prices and impacting 

upon poverty levels. This can also affect people’s housing and health and can lead to 

increased health and social care needs. A housing crisis has seen higher numbers of 

people awaiting housing, which is either not available, or affordable. The ageing 

population, while positive due to people living longer, also puts pressure on services 

including the National Health Service (NHS).  
 

“In North Somerset, the population size has increased by 7%, from around 202,600 in 

2011 to 216,700 in 2021. This is higher than the overall increase for England (6.6%), 

where the population grew by nearly 3.5 million to 56,489,800 ... In 2021, North 

Page 124



  

17 

 

Somerset ranked 81st for total population out of 309 local authority areas in England, 

moving up five places in a decade ... There has been an increase of 22.0% in people 

aged 65 years and over, an increase of 2.6% in people aged 15 to 64 years, and an 

increase of 4.5% in children aged under 15 years” (ONS 2022). 

 

Although times are challenging, there is much to celebrate too; NS is a wonderful 

place to work and live. Some of the issues highlighted above have brought 

communities closer together and the will to help others is strong. There have been 

blankets handed out to the public when the weather has become colder, as well as a 

games room set up. 66 local public/community living rooms were open in 2023, 

where communities come together. Community initiatives and volunteering are 

thriving.  

 

Voluntary Action North Somerset (VANS):  

• Started a befriending pilot to support people living in residential and nursing 

homes with social contact. Volunteers visit people who may not get a visit from 

family or friends.  

• Set up a scheme to provide volunteers to extra care housing schemes to 

support housing and care providers with covid testing.  

• Worked with Access Your Care (AYC) around falls events to educate and 

support the wider community on falls prevention. This will reduce unnecessary 

calls to the ambulance service and provide better outcomes for people who 

have care and support services.  

 

Some further examples of our care providers working together to meet need are: 

• Wesport linked with AYC to upskill staff in strengths-based exercise to support 

with ‘reablement’ and falls prevention, as well as providing information on 

training to all community-based providers. Alliance Homes and Curo have also 

linked with AYC to deliver reablement services.  

• Alive, which supports people living with dementia and their carers have 

provided training to support with a dementia wrap around care team pilot. 

Providers have joined together to work together including the Alzheimer’s 

Society, Age UK and Healthwatch. This work has been focussed on people 

Page 125



  

18 

 

using the service’s feedback and the group will be developed to support wider 

dementia services commissioning in NS.  

• There are various sources of support, such as CANS (Citizens Advice North 

Somerset) and partners delivering excellent community support and advice.  

 

Demand for services extremely high and social care markets are struggling to recruit 

and retain staff due to comparatively low pay with other sectors. This has been seen 

across the country, as well as locally. There have been commitments from 

government to help increase wages we can pay social care staff under social care 

reforms including the ‘fair cost of care’ exercise. We are committed to bridging the 

gap and pass on grant monies to providers. Income from the Market Sustainability 

and Improvement Fund has increased fees for our providers to pass onto workers. 

Financial support was given to care home providers during the covid-19 pandemic 

and NSC made further financial provisions available to the sector, in addition to 

central government grants. This included over £1.2m of Innovation Grant to support 

innovation in TEC, carbon reduction measures such as solar panels, as well as the 

use of facilities as community assets. NSC was also awarded by NHSX (which is 

leading on the digital transformation of health and social care) £2m to support a 

centralised acoustic monitoring service for over 600 units of equipment and additional 

support to care providers to adopt digital care records (particularly smaller homes). 

 

8. Policy, Legal and Regulatory Framework 
Social care is a huge part of where the national budget goes; there were over 1.9 

million requests for support from new people received by local authorities in 

2020/2021 according to the Adult Social Care Activity and Finance Report, England - 

2020-21.  We work within the following legislation and guidance when shaping how 

we deliver our services, and how we aspire to deliver them in the future.  

 

Legislation and White Papers 
Care Act 2014 - is the main piece of adult social care legislation and places a general 

duty on LAs to promote the wellbeing of individuals when carrying out care and 

Page 126

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report/2021-22
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report/2021-22
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


  

19 

 

support functions, and duties relating to assessment of unpaid carers needs for 

support. The Care Act also places duties around market shaping to ensure local 

market is healthy and diverse and responds appropriately to market failure. 

 
Equality Act 2010 - requires public bodies to pay due regard to the general duty when 

planning, commissioning, changing, or delivering services, when managing the 

workforce or when decision-making. They must ensure there is an unambiguous 

evidence trail for this in case it is requested by a service user or resident. 
 

Equality Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty – PSED places additional legal duties 

on public authorities that require them to actively eliminate discrimination, advance 

equality of opportunity and foster positive community relations in their decision-

making, policy, and practice. It requires public authorities to 'pay due regard' to the 

need to: eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; advance 

equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not; and foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not. 
 

Human Rights Act 1998 - sets out the fundamental rights and freedoms that 

everyone in the UK is entitled to. It incorporates the rights set out in the European 

Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) into domestic British law.  
 

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 and the protection of Freedoms Bill - This 

act was passed to help avoid harm, or risk of harm, by preventing people who were 

deemed unsuitable to work with children and vulnerable adults, by gaining access to 

them through their work. 

 

Domestic Abuse Act (2021) - placed statutory duties on LAs, to ensure domestic 

abuse survivors and their children are provided with safe, specialist accommodation 

and support to enable them to recover. 

 

Page 127

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted


  

20 

 

Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 - is designed to protect and empower people who 

may lack the mental capacity to make their own decisions about their 

accommodation, care, and treatment. It applies to people aged 16 and over. 

 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)/Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) - 

DoLS ensures that people who cannot consent to their care arrangements in a care 

home or hospital, are protected if those arrangements deprive them of their liberty. 

LPS are intended to replace DoLS following an amendment to the Mental Capacity 

Act - July 2018 Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill. However, changes are on hold. 

 

Mental Health Act 1983 – the main piece of legislation that covers the assessment, 

treatment, and rights of people with a mental health disorder. The government have 

set out and consulted on plans for reform in a White Paper published in early 2021. 
 

Autism Act 2009 - Requires the government to introduce and keep under review an 

adult autism strategy for improving services for adults with autism. 

 

Children and Families Act 2014 – sets out adoption, special educational needs, and 

disabilities (SEND), welfare, young carers, and workers’ rights etc. 
 

Health and Care Act 2022 – The Health and Care Act 2022 has introduced new 

architecture to the health and care system, specifically the establishment of 

Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs). ICB and 

ICP integration focus (replaced the old Bristol, NS, South Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group), as well as a duty to inspect LAs and rate them. 

 

Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 - requires public authorities to have regard to 

economic, social, and environmental wellbeing in connection with public services 

contracts. 

 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 - puts clinicians at the centre of commissioning, 

frees up providers to innovate, empowers patients and a new focus to public health. 

Page 128

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-safeguards-factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents


  

21 

 

Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 - requires 

all providers of ‘regulated activities’ in England to register with the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC), and to comply with the requirements and fundamental standards 

set out in regulations made under that Act. 

 

Guidance and Strategies 
Market sustainability and fair cost of care fund 2022 to 2023 - This guidance is 

intended to support LAs in administering the Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of 

Care Fund. Social care charging reforms are on hold until October 2025. 

 
NICE Guidance – National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) provide 

various guidance documents within health and social care including ‘Advocacy 

services for adults with health and social care needs’ November 2022; ‘Safeguarding 

adults in care homes’ February 2021; ‘Supporting adult carers’ January 2020; and 

‘Dementia: assessment, management and support for people living with dementia 

and their carers’ June 2018. 

 
Health and wellbeing boards: draft guidance for engagement (November 2022) - Sets 

out the role of health and wellbeing boards (HWBs) following the publication of 

the Health and Care Act 2022 and the health and social care integration: joining up 

care for people, places, and populations White Paper (published February 2022). 

HWBs are a key means for driving joined up working at a local level since being 

established in 2013. 

 
Better Care Fund - Plans need to include an approach to deliver against 2 policy 

objectives in 2022/2023 of enabling people to stay well, safe, and independent at 

home for longer and providing the right care in the right place at the right time. 

 
National strategy for autistic children, young people, and adults: 2021 to 2026 - The 

government’s national strategy for improving the lives of autistic people and their 

families and carers in England, and implementation plan for 2021-2022. 
 

Page 129

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111117613/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/published?ngt=Social+care+guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-draft-guidance-for-engagement
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/better-care-fund/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026


  

22 

 

National Disability Strategy 2021 - Sets out the government’s vision to improve the 

everyday lives of disabled people. The strategy wants to ensure that disability is not a 

barrier to people living full, independent lives where they can reach their full potential. 
 

Armed Forces Bill 2021 (see Armed Forces Covenant Statutory Guidance 2022) – A 

statutory duty on specific bodies in the areas of healthcare, housing, and education 

to pay due regard to the principles of the Armed Forces Covenant 2021. 

 

NHS Long Term Plan 2019 - As medicine advances, health needs change and 

society develop, the NHS must continually move forward so that in 10 years’ time 

there is a service fit for the future. The NHS long term plan is drawn up by frontline 

staff, patients’ groups, and national experts to be ambitious but realistic. 
 

Valuing People 2001 / Valuing People Now (2010) - Valuing people (VP) was based 

on four key principles: civil rights, independence, choice, and inclusion. Valuing 

people takes a life-long approach, beginning with an integrated approach to services 

for disabled children and their families and then providing new opportunities for a full 

and purposeful adult life. 

 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) (Registration) Regulations 2009 - Any person 

(individual, partnership, or organisation) who provides regulated activity in England 

must be registered with the CQC. The CQC set out requirements which providers 

must have regard to in relation to registration, including financial position and fees. 

 
The Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 - The guidance helps employers 

comply with the Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992, as amended by the 

Health and Safety (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2002. It will help 

employers – and managers, safety representatives and employees – to control and 

reduce the risk of injury from manual handling. 

 

Page 130

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-disability-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/armed-forces-covenant-duty-statutory-guidance
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-people-a-new-strategy-for-learning-disability-for-the-21st-century
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-people-now-summary-report-march-2009-september-2010
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/2009_3112s-care-quality-commission-regulations-2009.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/2793/made


  

23 

 

9. Demographics and Need Analysis 
Demographic data allows us to understand ‘who’ the people that live in North 

Somerset (NS) are (our ‘population’), including their age, whether they have 

disabilities, what their other needs might be, how and with whom they live (if anyone). 

This enables us to understand what people’s needs are now, but also estimating 

what they might be in the future. A needs analysis is necessary in planning and 

commissioning services, it helps to inform us of the needs of our population and the 

type and distribution of health and care services that will bring the greatest benefit. 

 

This section will look at the NSC joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) in 

summary (subsection i), followed by our own ASC needs assessment (subsections ii-

ix) using a wide range of data sources including census data, projecting older people 

population information system (POPPI) and projecting adult needs service 

information (PANSI) datasets, capacity tracker information, as well as the information 

gathered in our market sustainability plan 2022/23 and market position statement. 

This will help to inform our commissioning intentions (see Section 11). As per 2021 

census data, the population in NS increased by 7%, from around 202,600 in 2011 to 

216,700 in 2021. In wider England, the overall increase was 6.6%, as the population 

grew by almost 3.5 million to 56,489,800. In the ONS health and social care dataset 

from December 2018, the proportion of people who answered extremely or very 

satisfied with the care and support services they received was 64.6% in NS, 

compared to 65% in England (62.2% in Bristol and 70.2% in South Gloucestershire). 

 

Using a range of intelligence from brokerage and local commissioners, future need 

for residential care in NS is likely to decrease, due to a decrease in direct demand 

and the changing needs of older people in NS, but also due to policy objectives 

regarding ‘Home First.’ The care home market is not in line with our strategic vision 

for adult social care of maximising independence.  

 

Although many services are rated good by the CQC, there are issues with the 

environment of many older properties and whether they are fit for purpose. Care 

homes and specialist care homes have beds available for those looking to be 

Page 131



  

24 

 

discharged from hospital under D2A (Discharge to Assess), but are they available at 

the right time for those that need them most? More specialist provision for complex 

and high-level needs including nursing and dementia care is needed to meet 

increasing needs.  

 

Reablement is currently focussed on hospital discharge, there is a community gap 

which can lead to loss of independence. Direct payment rates were increased in April 

2023, but there are not enough PAs to deliver care to those who might benefit, which 

is a gap. Lack of staffing in social care is a common theme which can affect social 

care agencies’ ability to take on packages of care. PA’s deliver not only personal 

care, but also companionship, gardening, shopping, and dog walking; whatever helps 

a person to meet their outcomes. There ideally needs to be more PAs in NS.  

 

The table sets out potential self-funder demand because of demographic changes. 

The current number of self-funders has been forecast based on ONS 2020/2021 

data. This has been applied to the figures Newton Europe and CCN analysis 

recommend which defines 2% of self-funders are 18-64 and 98% are over 65. 

Please note ‘community care’ is much broader than homecare in this scenario, as it 

includes all community-based support services. 

  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
A JSNA looks at the current and future health and care needs of the local population 

to inform and guide the planning and commissioning of health, well-being, and social 

care services within a local authority area.  JSNA documents in NS help to inform the 

health and wellbeing strategy, and include: 

• A NS overview 

• A series of topic specific spotlight reports 

• A data dashboard giving detailed NS data 

Self-funding Individual’s (%) 18 – 64 65+ 

Care Homes 0.8% 37.3% 

Community Care 0.9% 42.2% 

Page 132

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health/adults-older-people/help-make-decision-about-care/paying-care/direct-payments-personal-budgets


  

25 

 

• Ward profiles 

• If available, detailed needs assessments or qualitative research 

 

In the 2022 JSNA, NS has mixed outcomes across a range of health improvement 

and ill health indicators for adults which will be impactful for the commissioning of 

social care and support services. 

Physical Health 
• Proportion of adults accessing health checks is lower than national averages. 

• Prevalence of diabetes across the population is rising yearly. 

• Percentage of cancers diagnosed early has not improved, although cancer 

screening is better than national averages across some types.  

• Prevalence of coronary heart disease, chronic kidney disease, stroke, 

hypertension, and rheumatoid arthritis remained steady across NS.  

• Risky behaviours related to health is like/worse than national averages:  

o 11.3% of the population smoke - this is higher in vulnerable groups.  

o NS mostly has worse outcomes across many substance misuse related 

indictors including alcohol misuse.  

o Over two thirds of adults are overweight or obese and over 30% report 

that they are regularly physically inactive.  

o Food insecurity is worsening, and evidence suggests that was the case 

during the pandemic. People living in deprived areas are more likely to 

be hungry than people living in less deprived areas.  

o There are geographical differences across these measures linked to 

socio-economic factors with life expectancy varying by almost 8 years 

for a woman living in the most and least deprived areas. The difference 

is 9.5 years for men (Our Future Health, 2022). 

Mental Health  

• Mental health for people living in NS has become worse in recent years.  

• Self-reported measures on satisfaction with life, happiness and levels of 

anxiety have worsened. Some points in the pandemic were the lowest ever.  

Page 133

https://bnssg.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/OurFutureHealth-Sept-2022-1.pdf


  

26 

 

• The prevalence of depression is worsening year on year. Patient records 

suggest that 14.5% of adults have an unresolved record of depression on 

record in NS. It is likely prevalence is higher, as not all are diagnosed.  

• Research suggests that loneliness and social isolation is one of the largest 

health concerns we face. More people are lonelier and/or feel more socially 

isolated in NS and this was worse in the pandemic. Young people, disabled 

people and people living in deprived areas are more likely to feel lonely.  

• Not all social care users or carers have as much social contact as they would 

like, also in Our Future Health (2022).  

• There are geographical differences across socioeconomic measures. 

Learning Disabilities 

• Outcomes for adults who have learning disabilities (LD) are mixed.  

• The prevalence of adults with LD has remained steady over recent years at 

just over 1,000 adults. Of these, around half receive support from NSC. 

• Younger people with LD’s care and support is more costly than older peoples. 

• Outcomes for housing and settled accommodation are mixed.  

• For paid employment, there has been a reduction in the percentage of working 

age adults with LD who are paid, though it is above averages.  

• For accommodation, there has been a reduction in the percentage of working 

age adults in settled accommodation below regional and national averages. 

 

Early Intervention and Prevention (EIAP) 
We have several EIAP commissioned services, including handyperson, reablement, 

falls and frailty pathways, carers block support funding, and respite/day services for 

dementia pathways, TEC, and First Response services which are key to support the 

Woodspring community with rurality challenges. NSC receive, on average, 1,400 

contacts a month in the Single Point of Access; figures are higher than pre-covid 

consisting of safeguarding concerns, assessment requests, welfare concerns and 

carers assessment requests. Managing demand and robust processes will allow the 

assessment waiting list to be addressed. The more ‘community’ can pick up leads to 

a lesser reliance upon services. Preventative services save money longer term and 

Page 134



  

27 

 

are a key part of the earlier stages of our ASC vision where people do things for 

themselves without reliance upon statutory services in the first instance. Physical 

activity is especially important and being active throughout the life course can help to 

prolong independence for people as well as delay the need for health and social care 

services. Get Active - a Physical Activity Strategy for North Somerset 2023-2028 will 

be a key driver. 

 

Healthier Together, the ICS for the old BNSSG area in ‘Our Future Health’ (2022) 

found that two of the key things we need to live well are jobs with fair pay and secure 

housing. Having both can help to ease and lift people out of poverty, support health 

and wellbeing, and reduce stress. Whilst this is not a joint commissioning strategy, 

we cannot consider social care and services in isolation from health and housing. As 

Desmond Tutu said, “There comes a point where we need to stop just pulling people 

out of the river. We need to go upstream and find out why they are falling in.” 

Contingency hotels for asylum seekers are a preventative service with ASC impact.  

 

Older People 
We have an ageing population in NS. There is a projected increase in over sixty-five-

year-olds from 2020 from just over 52,000 to 68,000 by 2040. That is a 31% increase 

in twenty years, which will affect services that are needed to meet increasing need 

and complexity due to a variety of social, economic and health related factors. 

Getting older sometimes bring challenges in terms of ill health and conditions, 

therefore we need to be prepared for an increase in demand upon services, including 

homecare, extra care housing and nursing homes.  

Page 135

https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/adult-social-care-health/health-wellbeing/health-organisations-services/healthier-together


  

28 

 

 
From 2020 to 2030 there is an expected 17% increase in over 65s, predicted to rise 

to 25% by 2035 and 31% by 2040, which will have direct impact upon services 

available. Access to services was an issue for those we engaged with. There is a 

projected drop of 14% of those aged 70-74 by 2025. In comparison to England, the 

gap is narrowing slightly in NS in projections to 2040 with the percentage of the total 

population over 65; less than 4% increase in NS, compared to over 5% in England. 
 

 
 

People 
aged 65-69

People 
aged 70-74

People 
aged 75-79

People 
aged 80-84

People 
aged 85-89

People 
aged 90 
and over

Total 
population 

65 and over
2040 15,000 15,600 14,200 10,600 7,300 5,300 68,000
2035 16,000 15,200 12,200 9,700 8,000 4,100 65,200
2030 15,600 13,000 11,300 11,000 6,500 3,300 60,700
2025 13,500 12,200 13,000 8,900 5,200 2,900 55,700
2020 12,600 14,200 10,600 7,300 4,700 2,700 52,100

0
50,000

100,000
150,000
200,000
250,000
300,000
350,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

North Somerset Population aged 65+ projected to 2040 
(Source POPPI)

People 
aged 65-69

People 
aged 70-74

People 
aged 75-79

People 
aged 80-84

People 
aged 85-89

People 
aged 90 
and over

Total 
population 

65 and over
2020 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
2025 7% -14% 23% 22% 11% 7% 7%
2030 24% -8% 7% 51% 38% 22% 17%
2035 27% 7% 15% 33% 70% 52% 25%
2040 19% 10% 34% 45% 55% 96% 31%

-20%
0%

20%
40%
60%
80%

100%
120%

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

NS Population Percentage Change aged 65+ projected to 2040 
(Source POPPI)

Page 136



  

29 

 

NS Total population (P), P aged 65 and over and P aged 85 and over as a number and as a 

percentage of the total P, projected to 2040 (POPPI) 

 

England Total population, Population aged 65 and over and P aged 85 and over as a number 

and as a percentage of the total population, projected to 2040 (POPPI) 

England Population 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Total  56,678,500 58,060,200 59,181,800 60,183,900 61,157,900 

65 and over 10,505,500 11,449,400 12,696,900 13,815,400 14,527,100 

85 and over 1,417,000 1,573,300 1,810,000 2,246,200 2,411,300 

65+ (proportion of total) 18.54% 19.72% 21.45% 22.96% 23.75% 

85+ (proportion of total) 2.50% 2.71% 3.06% 3.73% 3.94% 

 

We are experiencing an increase in demand for homecare post-covid: in 2021, we 

commissioned over 258,000 hours, which was 1.3% higher compared to 2020 and 

was forecast to increase by 8.7% by the end of 2022. We commissioned 286,536 

hours in 2022, which was more than the projected increase, at over 11%. The market 

is stable with mostly small independent providers, there were a few new ones, and a 

few who left. 

 

Area Name 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 

England 290.2 295.1 300.3 302.2 296.1 293.3 299.7 306.5 
 

Southwest 

North Somerset 410.3 415.9 420.8 421.9 412.3 407.1 414 422.6 

South 
Gloucestershire 

294.9 298.1 300.9 301.2 294.1 290.5 295.4 301.3 

Bristol 180.1 181.4 182.4 181.9 176.8 173.6 175.6 177.7 

NS Population 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Total  217,000 224,400 231,300 237,600 244,100 

65+ 52,100 55,700 60,700 65,200 68,000 

85+ 7,400 8,200 9,800 12,200 12,600 

65+ (proportion of total population) 24.01% 24.82% 26.24% 27.44% 27.86% 

85+ (proportion of total population) 3.41% 3.65% 4.24% 5.13% 5.16% 

Page 137



  

30 

 

The Office for National Statistics puts NS’s Old Age Dependency Ratio (OADR) the 

highest in our ICB area of NS, Bristol, and South Gloucestershire, which is the 

number of people of state pension age per 1,000 people of working age. In 

comparison to the rest of England NS is high, but not as high as some other 

southwest counties including Dorset, Torbay, Devon, Cornwall, and Somerset.  

The NS market is not always able to respond quickly enough to packages of care 

waiting to be picked up. Some of the wider waiting list issues are linked to providers 

being unable to deliver the hours they have for people due to poor recruitment and 

retention levels in NS. This is linked to comparatively low wages and competition with 

retail and hospitality sectors. Some providers have increased pay quite substantially 

and the fair cost of care exercise and fund has enabled us to uplift wages for 

homecare. Engagement for the fair cost of care exercise focused on key aspects of 

the market as well as a detailed study of costs, including structure, demand, and 

supply, as well as the experience of commissioning and contracting with us. 

Provider’s business operating models, general market outlook, workforce, contract 

and quality monitoring, business costs, and future commissioning arrangements were 

all discussed. The overall response was given the difficulties, we are making inroads 

to bridge the gap between pay and delivery. Engagement is good with 

commissioners and there is a good understanding of the market and the pressures 

for homecare. The brokerage team at NSC were also seen as a positive factor. 

 

Ethnicity 

NS is mostly white British; however, all ethnic groups get older and will potentially 

have social care needs. Data from POPPI (2011) showed 95.27% of people aged 

over 65 were ‘white’ in NS. In comparison, 2021 census data for all age ranges 

showed a 0.27% increase in other ethnic groups. 90.4% of people were white British 

(English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish), 4.6% other white – with the remaining 5% 

95.27%

White 95.27%
Mixed/ multiple ethnic group 0.39%
Asian/ Asian British 2.73%
Black/ African/ Caribbean/ Black British 1.32%
Other Ethnic Group 0.29%

NS total population aged 65 and over 2011 (Source POPPI)

Page 138



  

31 

 

made up of many different ethnic groups including Asian, Asian British, or Asian 

Welsh: Bangladeshi; Chinese; Indian; Pakistani; Other Asian; black, black British, 

black Welsh; Caribbean or African; other black; mixed or multiple ethnic groups: 

white and Asian; white and black African; white and black Caribbean: other mixes or 

multiple ethnic groups;  white Irish; white Gypsy/Irish Traveller; white Roma; and 

Arab. NS is not as diverse as neighbouring Bristol, but there are examples of 

increasing diversity, including an increasing Chinese community from Hong Kong. 

We will be working more with partners moving forward to ensure the voices of 

seldom heard groups are considered. Please note that the ethnicity categories have 

changed from 2011 to 2021 and the difference is not as clear cut as it may seem.  

Gender 
For 18–64-year-olds, the total number of males aged 18-64 is expected to increase 

from 59,200 in 2020, to 61,800 in 2030 in NS. For females, the projected figures for 

18–64-year-olds in 2020 is expected to increase from 61,800 in 2020 to 64,400 in 

2030. The below chart demonstrates projected drop in numbers of both males and 

females by 2025 from 202 who are aged between 70-74. This may have an impact 

upon the numbers of commissioned services that this age group require in our area. 

 
Males in NS are expected to have less of a disability free life expectancy (DFLE) in 

their lives at age 65 but live longer with their disability than the England average. 

Females are expected to have a slightly less DFLE at age 65 compared to England’s 

average but live for longer than males and the average population with their disability 

(ONS, 2015-2017).  

Males aged 18-24
Males aged 35-44
Males aged 55-64

Females aged 18-24
Females aged 35-44
Females aged 55-64

0 50,000 100,000 150,000 200,000 250,000 300,000 350,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

North Somerset Population aged 18-64 by age and gender, 
projected to 2040 (Source PANSI)

Page 139



  

32 

 

There are big differences in life expectancy within our ICP area between most and 

least deprived, as well as males and females. Females in NS can expect to live the 

longest in a least deprived area, whilst men in deprived areas will expect to live the 

lowest age in NS. Rates for people living alone aged 65-74 are 20% of males and 

29% of females (29% of males and 50% of females 75+), which may impact upon 

later homecare, as women tend to live longer. 

 

Living and Support Arrangements, including Carers 

We do not have any local authority care homes in NS and are reliant upon a private 

care market. In NS we have many care home beds compared to our neighbours and 

wider England. This will have influenced lowering the price due to the market being 

saturated (see fair cost of care exercise and market sustainability plan). The below 

relates to the number of beds in nursing and residential care homes per 100,000 

aged 18 and over (ONS health and social care dataset December 2018). 

Males 
65-69

Males 
70-74

Males 
75-79

Males 
80-84

Males 
85-89

Males 
90+

Total 
male
s 65+

Females 
65-69

Females 
70-74

Females 
75-79

Females 
80-84

Females 
85-89

Females 
90+

Total 
femal

es 
65+

2040 7,200 7,300 6,700 4,700 3,100 2,000 31,000 7,800 8,200 7,500 5,800 4,200 3,200 36,700
2035 7,600 7,200 5,600 4,300 3,400 1,600 29,700 8,400 7,900 6,600 5,400 4,600 2,500 35,400
2030 7,600 6,100 5,200 4,900 2,800 1,200 27,800 8,000 7,000 6,100 6,100 3,600 2,100 32,900
2025 6,400 5,700 6,000 4,100 2,200 1,000 25,400 7,100 6,500 7,000 4,800 3,000 1,900 30,300
2020 6,000 6,700 5,100 3,300 1,900 900 23,900 6,700 7,500 5,600 4,100 2,900 1,800 28,600

0
20,000
40,000
60,000
80,000

100,000
120,000
140,000
160,000
180,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

Population aged 65+ age and gender, projected to 2040 (Source 
POPPI)

4,5843,026
5,058

3,211
6,369

1,984
3,642

Care Home Beds Rate
England Bristol North Somerset South Glos

No. of beds in care homes per 100k population 65+

Page 140



  

33 

 

 
The difference in the care home bed rate for over 65s per 100,000 people is even 

higher. NS has over 6,000 compared to England’s average rate of under 5,000. 

Numbers of people living in care homes increases with age. Figures are on an 

upward trajectory, with a few projected decreases, which will be linked to population 

age data. When the total number of over 65s are considered, there is an upward 

trajectory. In 2020 there were 2,289 people living in care homes, by 2030 there is 

predicted to be 2,909, an increase of 620. Most over 65s are homeowners in NS, 

although as people age this decreases, and more people rent from social landlords.  

 
The amount of older people providing unpaid care to a friend or relative was nearly 

1.5m across England, which goes to evidence how crucial services are for carers. In 

comparison, the number of home help/care contact hours for all adult client groups 

and older people during the year per 100,000 population aged 18 and over 2013/14 

was 651,577 in NS, compared to 1,450,221 in Bristol and 511,795 in South 

Gloucestershire. The rates for unpaid carers are hard to track when many do not 

identify themselves as being carers, they are just doing what anyone would do for 

their family or loved ones (see Healthwatch report, 2022). 

1,050.90 828.4
1,892.80

857.6

0.00

2,000.00

ENGLAND Bristol North Somerset South GlosRate

Number of beds in care homes (nursing and residential) per 
100,000 population age 18+

0.00%
50.00%

100.00%

Owned Rented from council Other social rented Private rented or living 
rent free

People aged 65-74 People aged 75-84 People 85+

NS Population age 65+ by age and tenure in 2011 
(Source POPPI)

Page 141

https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf


 

 

People 
aged 65-

69 
providin
g 1-19 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 70-

74 
providin
g 1-19 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 75-

79 
providin
g 1-19 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 80-

84 
providin
g 1-19 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 85 
and over 
providin
g 1-19 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 65-

69 
providin
g 20-49 
hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 70-

74 
providin
g 20-49 
hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 75-

79 
providin
g 20-49 
hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 80-

84 
providin
g 20-49 
hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 85 
and over 
providin
g 20-49 
hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 65-

69 
providin
g 50+ 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 70-

74 
providin
g 50+ 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 75-

79 
providin
g 50+ 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 80-

84 
providin
g 50+ 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

People 
aged 85 
and over 
providin
g 50+ 

hours of 
unpaid 
care

Total 
populati
on aged 
65 and 

over 
providin
g unpaid 

care
2020 287,659 207,379 117,227 66,507 39,250 58,727 52,899 36,113 24,172 16,051 131,697 156,163 125,935 94,123 68,810 1,482,712
2025 318,079 192,611 146,340 75,263 43,579 64,937 49,132 45,081 27,355 17,821 145,623 145,041 157,212 106,514 76,401 1,610,990
2030 366,061 213,601 136,787 94,590 50,136 74,733 54,486 42,138 34,379 20,502 167,591 160,848 146,949 133,865 87,895 1,784,562
2035 373,808 246,625 152,611 89,384 62,218 76,315 62,910 47,013 32,487 25,443 171,138 185,716 163,948 126,499 109,077 1,925,190
2040 352,309 252,649 177,180 100,807 66,791 71,926 64,447 54,582 36,638 27,313 161,295 190,252 190,342 142,664 117,094 2,006,289

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

Provision of unpaid care:  People aged 65 and over providing unpaid care to a partner, family member or 
other person, by age, projected to 2040 in England (POPPI database)

P
age 142



 

 

Rates for men and women who need help with at least one of the self-care activities: 

Age % Males % Females 

65-69 16 22 

70-74 21 24 

75-59 28 29 

80-84 35 49 

(Activities of daily living (ADLs) are activities relating to personal care and mobility 

about the home that are basic to daily living, having a bath or shower, using the toilet, 

getting up and down stairs, getting around indoors, dressing or undressing, getting in 

and out of bed, washing face / hands, eating, and cutting up food, taking medicine.) 

 

Rates for men and women who need help with at least one of domestic tasks listed, 

routine housework or laundry, shopping for food, getting out of the house, doing 

paperwork, or paying bills. For each task, participants aged 65 and over were asked 

whether they could carry out the activity on their own, or whether they needed help 

(i.e., manage on their own with difficulty, only do activity with help, or could not do). 

Age Range  % Males % Females 

65-69 15 19 

70-74 19 23 

75-79 27 34 

80+ 33 55 

(Health Survey for England, 2016: Social Care for older adults (2017) NHS Digital: 

Summary of Activities of Daily Living (ADLs/IADLs) for which help was needed and 

received in the last month, 2011-2016). 

 

Dementia 
Dementia is an umbrella term that is used to describe a progressive decline in a 

person’s mental abilities. Dementia is not a normal part of ageing; it is caused by 

diseases of the brain. The symptoms of dementia are not the same for everyone and 

can vary for everyone. Alzheimer’s disease is the most common illness that can lead 

to dementia, but other causes include vascular dementia, dementia with Lewy bodies 

and frontotemporal dementia. According to the Alzheimer’s Society there are now 

Page 143

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2016


  

36 

 

nine hundred thousand people with dementia in the UK, this set to rise to over one 

million by 2025 and two million by 2051. Each year two hundred and twenty-five 

thousand will develop dementia, that is one person every three minutes. 1 in 6 

people over the age of eighty have dementia and seventy percent of people in care 

homes have dementia or severe memory problems. 1 in 3 people born now will 

develop dementia at some point in their lives (Woodspring Dementia Directory).  

 

Within NS, there were 3,824 people (over 65) predicted to have dementia in 2020 

according to POPPI, plus 35 females and 25 males with early onset dementia 

younger than 65 (PANSI). Not everyone with dementia has a diagnosis, due to 

difficulty diagnosing in the initial stages, the slow progression and limited public 

awareness of dementia causing diseases. As numbers of people with dementia is 

increasing, especially amongst older cohorts of people, this will impact upon amount 

of provision that is needed to be commissioned, whether community or residential 

based. Women tend to be more affected than men, both locally and nationally.  

 

The costs of community-based support for a person with dementia is £26,000 if mild; 

£43,000 if moderate; and £55,000 if severe. The costs of residential based support 

for a person with dementia is £31,000 if mild; £38,000 if moderate; and £37,000 if 

severe (The Alzheimer’s Society). There is a growing support for more earlier 

interventions in the community for people with dementia and nursing homes are often 

considered to be a last resort, but everyone needs to be considered as an individual 

in terms of what is right for them and their support network and carers, if they have 

one. Being discharged to care homes after a stay in hospital is not usually beneficial. 

 

Referrals to the Alzheimer’s Society in NS doubled in December 2022, with eighty-

five referrals in January 2023. It is reasonable to assume that more people are being 

diagnosed with dementia due to a backlog from the covid pandemic. Even with 

commissioned dementia services in NS, there is still unmet need. People who need 

support may also not know where to go for support initially.  

Page 144

https://aliveactivities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Woodspring-Dementia-Directory-DC.pdf
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/how-much-does-dementia-care-cost


  

37 

 

 

Figures from Dementia UK: Update (2014) prepared by King’s College London and the 

London School of Economics for the Alzheimer’s Society. 

 

Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment 

There are 10,256 people aged 65 and over with a limiting long-term illness whose 

day-to-day activities are limited a lot in 2020; this is predicted to rise to 12,419 by 

2030 (POPPI). People who are unable to move around, or mobilise, may fall, and be 

admitted to hospital and could need a package of care putting in place afterwards to 

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+
Total 

population 
65+

2020 211 433 640 820 873 849 3,824
2025 224 372 780 984 938 908 4,205
2030 258 399 678 1,218 1,150 1,025 4,729
2035 265 460 732 1,075 1,443 1,261 5,236
2040 248 472 850 1,163 1,317 1,603 5,653

0
1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

Numbers of People Predicted to have Dementia in NS (Source 
POPPI)

1.5 3.1 5.3 10.3 15.1
22.6 28.8

1.8 3 6.6 11.7
20.2

33
44.2

0

20

40

60

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-85 85-89 90-94 95+

% males % females

Rates for men and women with dementia in England 

Pe
rc

en
ta

te
 o

f P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 D
em

en
tia

Age Range

0.822 1.356 2.467

7.79

11

0

10

65-69 70-74 75-79 80+

Admission Rates to Hospital as a Result of Unintentional Falls 
(not People) in England 2016-2017 (Source NHS Digital)

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 ra

te
s

Age Range of Person Admitted to Hospital after an Unintentional Fall

Page 145



  

38 

 

be rehabilitated (get back to how they were before the fall), which is not always 

possible to achieve. It is much better that people avoid falling in the first place. 

 

There are also many younger people with impaired mobility. For older people, there 

are circa 10,000 as of 2020 who could not manage at least one mobility task (include 

going out of doors and walking down the road; getting up and down stairs; getting 

around the house on the level; getting to the toilet; getting in and out of bed). 

 

65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85 and over
Total 

population 
65+ 

2020 1,083 1,870 1,788 1,783 3,295 9,819
2025 1,151 1,610 2,190 2,130 3,620 10,701
2030 1,328 1,730 1,905 2,651 4,300 11,914
2035 1,364 1,984 2,058 2,340 5,350 13,096
2040 1,278 2,042 2,379 2,528 5,485 13,712

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People aged 65+ in NS unable to manage at least one mobility 
activity on their own projected to 2040 (Source POPPI)

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64
Total 

population 18-
64

2020 130 222 1,315 1,515 4,046 7,228
2025 128 226 1,415 1,430 4,424 7,623
2030 145 217 1,490 1,465 4,326 7,643
2035 148 225 1,500 1,570 4,102 7,545
2040 140 244 1,445 1,645 4,200 7,674

0
1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000
7000
8000
9000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have impaired mobility, by 
age, projected to 2040 (Source PANSI)

Page 146



  

39 

 

One in five people will start to live with sight loss in their lifetime and 50 people start 

to lose their sight daily, according to RNIB (2022). The numbers of older people who 

are predicted to have a moderate or severe visual impairment (VI) and registrable 

eye conditions are expected to rise by 2040. The rise is less stark in younger people, 

see the chart on the next page, although there are often links between sight loss, 

falls, stroke and learning disability. Vision North Somerset (NS) report there are 9000 

people with significant sight loss, due to rise to 11,000 by 2030.  

Over a third of blind and partially sighted people do not use the internet, therefore 

digital services need to ensure they are offline too. Vision NS estimate 29,500 people 

have a moderate or severe hearing impairment, and 660 people have a profound 

hearing impairment; expected to increase by almost half by 2040, with over 6,000 

people predicted to have severe loss. 

 
People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have a serious VI, people aged 65+ predicted to have 

a moderate or severe VI, and people aged 75+ predicted to have registrable eye conditions, 

projected to 2040 (Source PANSI) 

Age and VI 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

18-24 serious VI 8 8 9 10 9 

25-34 serious VI 14 15 14 15 16 

35-44 serious VI 17 18 19 19 19 

45-54 serious VI 20 19 19 20 21 

55-64 serious VI 19 21 20 19 19 

65-74 moderate or severe VI 1,501 1,439 1,602 1,747 1,714 

1,501

3,137

1,619

4.5

1,439

3,720

1,920

2.8

1,602

3,980

2,054

5

1,747

4,216

2,176

1,714

4,638

2,394

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

65-74 predicated to 
have moderate or 

severe VI

75+ predicated to have 
moderate or severe VI

People aged 75 and 
over  predicted to have 

registrable eye 
conditions

Category 4

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People aged 65+ in NS predicted to have a moderate or severe VI 
by age, and people aged 75+ predicted to have registrable eye 

conditions, projected to 2040

Page 147

https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/health-social-care-education-professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics-on-sight-loss-in-the-uk/


  

40 

 

75+ moderate or severe VI 3,137 3,720 3,980 4,216 4,638 

75+ registrable eye conditions 1,619 1,920 2,054 2,176 2,394 

 

There are other options to maximise independence including adaptations, to enable 

people to live longer at home (Department of Health and Social Care, 2021). The 

Disabled Facilities Grant programme can help with stair lifts and bathing facilities, as 

well as the handyperson scheme. There is a gap between where people go from 

supported housing which is supposed to be ‘low level’ support and time limited to 2 

years, into general needs housing. This has created a system bottle neck, which 

social work teams have come across when trying to access services for people to 

move on. Further, the Pathways to Adulthood respite service can only be accessed if 

there is a diagnosed learning disability, which is not always the case for people who 

have a physical disability (see Housing with Support Strategy). There is a Pathways 

to Adulthood Strategy being written. 

 

65-74 
predicted 
to have 
some 

hearing 
loss

75-84 
predicted 
to have 
some 

hearing 
loss

85+ 
predicted 
to have 
some 

hearing 
loss

Total 
population 

65+ 
predicted 
to have 
some 

hearing 
loss

65-74 
predicted 
to have 
severe 
hearing 

loss

75-84 
predicted 
to have 
severe 
hearing 

loss

85+ 
predicted 
to have 
severe 
hearing 

loss

Total 
population 

65+ 
predicted 
to have 
severe 
hearing 

loss
2020 12,591 12,705 6,953 32,249 814 1,761 1,660 4,234
2025 11,741 15,423 7,653 34,818 756 2,103 1,827 4,687
2030 12,954 16,352 9,160 38,465 833 2,500 2,187 5,521
2035 14,269 15,732 11,386 41,386 919 2,276 2,718 5,914
2040 14,178 17,650 11,742 43,569 915 2,489 2,803 6,208

0
5,000

10,000
15,000
20,000
25,000
30,000
35,000
40,000
45,000
50,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 65 and over predicted to have a moderate or 
severe, or profound, hearing impairment, by age and gender, 

projected to 2040 (Source POPPI)

Page 148



  

41 

 

Learning Disability and/or Autism 
It is important that we make the distinction that not all people with autism, or autistic 

people, have a learning disability. Autism, also referred to as autism spectrum 

disorder (ASD) is not a learning disability, rather a diverse group of conditions that 

relate to brain development (neurodiversity). It can be that people may have both 

autism and a learning disability and the two are often discussed together. Autistic 

people may be highly functioning and have a high IQ or have severe disabilities and 

may need life-long support to live independent lives – needs vary greatly and can 

change over time. There are about 1 in 100 children who are autistic as per the 

National Autistic Society (NAS), but many people may not be diagnosed until much 

later in life (WHO (World Health Organization), 2023).  

The total NS population aged 18 and over predicted to have a learning disability (LD) 

was 4,009 in 2020 and 4,328 by 2030. By 2040 this is expected to be 4,604 (PANSI). 

Although numbers of people with LD are smaller than older people who need care 

and support, the costs of younger people with significant LD are vast (see 

commissioned services and spend). The numbers of people with a severe LD and 

likely to be in receipt of services in NS aged 18-64 are expected to rise from 173 in 

2020 to 190 in 2040.  

 

In 2021/22 it was estimated in England that the total population of people with 

learning disabilities and/or autism who receive LA paid support and care was 

151,000 (LDAHN, 2023). In NS seventy-five 18–64-year-olds were predicted to have 

Downs Syndrome in 2020, with seventy-nine predicted by 2030. Older adults who 

may have lived with their parents may have social care needs when parents get too 

old to care for adult children, as well as themselves. 

27 33 44 35 33
173

27 34 48 34 37

178

31 32 50 35 36

184

31 34 51 38 34

188

30 36 49 40 35

190

0
100
200

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 Total population 
18-64 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have a severe learning disability, 
and likely to be in receipt of services, by age, projected to 2040 (Source 

PANSI)

N
o.

 p
eo

pl
e 

se
ve

re
 L

D
 

pr
ed

ic
te

d

Age of people predicted to have a severe learning disability

Page 149



  

42 

 

 
The total population aged 18-64 with a learning disability (LD), predicted to display 

unexpected behaviours in 2020 was fifty-four, rising to fifty-seven by 2030, which is 

not huge but still may impact upon services and be costly in relation to LA funded 

care and support packages. The total population in NS expected to have autistic 

spectrum disorders was 1,189 in 2020, with a projected of 1,241 by 2030. Not all 

these people will need funded services, but some may, especially when older. 

Although predictions of numbers of people with LD for 2011 and 2021 were not 

significantly different - prevalence does not seem to be increasing - however more 

people are getting diagnosed. The highest percentage change was for people aged 

80+ from 1.89% in 2011 to 1.93% in 2021.  

There are almost three quarters more people aged 18-64 with a predicted moderate 

or severe LD than a predicted severe LD by 2030 in NS.  

 

55 61 63 36 13

228

55 62 68 35 14

234

62 60 72 36 13

244

63 62 73 39 13

250

60 67 71 41 13

252

0
100
200
300

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 Total population 
18-64

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have a moderate or severe 
learning disability and be living with a parent, by age, projected to 

2040 (Source PANS) 

N
o.

 o
f P

eo
pl

e

Age Range Predicted to be living with a Parent  (moderate or severe LD)

82
119 163 160 143

666

81 121
176

152 155

686

93 116 186
158

151

704

95 120
188 171 143

718

90
131 182

181 148

732

0

200

400

600

800

18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 Total 
population 18-

64
2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS (18-64) predicted to have a moderate or severe LD 
and likely to be in receipt of services, projected to 2040 (Source 

PANSI)

N
um

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e

Age range of people predicted to have a moderate or severe learning disabiity

Page 150



  

43 

 

The Learning Disability and Autism Housing Network (2023) state that 23-25% of 

people with LD/autism live in supported housing, a minimum of 15% live in 

residential/nursing care, and more than 35% live with family and friends across the 

last decade. The void rate for supported housing for people with LD/autism is 10.4% 

nationally; the LDAHN argue there are opportunities for increased partnership 

working between commissioners and landlords/providers to meet people’s needs, 

especially as family get older (see the Housing with Support Strategy). The Shared 

Lives/Connecting Lives model is changing in that hosts are also ageing, there need 

to be new recruits, but also flexibility to support people not in the host’s home, but as 

outreach, which although is being delivered in NS, recruitment and retention are key. 

Various activities happen in NS, such as a disability disco, art and craft sessions, 

speaking up and walking groups – People First run a dungeons and dragons' session 

for people with autism, but people do not always know about what is on offer. There 

is an autism strategy currently being developed. 

 

Transitions 
Transitions is a term that can apply at many stages of life, for example transitioning 

to secondary school from primary school, or to college from secondary school. Here, 

we take the term to mean the transition to adult services from children’s services, 

which may not happen to all young people who are eligible for a statutory service 

under the Children and Families Act 2014 when they get to adults and the main piece 

of legislation underpinning eligibility is the Care Act 2014. We have a Transitions 

Team at NSC who work with young people when they reach 18, but the planning 

happens for a long time beforehand. Young people may be supported by the 

transitions team with a range of support needs including their mental health. 

 

Pathways to Adulthood is a principle that can apply to young people with support 

needs, whether they have a learning disability, mental health condition(s), or a 

physical disability, to prepare them to lead independent lives, with a general focus on 

employment; good health; independent living and community inclusion. Maximising 

independence is in line with our adult social care vision and services are across both 

children’s and adults’ directorates. It is important that we know what the level of 

Page 151



  

44 

 

demand might be for young people needing supporting living in our area, which 

comes from strong joint working across directorates, including a Pathways to 

Adulthood Governance Board. A Pathways to Adulthood Strategy is in development. 

It is vital effective transition planning is started early enough for the benefit of our 

young people and their families/carers, as well as economically. 

 

Mental Health 
The Mental Health Strategy is based on the Needs Assessment (2002) and the 

practice approaches we expect to see in social work run through that too. According 

to the recent NSC Mental Health Needs Assessment (2022) NS adults are more 

likely to have a documented depression disorder (14.9% in 2021/22) than seen 

nationally (12.7%) and in our neighbouring LAs; these rates have doubled since 

2013/14. Rates are higher in central Weston-super-Mare (WsM) compared to other 

areas in NS. GP practices in WsM, and Clevedon to a lesser extent, report the 

highest rates of severe mental illness in their registered populations (1.86% in 

places, but 0.34% in Portishead).  

  
This may reflect difference in need, or lower attendance and/or levels of diagnosis in 

other areas. Mortality from suicide has been steady over the past decade in NS and 

was 10.5 per 100,000 population between 2017 and 2019, but men continue to be 

three times as likely to die due to suicide as women. As seen nationally, deprivation 

18-64 predicted 
to have a 

common mental 
disorder

18-64 predicted 
to have a 
borderline 
personality 

disorder

18-64 predicted 
to have an 
antisocial 

personality 
disorder

18-64 predicted 
to have 

psychotic 
disorder

18-64 predicted 
to have two or 

more psychiatric 
disorders

2040 24,669 3,132 4,329 911 9,373
2035 24,232 3,076 4,242 894 9,201
2030 23,961 3,042 4,187 883 9,094
2025 23,484 2,981 4,105 866 8,914
2020 22,978 2,917 4,013 847 8,720

0
20,000
40,000
60,000
80,000

100,000
120,000
140,000

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have a mental health 
problem, projected to 2040 (PANSI)

Page 152



  

45 

 

levels (IMD) have a strong association with key mental health conditions, and many 

of the wider determinants. Many wards in WsM, for example, have the highest rates 

of deprivation in our LA, and the highest rates of depression, self-harm, 

unemployment, and obesity. Hospital attendances for any mental health reason 

(including self-harm, physical symptoms of anxiety, severe depressive symptoms etc) 

were 13 per 1,000 population in Weston, Worle & Villages, and 7 per 1,000 

population in Woodspring, in 2021/22. As per POPPI data, there are 1,4211 people 

aged 65 and over predicted to have severe depression in 2020, which is projected to 

rise to 7,061 by 2030 in NS. 

  
 

“Severe mental illnesses, which include conditions such as schizophrenia and bipolar 

disease, often require … management by specialist mental health services. These  

illnesses often relapse and remit over decades, and sometimes lead to inpatient 

psychiatric hospital stays. Prevalence of such disorders is low compared to common 

mental health disorders, but they have a high healthcare impact and can bring 

significant disruption in day to day living. The rate of such conditions in North 

Somerset residents (all ages) follows a familiar pattern, i.e., higher than South 

Gloucestershire, but lower compared to Bristol. The trend is flat, with the rate 

consistently between 0.75% and 0.85% since 2013 (NSC Needs Assessment, 2022)”. 

 

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000
18,000

Males 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have a 
common 
mental 

disorder

Males 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have a 
borderline 
personality 

disorder

Males 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 

to have an 
antisocial 

personality 
disorder

Males 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have 

psychotic 
disorder

Males 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have 
two or 
more 

psychiatric 
disorders

Females 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have a 
common 
mental 

disorder

Females 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have a 
borderline 
personality 

disorder

Females 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 

to have an 
antisocial 

personality 
disorder

Females 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have 

psychotic 
disorder

Females 
aged 18-

64 
predicted 
to have 
two or 
more 

psychiatric 
disorders

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040

People in NS aged 18-64 predicted to have a mental health problem, 
by gender, projected to 2040 (Source PANSI)

Page 153



  

46 

 

The Mental Health needs assessment recommends more focus on holistic support 

for NS residents with mental ill health, such as through dissemination of information 

and using signposting to, and delivery of, community services that support skills 

development, employment opportunities, and address other issues such as housing, 

isolation, and financial challenges. Care homes are not always right for people with 

these support needs and there are few other options due to the lack of one bed 

properties’ that people can afford, especially those that can take younger people in 

extra care housing. Social prescribing is also an area that more understanding is 

needed for to inform funding and commissioning activities. Understanding the needs 

of our population in relation to housing based on quantitative and qualitative data is 

key, as is working alongside hospitals and care homes for people to be empowered 

and maximise independence by being able to access the right support and/or 

accommodation for their needs, as well as using a positive risk-taking approach. 

 

10. Overview of our Market, Commissioned Services and Spend 

North Somerset Market Overview 
The commissioning strategy covers all NS commissioned services and grants which 

cover a range of needs for people who use care and support.  

 

At time of writing, there are 93 care homes in NS of which 76 are for older people, 29 

provide both residential and nursing care and 37 homes specialise in just residential. 

There are 17 homes catering for under 65s with a range of needs. North Somerset 

previously indicated oversupply of both nursing and residential care and 

benchmarking suggests we have significant overprovision of residential beds. 

Modelling by the Housing LIN as part of our Older Person’s Housing Needs 

Assessment in 2021 suggested despite demographic growth, a net reduction of 158 

beds by 2038 was necessary (bearing in mind that we are higher than both the 

comparator rate and wider England rate for both nursing and residential care), but 

the market has offset some of this naturally.   

 

Care Homes are regulated by the CQC (Care Quality Commission) and The Care Act 

2014 places duties on LAs to commission care places for those living in their 

Page 154



  

47 

 

communities who are eligible for public funding support. Care homes are run by the 

private sector, LA’s, the NHS, or voluntary sector (not for profit). Out of 93 care 

homes in North Somerset as of August 2023, there are 18 of which require 

improvement (19%), 74 are rated good (80%) and 1 home is yet to be rated (1%). 

There are no homes which are rated as inadequate or outstanding by the CQC.  

 
 

The table below from the Care Quality Commission and Housing LIN (2021) shows 

our prevalence rates (i.e., the number of bedspaces per 1,000 population aged 75+) 

of residential and nursing care in North Somerset, alongside the comparator average 

and all-England prevalence rates.  

 
Recent data suggests residential care provision has recently reduced and we have 

seen the closure of 2 homes. In addition, there has been an increase in the number 

of nursing beds which is because of several homes expanding. Dementia services 

generally and nursing markets are sufficient, however dementia specialist services 

need to be expanded longer term. The data reflected in the capacity plan indicates 

that capacity in long-term nursing and residential care would be considered tight, and 

whilst the maximum number of potential supported people would suggest that there 

should be sufficient capacity, we have an above average self-funder market. In 

Area Prevalence of Residential 
care 

Prevalence of Nursing 
care 

North Somerset 54 49 
Comparator average 46 45 
England 45 46 

Inadequate
 0%

Requires 
Improvement

 19%

Good
 80%

Outstanding
 0%

Blank (no rating)
 1%

Inadequate Requires Improvement Good Outstanding Blank (no rating)

Residential social care (care homes) in NS 
August 2023 (Source CQC Website)

Page 155



  

48 

 

addition to this, neighbouring authorities are placing in NS due to several of their 

homes closing. Even so, there appears to be sufficient flow in and out of the care 

home market to sustain demand, with minimal waiting times.  

 

For Housing for Older People, North Somerset is above its comparators’ average 

prevalence and in line with the England prevalence rate. For Housing with Care, 

North Somerset is above both its comparators’ average prevalence rate and the 

England prevalence rate. The table below shows current provision and estimated 

need for specialised housing and accommodation for older people, to 2038 in North 

Somerset. 

Housing/ 
accommodation 

type 

2021 current 
provision 

(units/beds) 

2021 
prevalence 

rate 

2038 
anticipated 
prevalence 

rate 

2038 
estimated 

gross need 

2038 net 
need 

(units) 

Housing for Older 
People 

2,869 57 53 3,353 484 

Housing with 
Care 

394 17 25 806 412 

Residential care 1,284 54 35 1,128 -156 

Nursing care 1,162 49 45 1,450 288 
 

In relation to extra care, we currently have six schemes in NS, the capacity plan data 

reflects tight capacity, with 92% across the service, however, all schemes are full, 

with people waiting for available units. New provision has been provided recently at 

Diamond Court’s extension, but we would like to start more, including a feasibility 

study commissioned to look at options including in-house delivery as the current 

framework of providers are not leading to developments needed.  
 

Data reflects that supported living capacity is also tight, where need is greater than 

available provision. Most existing schemes are full but voids in smaller schemes can 

exist in LD schemes due to incompatibility, and there are people waiting for units to 

become available, or they move out of area to other existing schemes. This is 

another growth area required to meet local accommodation shift targets, albeit 

development interest has improved this year. We are keen to ensure future and 

existing provision is TEC focused.  

Page 156



  

49 

 

The homecare market is relatively stable with mostly small independent providers, 

not many new entrants and few exits from the market. We have 48 total providers in 

NS including micro providers – 35 are CQC registered. We use about 22 regularly on 

our framework. Of the three strategic providers we had at time of writing, one was 

struggling to meet existing capacity, particularly in rural areas, but all reported 

improved recruitment last winter following an early pay award. We now have two 

strategic providers, Access Your Care and Nobilis. It is recognised that we need 

more and improved provision around complex care particularly in respect of mental 

health and learning disability, and dementia. 

 

Out of 35 CQC registered community care providers in North Somerset as of August 

2023, there are 2 of which require improvement, 26 are rated good and 6 providers 

are yet to be rated. No providers are rated as inadequate and 1 is outstanding. 

 
 

The fair cost of care exercise highlighted that residential fee rates are low and will 

need to rise, albeit longer term we do anticipate a significant shrinkage in provision is 

necessary and this has happened naturally in our market. We utilised resources to 

signal increases for 2023/24 of 9.65% for nursing homes and 9.1% and included a 

backdated element to all placements from April 2022 of 1.45% to support some of the 

rising costs that had not been reflected in the 2022/23 fee settlement. For both 

residential and nursing, current provision is vulnerable to the restrictions of the fabric 

of the buildings and accessibility issues. Homes have been RAG rated for longer 

term suitability given many homes are in Victorian buildings in seaside resorts.  

Inadequate
 0%

Requires 
Improvement

 6%

Good
 74%

Outstanding
 3%Blank (no rating)

 17%

Inadequate Requires Improvement Good Outstanding Blank (no rating)

Community care in NS 
August 2023 (Source CQC Website)

Page 157



  

50 

 

There is recognised shortage of complex mental health and learning disability 

provision which is a key area of growth required to align with our strategic vision for 

the future. The domiciliary care market will be strengthened by additional reablement 

capacity, greater use of TEC to reduce demand and the bridging capacity to provide 

flexibility to support discharge. This should lead to reduced pressure on delayed 

packages or unmet need. However, the market is fragile. Domiciliary care rates rose 

by 9% to help with this. An identified gap in the domiciliary care market is around 

provision for complex mental health and learning disabilities, and we are currently in 

the scoping stage of developing a complex care framework.  
 

In addition, we recognised the need to develop more robust long term community 

provision around dementia care and are currently piloting a community dementia 

wrap around service which is a joint initiative between health and social care. As part 

of the retendering of our Support to Live at Home contract, strategic providers are 

required to work with us to further develop a dementia specific pathway.  
 

Recognising that the need for both extra care and supported living is greater than 

what we currently have available, we have several potential developments which we 

are currently pursuing, appreciating that due to planning regulations and building 

requirements, such developments take several months to realise. We are also 

looking to develop a framework for developers to join to maximise appropriate 

provision, particular in respect of accommodation with support requirements. 
 

Social Care 
There were 3796 packages of care and support commissioned via the adult 

brokerage team at NSC in 2022/23 as per brokerage data. 2875 were completed 

commissions; 287 were cancelled commissions; 598 were closed with no action; and 

36 passed away3 (these figures relate to NSC funded people4 only). Our total 

expenditure was over £115m in the adult social services directorate in 2022/23. 

 
3 Sometimes circumstances change and this may be due to a decision to change service request, a 
family decision, an error in the referral, hospitalisation, or a funding change 
4 Avon and Wiltshire Partnership (Mental Health) placements and Weston General Hospital 
placements are not included in this figure, nor placements commissioned for the Integrated Health 
Board (includes Continuing Health Care; End of Life; and other Emergency Placements for Health). 

Page 158



  

51 

 

There were income streams to the value of £39m including from Health (the ICB), the 

Better Care Fund, client contributions, as well as other contributions/internal 

transfers. Our social care and support net spend for 2022/23 was over £75m. 

  

We could break categories down into themes such as care homes (residential and 

nursing), homecare; housing with support (including extra care/supported living), 

Shared Lives (the Service is called Connecting Lives at NSC to encompass the 

outreach element of the service); reablement (community and hospital); direct 

payments; and community support, as well as people’s needs, such as older people, 

learning disability, physical disability, visual/sensory impairment and mental health. 

There is often complex interplay between areas. For example, older people may 

have care needs and frailty given their age, but many can manage at home 

independently or with support, whether from paid/unpaid carers, family, and their 

community. Older people may have other complex conditions including poor health 

and disability, mental health issues or a learning disability, which may mean people 

are reliant upon commissioned care and support services as they become older. 

 

There have been increases in direct payment take up for individuals and carers from 

2021/22 to 2022/23. Care home placements (both residential and nursing homes) 

have increased, and homecare has decreased, which may be explained due to the 

covid-19 pandemic and people avoiding care homes and intakes being trickier from 

50
194 165

373

79

588
409

1153

78

330
20050

168 155

379

114

824

517

984

293
419

221

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Sha
red

 Li
ve

s

Day
 C

are

Extr
a C

are
 H

ou
sin

g

Dire
ct 

Pay
men

ts

Care
rs 

Dire
ct 

Pay
men

ts

Res
ide

nti
al 

Hom
es

Nurs
ing

 H
om

es

Hom
ec

are
 (D

om
icil

iar
y 

Care
)

AYC R
ea

ble
men

t

Tota
l R

ea
ble

men
t (i

nc
. 

AYC)
Sup

po
rte

d L
ivin

g

No's of Placements across Commissioned Services 2021/22 and 
2022/23 (Source Finance and BI Data, NSC) 

2021/22     2022/23

Page 159



  

52 

 

hospital due to infection risk, as well as an uptake in reablement. Day care and extra 

care housing numbers decreased but supported living placements increased. In 

relation to reablement, in 2021/22 we spent £265,862 (£130,038 for Access Your 

Care reablement D2A block contract part year). In 2022/23, the spend was £747,896 

(£703,291 for Access Your Care reablement D2A block contract full year). 

Reablement can decrease or delay the need for other interventions. 

 

The numbers of supported living placements increased for learning disability and 

mental health from 2021/22 to 2022/23, with a 33% increase on carer support and 

memory and cognition placements (although their numbers are small). Within 

supported living in 2021/22, most people in placements had a learning disability 

(75%); people with mental health conditions made up 15% of placements; people 

with physical disabilities 6%; with the rest making up 1% of the placements (carer 

support; memory and cognition; sensory support) and substance misuse making up 

the other 1% of the total. In 2022/23 most placements were still people with LD. 

 
As we have seen in our market overview, there is tight capacity within supported 

living, and we need more local provision.  

 

Extra care housing placements have not significantly changed from 2021/22 to 

2022/23. There are six extra care schemes in Weston-super-Mare, Worle, Yatton, 

and Portishead. In 2021/22 of the total numbers of 165 extra care placements, 53% 

were in the south of the district and 30% in the north (of which more than half were 

1%

75%
1%

15%
6% 1% 1% Carer Support

Learning Disability
Memory and Cognition
Mental Health
Physical 
Sensory Support

Supported Living Placements 2021/22

1%

73%

1%

15%
8% 1% 1% Carer Support

Learning Disability
Memory and Cognition
Mental Health
Physical 
Sensory Support
Substance Misuse

Supported Living Placements 2022/23

Page 160



  

53 

 

older than 65). 7% were from the community team for people with a learning disability 

of which most were over 65 years old; 3% were from the mental health recovery 

team of which 25% were over 65; and 7% were from the mental health complex 

intervention team, of which most were over the age of 65 years old.  

  
For 2022/23 there has been a slight increase in the numbers from the south team 

(rising to 53%). As we have discussed in relation to our market, we need more extra 

care provision to meet the needs of our population before people may need to move 

into care homes. This will be discussed more in the Housing with Support Strategy. 

 
The breakdown of total care home placements in 2021/22 (1242) was split into 

residential older people (36%); residential dementia (10%); residential learning 

disability (11%); residential mental health (8%); nursing older people (27%); nursing 

dementia (5%); nursing learning disability (1%) and nursing mental health (2%). 

Residential care home placements for older people made up over a third, with 

nursing home placements for older people just over a quarter in 2021/22.  

7% 3%
7%

30%53%

CTPLD (Learning Disability)
Mental Health Recovery Team
Mental Health Complex Intervention Team
North
South

Breakdown of Extra Care Housing Placements 2021/22 by Team

7% 2% 6%
29%

56%

CTPLD (Learning Disability)
Mental Health Recovery Team
Mental Health Complex Intervention Team
North
South

Breakdown of Extra Care Housing Placements 2022/23 by Team

Page 161



  

54 

 

 
In comparison, in 2022/23 there was a total of 99 more placements overall in care 

homes compared to the previous year. Of 1341 placements, residential homes for 

older people are still the largest group but dropped to 32%, followed by older people 

in nursing homes at 28%. residential care home dementia placements made up 12% 

of the total, while it was 6% in nursing homes. Learning disability placements in 

residential homes made up 10% of the total, compared to 7% for mental health. In 

nursing homes, 3% were mental health and 1% learning disability placements. 

 
Within care home placements for under 65s, in 2021/20222 there were 17 people 

with physical or sensory impairments (PSI) who were under 65 and placed in 

residential or nursing care homes outside of NS. The range of weekly costs for these 

placements is from £348 per week to £3088. The average cost per week was £1382. 

There were 35 people aged under 65 who were placed in residential or nursing care 

within NS. The range of weekly costs for these placements was from £417 per week 

to £2255 per week, with the average being £987 per week.  

 

By comparison, in 2022/2023, there were 19 people with PSI who were aged under 

65 and placed in residential or nursing care outside NS. The range of weekly costs 

461, 36%

127, 10%
138, 11%

107, 8%

342, 27%

67, 5% 16, 1% 29, 2%
Residential Older People
Residential Dementia
Residential Learning Disability
Residential Mental Health
Nursing Older People
Nursing Dementia
Nursing Learning Disability
Nursing Mental Health

No. of Care Home Placements 2021/22 (Total 1242)  

434, 32%

155, 12%

135, 10%
100, 7%

379, 28%

83, 6%
20, 1% 35, 3%Residential Older People

Residential Dementia
Residential Learning Disability
Residential Mental Health
Nursing Older People
Nursing Dementia
Nursing Learning Disability
Nursing Mental Health

No. of Care Home Placements 2022/23 (Total 1341)  

Page 162



  

55 

 

for these placements was from £740 per week to £3475, with the average cost per 

week being £1765. There were 35 people aged under 65 who were placed in 

residential or nursing care homes within NS. The range of weekly costs for these 

placements was from £429 per week to £2990, with the average being £1078 per 

week. You can see that the numbers within North Somerset stayed the same, but out 

of area placement increased by two, which may be because of a lack of suitable 

accommodation options within North Somerset (see Housing with Support Strategy). 

 
 

Health 
The health placement data chart below shows how many counts of individuals, as 

opposed to different numbers of people, in 2021/22 and 2022/23 that fell under each 

area (cost or service type). One person could have several different services to make 

up their individual care package. This is based on service start and does not include 

anything else that was opened prior to these years but would have been active 

during it. Service duration is also not reflected. The data has been condensed as 

there are many types within each overarching cost centre and service level, for 

example within ‘Community Wards NHS CCG’ there is only Care & Support - Day - 

Health (Block). However, within ‘Continuing Healthcare – NHS CCG’ there are 

several types of support from ‘End of Life’ to ‘Hospital Discharge’, ‘Supported Living’, 

‘Nursing’ and ‘Direct Payments’.  

17

35

19

35

0
10
20
30
40

Out of Area North Somerset

2021/2022 2022/2023

Care Home Placements for people with physical and sensory 
impairments, aged under 65

Page 163



  

56 

 

 

Contracts 
Advocacy – This service is a statutory duty under the Local Government and Public 

Involvement in Health Act 2007 and is funded as one element of the Local Reform 

and Community Voices Grant received by the Council. The following statutory 

advocacy services are provided: Mental Capacity Advocacy (IMCA); Independent 

Mental Health Advocates (IMHA); NHS Complaints Advocates (IHCA); and 

Independent Advocacy (ICCA) 

 

Care Homes – NSC have 93 care homes across NS across client groups (including 

76 for older people), which is a mix of standard residential, residential with enhanced 

needs, standard nursing, and nursing with enhanced needs, as well as for people 

with learning disabilities and mental health. There are 29 residential and nursing 

homes, and 37 residential homes for older people. Enhanced needs refer to 

complexity of need and of the 93, 30 homes can accommodate people with 

dementia, for example, according to our records. There are 19 care homes who cater 

for adults with LD; 16 can accommodate those with mental health issues; whilst the 

majority are for older people (53). Care homes are for people that need substantial 

support up to 24 hours a day, many of whom have a range of health needs.  

Community 
Wards NHS 

CCG

Continuing 
Healthcare 
NHS CCG

Funded 
Nursing 

Care (Short 
Term and 

Single 
Band)

Funded 
Nursing 

Care NHS 
CCG

Other 
Health 

NHS CCG

Substance 
Misuse 
Total 

WAHT 
Hospital 

Discharges 
NHS

Total

2021/22 18 800 22 695 741 34 13 2323
2022/23 22 1154 14 853 683 16 138 150

0
500

1000
1500
2000
2500

2021/22 2022/23

Health Placement Data 
Source NSC Business Intelligence August 2023

C
ou

nt
 ra

th
er

 th
an

 n
o.

 o
f p

eo
pl

e

Cost Centre and Service Level (the detail can be broken down further)

Page 164



  

57 

 

 
Residential and nursing care is currently commissioned using block and spot 

purchasing arrangements. Block arrangements, means that some beds are 

commissioned and guaranteed for a fixed period, and readily available for when 

needed to ensure a maintained and cost-effective care home bed capacity in NS. 

Current provision is 79 block beds across 5 care homes covering nursing and 

residential care. The block-booked beds are recommissioned for 6 months at a time. 

Spot purchased means beds are bought from providers as needed. There are 

currently 8 NS homes offering day care in their home. This is paid in session costs: 

one session is half a day. 

Care and Support - Framework agreement for spot purchase domiciliary care which 

supports the Support to Live at Home contracts. There are 22 providers on this 

framework.  

 

Community Beds for Hospital Discharge and a Hospital Discharge Flat - 
There is a one bed flat within extra care housing, as well as a flat within NSC housing 

to ease hospital discharge. There are also community beds within Pathways 2 and 3. 

 

Community Meals - Contract to supply food to be cooked in our own locations and 

delivered to vulnerable individuals in NS. We keep an inhouse service which delivers 

meals to older and unwell people who have difficulty preparing food and who live in 

NS. Meals are cooked at Castlewood and @Worle. Drivers carry out a welfare check 

during each visit which includes cutting up food; fetching a cold drink and cutlery; 

reminders to take medication; and an environmental check – temperature and 

hazards. Staff will also check that the person is comfortable, and we can contact their 

family or a doctor if there is a problem. 

 

30 30

72
53

16 19

0
20
40
60
80

Nursing Dementia Residential Older People Mental Health Learning 
Disability

North Somerset Care Homes (93 total, brokerage data August 23

Page 165



  

58 

 

Complex Care - Framework agreement for people who have clinically complex 

needs, funded under continuing health care (CHC), which is usually nurse led. 

People may have physical disabilities that require staff to have specialist knowledge, 

understanding and competencies, or administer medication and managing specialist 

equipment such as CPAP (Continuous Positive Airway Pressure) machines and PEG 

feeds. There are 12 providers on this framework currently, being more specialist. It is 

‘open’ which means providers can apply at any time and give a pricing agreement. 

 
Day Services – A framework for building based day services across all groups. This 

includes Tamar Court’s dementia day services including a Wellness Centre and is 

available to LA funded as well as people paying themselves. The centre is being 

aligned with carers respite. There are a total of 24 centres on our list, some are run 

by the same provider. See Specialised Care and Support Contract for under 65 

provisions. 

 

Direct Payments (also called a ‘DP’) - Are a sum of money from the council to use to 

arrange and pay for a person’s care and support. The aim is to give you greater 

flexibility, more choice and control over the support you get to meet assessed eligible 

needs. If you get a DP, you can decide how your needs will be met, by whom, and 

when. For example, you might decide to employ your own personal assistant (PA) to 

work at the times you choose instead of receiving support from a care agency 

arranged by the council. You must be able to consent to have a DP and have the 

capacity to manage one either on your own or with help. We will ensure everyone 

who is eligible has the option and support to have a DP. 
 

Domestic Abuse Support Services – A contract for a single access point for both the 

public, and stakeholders. Floating support service, independent domestic violence 

advisers (IDVA’s), emergency accommodation, community-based group work and 

children’s support. Supports people irrespective of gender but ensures that the 

support is tailored to any specific needs which female and male individuals may have 

and that it reflects the demand for services from each gender. Includes support 

around ‘honour’ based violence and forced marriage and provision to help children of 

people who have experienced abuse. People aged 16+ can receive support. 

Page 166



  

59 

 

 

Emergency Response and Wellness Service – An emergency domiciliary care 

response service which supports Carelink, NSC and the emergency duty team which 

includes a falls service and a telephone welfare checking service, offering 

reassurance to vulnerable people. The wellness service can act as a step down for 

care packages where people do not need a visit from a care worker, and for those at 

risk of hospital admission. People who are awaiting care packages receive a call 

from the wellness service to provide reassurance pending the start of care. The 

wellness service can also support the recently bereaved, as well as signposting 

people to services and referrals to TEC Hubs. 

 

Equipment Services - This is a joint funded service across the BNSSG (Bristol, North 

Somerset & South Gloucestershire) ICB area. 

The service assists children and adults to remain in their own homes, at school and 

in care homes through provision of essential equipment. The service provider 

manages, maintains, and delivers equipment for the people of Bristol, North 

Somerset, and South Gloucestershire. Equipment ranges from grab rails to support 

someone to access their front door, to specialist chairs to support the most disabled 

children in NS. Many care plans include the provision of equipment, the service is 

essential for the council to deliver its statutory duties. 

 

Extra Care Housing – Accessible housing usually for over 55s with a care provider 

onsite to support people with planned care and support and 24-hour emergency 

cover. This type of accommodation can include assisted living, retirement villages, or 

close care. Older people are given the opportunity to live in their own purpose built, 

self-contained housing, while accessing care and meals on site. A range of 

communal facilities will also be on offer and individuals will have tenure rights. We 

currently have 6 schemes which include Diamond Court, and Lakeside Court in 

Weston-super-Mare, Waverley Court in Portishead, Tamar Court in Worle, 

Strawberry Gardens in Yatton, and Sandford Station in Winscombe. 

 

Handyperson Services - Provide low-level, low-cost interventions that are considered 

extremely helpful, if not vital. The service undertakes small works within people’s 

Page 167



  

60 

 

homes which are normally described as odd jobs and can include things such as 

small building works, repairs, safety measures, home security and energy efficient 

checks. They also support people that are being discharged home from hospital and 

reablement for essential adaptations to support independence and safety, under the 

Care Act. The service supports the requirements of our occupational therapy 

professionals and enables small adaptations to be completed. Early identification of 

issues can reduce the likelihood of future crises, contributing to the wider prevention 

agenda and aid independence at home. 

 

Pathways to Adulthood – An overnight respite / short break provision provided for 

young people aged 14-25 who have a learning and often a physical disability, 

currently based out of a property in Clevedon. It is a jointly commissioned service 

between adult and children’s social care. The emphasis on these services is on 

preparing the young person with the skills to equip them into adulthood. 

 

Reablement - A therapy led service, which delivers reablement for up to 6 weeks 

following a stay in hospital, which supports the discharge pathways and can lead to a 

community-based offer afterwards. It has one lead provider. Reablement can also be 

accessed from the community to prevent or reduce the need for long term care. 

Outcomes include signposting, wellness service referrals, telecare and falls devices 

as well as occupational therapy referrals. 

 

Shared Lives / Connecting Lives –The connecting lives service at NSC is made up of 

the shared lives service; (where support is provided in a shared lives carers home) 

and the outreach service (where support is provided out and about or in people’s 

homes). The connecting lives service currently supports 170 live in placements; 89 

people in the community; and 49 carers households receive support. 

 

Specialised Care and Support Contract Building Based Day Services - Framework 

agreement covering people with a learning disability, mental health, autism, acquired 

brain injury and sensory impairment. There are 8 centres all together - 4 in county 

and 4 out of county, some are run by the same provider. There are 7 providers in 

total on the framework currently. Employment support can be offered, as well as 

Page 168



  

61 

 

activities and hobbies for people. There are social enterprises including Banwell 

Pottery. Free employment support lasts for 12 months and then is chargeable. 

 

Specialised Care and Support Individualised Packages - Framework for people with 

learning disabilities or who have specialist mental health needs. There are 56 

providers on this ‘open’ framework, which means providers can apply at any time. 

There are fixed hourly rates that apply to this contract. This is for people who require 

104 hours one-to-one support, or less, per week. 

 

Specialised Care and Support Contract Supported Living – Framework agreement for 

housing which enables people, under the age of 65, who have support needs to live 

independently and prevent or delay the need for residential care. People can choose 

where they live, with whom, how they want to be supported and what happens in 

their home. Tenancies are individual and can be for an individual flat, or room in a 

shared house with others. Support and/or care may be provided: if it is care, the CQC 

regulate these providers, as it does care homes. We currently have 48 schemes, 

which include Graham Court (12 flats), Bennett Court (12 flats) Clifton Road (8 flats) 

and Links Court (11 flats). 

 

Supported Accommodation (also called Supported Housing) – These services are 

traditionally used by Housing/and or Children’s Services for people who have mental 

health challenges, are homeless, are younger (16-24) and/or Care Leavers. 

Providers include Curo, LiveWest, Alabare, Richmond Fellowship, Sanctuary, SAHA, 

and Stonham Housing. This is housing related support with up to 7 hours support per 

week, in contrast to Supported Living ASC packages of care which are usually much 

higher. 

 

Support to Live at Home (STLAH) – Strategic domiciliary care contracts covering set 

geographical areas with lead providers supplying care and support in the home to 

people aged 18 years and older who are eligible for services. The geographical areas 

will be aligned with the ICP. 

 

Page 169



  

62 

 

Technology Enabled Care - There have been gains such as the hydration app; the 

digitalisation of care providers who were paper based; Tamar Court’s use of Alexa’s 

to support individuals, along with falls monitoring and being able to assess risks more 

rapidly. Tovertaffel (or ‘magic’) tables for people with dementia and learning 

disabilities are in care homes across NS. Acoustic monitoring has enabled people to 

be checked upon by not physically waking them up, which has been well received, as 

well as whzan devices in care homes to give data to health partners. 

 

Wellbeing House – Support for people around their mental health on a one-to-one 

basis, based on the 5 Ways to Wellbeing. Up to 7 days at a time (potentially up to two 

weeks) to head off a crisis and support hospital discharge. Support is person centred, 

customer designed, and trauma informed, and activities and events are delivered to 

keep independent living skills such as cooking, budgeting, and money management. 

Families, support networks and carers are linked with right local services to supply any 

other support needed and where right support through the Independent Lives Offer 

when people return home and can self-fund this. Support includes involvement from 

local support agencies to create wraparound support networks. 

 

Grants 
Age UK Somerset - Support and advice for older adults to prevent isolation and 

promote independence. There is a phone line service, support is offered with 

attendance allowance claims, a range of exercise and health groups including 

cognitive behavioural therapy and frailty (staying active) classes by qualified 

instructors. There are also online groups with currently over 500 people accessing. 

There is also a volunteer befriending service which supports community access. 

 

Alive – There are three meeting centres in NS: Clevedon, Portishead and Nailsea. 

Meeting centres are an evidence-based intervention that provides post-diagnosis 

support for people living with mild to moderate dementia and their carers to support 

them to live well at home and in the community, using a hub and spoke model of 

support. The centres are held in social, friendly community settings where members 

are supported to live independently at home for longer, reducing or delaying medical 

Page 170

https://neweconomics.org/2008/10/five-ways-to-wellbeing


  

63 

 

invention, care home placements, crisis support and avoidable admissions. The 

dementia directory can be shared with individuals and their families and supplies 

information on services, community, and voluntary resources. 

 

Alliance Carer Support Services - Information and advice provided through phone 

calls, community drop ins, online support, and face to face appointments. Practical 

support interventions related to caring; support with referrals and signposting to 

ensure carers receive all help they are entitled to. Help with financial support and 

benefits; a variety of groups and opportunities to meet with other carers; support to 

understand rights and choices; and support to look after own wellbeing. Carers can 

also access an emergency response service. The aim is to support people who rely 

on carers at times when their carer is unable to support them. This is usually in an 

emergency or because a carer is in hospital. 

 

Alliance Floating Support – Housing related/tenancy support to vulnerable people to 

avoid eviction and homelessness. This includes a home from hospital team, who 

support people to return home after a stay in hospital, working closely with 

reablement and other services within the hospital and community, which continues to 

support the ethos around Home First. 

 

Alzheimer’s Society - Post-diagnostic dementia support services through dementia 

support advisors and workers to achieve person centred outcomes and plans to keep 

independence and cope with living with dementia (or the process of a diagnosis). 

Support for carers via community-based support services. There is a focus on living 

well with dementia, keeping independence and a support network within 

communities; a pro-active, early intervention approach, checking of people with 

dementia and carers to prevent crisis; enabling to live lives of the best possible 

quality; empower people to make choices, enable people to plan their own lives and 

care for themselves. Working in partnership with the carer support service to ensure 

carers have access to a statutory carers assessment and DP. 

 

Page 171



  

64 

 

Brigstowe Project - Promote and deliver self-advocacy for people living with or 

affected by HIV. Support and groups offered with the aim to progress to other long 

term life conditions (such as exploring long covid). 

 

Citizens Advice North Somerset (CANS) – A corporately funded contract which offers 

guidance and support including financial advice for people in NS. Support offered 

with Debt Relief Orders (DROs), Bankruptcy, housing advice and homelessness. 

 

Curo Community Connect (CC) - Social prescribing service in North Somerset 

helping people 50+ access services to enable them to live independently in their own 

homes and stay connected within the community. Working around the 5 Ways to 

Wellbeing it enables people to take a positive approach to self-care and building 

resilience to maintain good physical and mental health. CC aims to reduce social 

isolation by being embedded in the community, attending events and information 

days, and working with people within the community to set up new groups and 

activities whilst supporting existing ones. Signposting customers onto other services 

to support their needs is a key part of the service. 

 

Healthwatch North Somerset - Local Healthwatch promotes and supports local 

people in the promotion and scrutiny of health care services. Enables monitoring of 

local services and obtains people’s views for improvements. Makes 

recommendations to Healthwatch England and writes and publishes reports. 

 

North Somerset People First - Promotes self-advocacy for those with a learning 

disability through groups, events and activities likes walking. Links with other 

organisations and engages people with a learning disability to help be involved and 

develop services. Support with signposting to direct payments. 

 

Remap - A programme of custom designed or adapted aids projects to help people 

with a disability. The grant supports the management of volunteers and advertising 

for volunteers. 

 

Page 172



  

65 

 

Retired and Senior Volunteer Programme - Provides and promotes volunteering 

activity and encourages people over 50 to get involved. The grant supports the 

recruitment and management of volunteers. 

 

Second Step – NSC contribute to a health funded and managed initiative to support 

mental wellbeing. The wellbeing service supports people with mental health 

conditions, undertaking clinical reviews and signposting, as well as making referrals 

to other services. 

 

VISION North Somerset - Sensory rehabilitation and support services for people with 

a visual and/ or a hearing impairment over the age of 14 years old. Provides 

information, advice, and guidance on sensory loss by undertaking home visits. 

Referrals are kept on the register and specialist rehabilitation centre provision. The 

rehabilitation centre has accessible demo equipment for buying or loaning to support 

meet daily living outcomes and digital inclusion. Training is supplied for those living 

with someone who has a sensory impairment. Support at home is provided and 

everyone has access to help with daily living. 

 

Voluntary Action North Somerset (VANS) - This is a corporate contract. The grant 

pays for a representative at multiple council boards, 3 workshops a year and a 

newsletter. Promotion and engagement activities are undertaken with the community 

and volunteers to help with policies, engagement, networking, collaborating to help 

develop and meet the challenges in health and social care. 

 

Woodspring Talking News - Records local news by digital means and distributes free 

to people with a visual impairment. The grant supports the rental of studio and 

equipment to record the news by volunteers. There are approximately 160 listeners 

in NS. 

 

Spend 
As per our revised budget for ASC in 2022/23, our biggest costs were learning 

disability packages (more than £36m). physical support was our next highest at over 

Page 173



  

66 

 

£35m; over £11m for mental health; and more than £7m for memory and cognition 

social support. Carers received over £1.6m and sensory support just under £400k. 

Various income streams do offset some spend, but there was still a net spend of over 

£70m on commissioned individual care and support packages. £11m was spent on 

social care activities which refers to staffing. Information, and early intervention, as 

well as assistive equipment and technology, all tie into the total commissioning 

envelope along with the individual care and support packages. The over £5m which 

was spent on ‘commissioning and service strategy’ refers to staffing and the 

voluntary sector, rather than commissioned services. £12m came back in income in 

the form of government grants (which we may spend on provider fees for example). 

Housing spent over £2m and income was received as grants and housing benefit. 

 

REVISED BUDGET (as of March 2023) 
Expenditure Income Reserves Net 

ADULT SOCIAL 
SERVICES SPEND 
2022/2023 
  £ £ £ £ 
Learning Disability 36,622,540 (4,916,054) (267,000) 31,439,486 
Physical Support 35,479,279 (11,930,874) (174,000) 23,374,405 
Mental Health 11,246,127 (2,497,072) 0 8,749,055 
Memory & Cognition 7,830,460 (2,646,118) 0 5,184,342 
Social Support: 
Support for Carer 1,613,362 (642,782) 0 970,580 
Social Support: 
Substance Abuse 408,553 (107,023) 0 301,530 
Sensory Support 386,608 (169,833) 0 216,775 
Individual Care and 
Support Packages 93,586,929 (22,909,756) (441,000) 70,236,173 
Social Care Activities 11,787,394 (1,760,965) (316,880) 9,709,549 
Information & Early 
Intervention 1,621,756 (644,180) 0 977,576 
Assistive Equipment & 
Technology 1,019,421 (339,892) (247,100) 432,429 
Other Social Care 14,428,571 (2,745,037) (563,980) 11,119,554 
Commissioning & 
Service Strategy 5,603,603 (11,807,527) (233,406) (6,437,330) 
Housing Services 2,031,658 (1,317,480) 0 714,178 
ADULT SOCIAL 
SERVICES TOTAL 115,650,762 (38,779,800) (1,238,386) 75,632,576 

 

Individual care and support packages categories can also be broken down into 

residential, nursing, supported accommodation, community: support living, 

Page 174



  

67 

 

community: homecare; community direct payments; community: other long-term 

care; maximise independence and other short term (overall expenditure being over 

£93m but due to income streams, the net spend was £70,236,173 in 2022/2023.)   

 
In comparison to the revised budget for 2022/23, the actual spend was slightly higher 

in terms of gross expenditure, but we received more income. The pie chart shows 

that for individual care and support packages in NS, residential care homes (the 

service user type has been discussed above) are the biggest cost at 36%, followed 

by nursing care homes and supported living at 15% each. Homecare accounts for 

13% of our expenditure, direct payments 9%, and other short-term interventions 5%. 

Long term care in the community 3%, maximise independence 2%, along with 

supported accommodation at 2% of our expenditure. We received over £22m in 

income from government grants and client contributions. 

 
Adult Social Services 
Revised Budget 2022/23 Expenditure Income Reserves Net 

Residential 33,799,276 (10,270,435) 0 23,528,841 
Nursing 13,902,397 (4,185,944) 0 9,716,453 
Supported Accommodation 1,822,108 (367,056) 0 1,455,052 
Community: Supported 
Living 14,231,321 (1,473,595) 0 12,757,726 
Community: Homecare 11,834,095 (2,684,121) 0 9,149,974 
Community: Direct Payments 8,569,771 (1,321,112) 0 7,248,659 
Community: Other Long-
Term Care 3,014,683 (2,347,274) (441,000) 226,409 

Residential, 
33,799,276, 36%

Nursing, 13,902,397, 
15%

Supported 
Accommodation, 
1,822,108, 2%

Community: 
Supported Living, 
14,231,321, 15%

Community: 
Homecare, 

11,834,095, 13%

Community: Direct 
Payments, 

8,569,771, 9%

Community: Other 
Long Term Care, 
3,014,683, 3%Maximise 

Independence, 
1,621,334, 2%

Other Short Term, 
4,791,944, 5%

Residential

Nursing

Supported Accommodation

Community: Supported Living

Community: Homecare

Community: Direct Payments

Community: Other Long Term Care

Maximise Independence

Other Short Term

Total Expenditure 2022/2023 of Individual Care and Support 
Packages in North Somerset (£93,586,929)

Page 175



  

68 

 

Maximise Independence 1,621,334 0 0 1,621,334 
Other Short Term 4,791,944 (260,219) 0 4,531,725 
Individual Care and 
Support Packages 93,586,929 (22,909,756) (441,000) 70,236,173 

 

In 2023/24 our commissioning spend has increased and is more than £100m gross, 

when you consider the commissioned individual care and support packages, 

information and early intervention and assistive equipment and technology that 

reflect the commissioning spend. Social care activities refer to predominately staffing 

costs, and commissioning and service strategy refers to staffing and voluntary sector. 
 

Adult Social Services 2023/24 Expenditure Income Net Budget 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Individual Care & Support Packages 99,135 (23,318) 75,817 

Social Care Activities 15,746 (2,047) 13,699 

Information & Early Intervention 1,622 (644) 978 

Assistive Equipment & Technology  679 (340) 339 

Commissioning & Service Strategy 6,352 (13,473) (7,122) 

Housing Services 1,841 (1,217) 624 

Adult Social Services Total 125,374 (41,040) 84,334 
 

As well as commissioning services to meet need, we also need to be able to 

decommission services, for many reasons, such as a change in legislation or 

managing a decreasing budget. We have had to try to balance the books for 

decades, but the post covid recovery is such that we try to do more for less, in many 

ways, and be more creative in our approaches to commissioning, to become more 

outcomes focussed and flexible. The costs of dementia care when mild is lower in the 

community than in a nursing home, which also benefits the person. Some of our 

grant funded services were decommissioned over the years and a review of some 

services would be useful to ensure we are getting the most value not only in terms of 

cost, but people’s outcomes in line with our maximising independence vision.  

Page 176



  

69 

 

Low rates of pay in NS have traditionally put people off wanting to work as PA’s, with 

no holidays or pensions, as if self-employed pay is low pay after tax. The rate for DPs 

employing a PA increased to £14.50 from April 2023 (although a self-employed PA 

has responsibility for paying tax and national insurance). If the person receiving 

support employs them, the rate would be about £11.50 once the on costs are taken 

care of (national insurance and pension contributions). This will enable more people 

to be attracted to delivering support in their community to meet needs.  

 

11. Engagement and Other North Somerset Council Strategies 
Many individuals and groups have been spoken to in the preparation and writing of 

this strategy, as well as a wider consultation meeting, including but not limited to:  

 

• Adult Brokerage Team 

• ASC Governance and Policy 

Group 

• Business Intelligence 

• Care Connect 

• Carers Lead 

• Community Team for People 

with Learning Disabilities 

• Connecting Lives Lead 

• Continuing Health Care Team 

• Contracts and Commissioning  

• Customer Service Manager 

• CQC Quality Assurance 

Programme Manager 

• Direct Payments Project Officer 

• Engagement and Participation 

Officer 

• Executive Member 

• Finance 

• Health and Wellbeing Lead 

• Heads of Service: Early 

Intervention and Prevention / 

Localities / Learning Disability 

and Mental Health / Principal 

Social Worker and Principal 

Occupational Therapist 

• Hospital Discharge Team 

• Housing and Housing with 

Support Leads 

• Inclusion Lead 

• Market Sustainability Plan 

• Mental Health Teams: NSC / 

Avon and Wiltshire Partnership 

Trust 

• North and South Locality Teams 

• North Somerset Together Lead 

• Policy and Strategy Team 

Page 177



  

70 

 

• Providers and people who use 

services, includes Care Home 

Forum; Access Your Care; 

Surround; Alive; Alliance 

Homes’ Carers Support; 

Alzheimer’s Society; Freeways; 

People First; Chinese 

Community Wellbeing Society; 

Disability Disco; Coffee and 

Chat; Disability Action Group; 

Curo; One True Step; 

ConnectED 

• Public Health 

• Quality Monitoring Team 

• Researcher in Practice 

• Reviewing Team 

• Technology Enabled Care Lead 

• Transitions Team 

 

As well as the above people and groups spoken to, engagement already undertaken 

by colleagues has been utilised in the collation and writing of the strategy, as well as 

reading and research. The strategy was consulted upon by our Directorate 

Leadership Team and Corporate Leadership Team, the Executive and Adult Social 

Services and Housing Panel, the Locality Partnerships – Weston, Worle and Villages 

and Woodspring, the Voluntary Action North Somerset Voluntary Sector Forum, 

Healthwatch, a Carers Group, as well as being sent out to a working group of people 

involved for comments. The care home and domiciliary Care Provider Forum was 

engaged with at various stages, although the wider policy context and our adult 

social care vision was the starting point.  

Key Themes from Initial Engagement 

• Commissioning needs to be more evidence based and coproduced with 

operations and those with lived experience, although good relationships have 

been built with providers which was shown in the fair cost of care report in 

relation to homecare (links to ConnectED and data intelligence including BI 

Dashboards, as well as system reporting). Understanding the needs of our 

population feeds into this, including self-funders (see MPS). 

• More joined up working across directorates and operational teams, as well as 

external partners such as health, and other LAs, would be beneficial for 

information sharing and being able to pass knowledge on. 

• People do not always know how to access support in the first place and what 

is available to them/their cared for. Community based services can often meet 

Page 178



  

71 

 

people’s needs, but there needs to be improved awareness of available 

resources. A package of care may not always be best, or outcome focussed. 

• Recruitment and retention are the biggest issues which impacts upon there 

being support available for people when they need it (whether this is low level 

support before needs become complex, or a prompt assessment of Care Act 

needs, or the provision of a package of flexible homecare, for example). 

• Direct payments can offer a creative way to meet the needs of individuals with 

care and support needs, but there are not enough personal assistants (PAs) 

• There are not enough specialist services in NS, community based and 

accommodation with support options, such as supported living and extra care 

housing for a range of different groups, including people with substance 

misuse issues. ECH does not always take people that would benefit due to 

age and other reasons. More specialist dementia support and support for 

carers is needed (both community and residential based). 

• Grant funding can be precarious for providers; uncertainty can affect planning. 

• There is a lack of support options for people in NS who have autism, but not a 

learning disability - BASS and People First are able to support, but People 

First traditionally support people with LD or difficulty (diagnosed or not). 

• Colleagues have expressed a need for more marketplace flexibility to meet 

outcomes for people.  

 

North Somerset Council Strategies 
There are many strategies that are inherently linked to adult social care. All our 

strategies can be found on our website www.n-somerset.gov.uk  

Housing / Housing with Support / Connecting Lives 

Our Housing Strategy (2022-2027) has priorities that are linked to social care 

including ‘identifying and meeting the individual housing needs of our more 

vulnerable residents’, which is aligned with some people who will be using 

commissioned services in social care. More people able to access and sustain 

independent living is another priority of our housing strategy which is linked to our 

commissioning strategy. Domestic abuse features within the housing strategy, which 

is an ASC commissioned service and support for survivors of domestic abuse to find 

Page 179

http://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/


  

72 

 

and sustain tenancies is a commitment in the housing strategy. Having a better 

understanding of access to accommodation needs and support to meet housing need 

is linked to the older people’s housing needs assessment, and housing with support 

strategy, which will be used to inform planning of new accommodation, such as extra 

care. There is seemingly a gap between supported and general needs housing. 

Support for older and disabled people to live independently is a theme that supports 

our vision for ASC for people to live as independently as possible, maximising 

independence, as well as adhering to the White Paper People at the heart of care 

(2021) in relation to social care reform. Did you know that 46% of HomeChoice 

applicants found themselves or a member of their household as having a mental or 

physical disability in February 2022? Complex issues including mental health and/or 

drug and alcohol misuse can lead to tenancy failure, which would make worse other 

problems. There is a North Somerset Drug and Alcohol Partnership action plan, 

which sets out plans for substance misuse and housing, including prison leavers. 

Alternative options for housing such as shared lives (older and younger people living 

together) and encourage landlords to rent to people with complex issues will help to 

resolve some of the social and economic problems people who have social care 

needs face. Shared lives have a part to play, along with Homeshare, a scheme 

where unrelated people share not only a home, but their lives, which are often 

mutually beneficial. As well as mutual support being offered, Homeshare enables the 

homeowner to receive support with shopping, household tasks, childcare, dog 

walking and companionship itself often delays the need for social care and mitigates 

social isolation that older people can often experience. The benefit for the person 

who moves in is low cost or free housing in exchange for their support and 

companionship, which can be a wonderful use of resources – the home itself and 

sharing accommodation helps to reduce carbon emissions as well as being a solution 

to the cost of and shortage of housing. Homeshare is a model across the world and 

there are programmes which match people. These programmes are in line with our 

increasing independence agenda and enabling people to live at home for longer. It is 

usually older people who open up their homes, but it can be anyone with a spare 

room who needs some support and/or companionship. 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://homeshareuk.org/


  

73 

 

Voluntary, Community and Faith Based / Coproduction  

Many of the points raised through engagement are picked up by other areas of work, 

for example the Policy and Partnerships Team and are developing a voluntary, 

community and faith-based strategy, in line with the Empowering Communities 

Strategy. There is much being done on a grassroots level in NS that can help to take 

the pressure off commissioned services at an early intervention stage, but it is 

capturing that information and more importantly sharing with our communities that is 

key. The North Somerset Together partnership has done a lot of work with 

community groups, but more joined up working is needed to ensure commissioned 

services are not duplicating and are being used as effectively as possible.  

Health and Wellbeing / Mental Health / Loneliness and Isolation / Food / Substance 

Misuse / Physical Activity 

As we have seen from the JSNA and health more widely, loneliness and social 

isolation are a factor in poor health, which can lead to an increased need for 

commissioned services. The health and wellbeing strategy, loneliness and social 

isolation strategy, food strategy (food insecurity in NS), mental health strategy and 

physical activity strategy, all align to the idea that health and social care 

commissioning cannot be done in isolation. Employment, physical and mental health, 

housing, and many other factors influence the complex relationship between poor 

health and reliance upon services. Physical activity throughout the life course, as well 

as a focus on reducing inequalities can help to maximise health and wellbeing long 

term. The JSNA document needs to be kept up-to-date and used to inform better 

planning for services and support across a variety of needs. As we know from our 

health colleagues, prevention is better than cure, thus the work of the early 

intervention and prevention lead must remain linked in with commissioning.  

 

Commissioning should not be an activity that is done away from operations and 

those with lived experience, rather done with. Coproduction is an area that forms part 

of our ASC practice framework. The strategy and policy team are developing a 

coproduction strategy and choice in care policy. Public Health commission 

community drug and alcohol services in North Somerset, including We are With You. 

Page 181

https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/north-somerset-together


  

74 

 

There is also a BNSSG wide trauma-informed action plan, which NSC will have a 

part to play in delivering. 

Occupational Therapy / Technology Enabled Care 

We need to be mindful that occupational therapy (OT) is considered as much as 

social work; an occupational therapy strategy is being written which shares many 

overarching principles. A crucial point for residential reablement for OTs 

(occupational therapists) to work from one base, optimising moving and handling 

(single handed care) and a formalisation of the trusted assessment model, linking in 

with providers to further learning and development. Closer working relationships 

between OT and reablement would help to support positive risk taking. The 

equipment in care home policy promotes understanding between managers of care 

homes, health and social care commissioners and operational staff, NS Integrated 

Community Equipment Services (ICES) and other parties interested in the provision 

of equipment in care homes. There is a TEC Strategy and improved outcomes have 

been seen from the reablement and TEC pathway, such as carers are being invested 

in for Home First Transfer of Care Hubs (TOCH).  

Carers 

Unpaid carers, often spouses, or family members who are supporting their loved 

ones with many tasks, are an integral part of adult social services and this 

commissioning strategy and can really embed the maximising independence agenda. 

The rate of unpaid care is extremely high and the impact upon commissioned 

services if carers were not supported in their caring role would be huge. There is a 

NS Carers Strategy, however, research undertaken, includes a Healthwatch report 

(2022) on carers from minority groups in NS, whereby participants did not view 

themselves as carers. There are millions of unpaid carers in England that we know 

of, aged over 65. There are also many young carers and carers of working age that 

support social care systems. 

Direct Payments  

DPs can pay for Personal Assistant’s, which can help to meet ASC demand, as well 

as being ideal where people want more choice and control over their care and 

Page 182

https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf


  

75 

 

support. Micro-providers may be helpful for providers who struggle to pick up rural 

packages of care.  

 

12. Climate Emergency 
In 2019 we declared a climate emergency with the aim to become a net zero council 

and area by 2030. In November 2022 we have developed a refreshed Climate 

Emergency Action Plan, that sets out our key priorities. The way we commission our 

services has an important part to play in the way we do business, and our 

Procurement Strategy has climate action at heart. Therefore, we are keen to work 

with contractors who are encouraging greener choices such us reducing 

organisational carbon footprint, shifting to renewable energy, rewilding, waste 

minimisation. Specific questions around climate change are now being asked in 

tenders, for example the Support to Live at Home contract for homecare.  

 

NS are leading the way with optimising technology enabled care, including Alexa’s 

and acoustic monitoring which keeps people connected with others virtually. We 

have provided strategic providers with e-bikes. Our aim is to go further and supply 

electric vehicle pool car access to our contractors as part of a block contract. This 

arrangement will support ‘Home First’, whereby support is received for up to 6 weeks 

after hospital discharge. The £1.2m Innovation Grant was bid for by 7 care homes for 

solar panels and 7 care homes for heating/energy efficiency to improve properties. 

 

If you have any ideas about how we can influence the climate emergency in the 

commissioning of our services, please do let us know, no one claims to have all the 

answers and we can only affect change by working together. If you are interested in 

finding out more about council’s plan to tackle climate emergency and how your 

organisation can contribute towards it, please contact the Climate Emergency team 

at Climate.Emergency@n-somerset.gov.uk   

 

13. Procurement and Social Value  
Commissioners work with strategic procurement to get the best value out of 

commissioning arrangements, considering climate change and support for the local 

Page 183

https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/North%20Somerset%20climate%20emergency%20action%20plan.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-02/North%20Somerset%20climate%20emergency%20action%20plan.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/business/tenders-procurement/procurement-strategy/our-procurement-strategy
mailto:Climate.Emergency@n-somerset.gov.uk


  

76 

 

economy, in line with the Social Value Policy 2022. Social care is acknowledged as 

running in a perfect storm of underfunding, staffing shortages and ever-increasing 

demand. These markets work very differently from other markets and require a level 

of intervention and support to existing providers that do not always fit with traditional 

procurement approaches, which is reflected in the direction of travel of the NHS 2021 

reforms. The NHS reforms are likely to place a strong emphasis on partnerships, 

collaboration and integration, care providers are expected to play their part in these 

developments as are commissioners and it is important that commissioning plans 

reflect this policy change.  

 

ASC commissioning/procurement presents a unique challenge because good 

procurement of care services has more of a focus on the individuals that services are 

supplied for, a personalised approach to procurement is also needed. The market for 

ASC is relatively ‘horizontal’ – commissioning and procurement approaches must 

show the importance of creating and keeping a diverse and proper market through 

which commissioners and people who have a personal budget have a choice of 

quality services to buy. This is an important requirement of commissioners under the 

Care Act 2014. The need to consider social care requirements differently in proving 

corporate requirements is recognised in the LGA’s National Procurement Strategy for 

Health and Social Care Services, accompanied by a range of tools for use by LAs 

which are intended to reflect the intent of the Care Act 2014, the Children and 

Families Act 2014 and Integrated Commissioning for Better Outcomes (2018). 

 

14. Commissioning Intentions 
Where we are going over the next 7 years strategically, should be evidence based – 

upon census data and demand modelling (see Demographics and Needs Analysis 

section), as well as coproduced with people, and their families and carers. Our 

demographic information and what this will look like will inform our MPS, building 

upon our market sustainability plan. For older people, focussing on a range of 

suitable accommodation options is significant and ties into the housing with support 

strategy. Extra care housing (ECH) is being utilised as an option for many older 

people, which will have a knock-on effect to our residential care home market, as 

Page 184

https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2022-08/North%20Somerset%20Council%20Social%20Value%20Policy.pdf


  

77 

 

ECH enables people to remain more independent, even when they have care and 

support needs. The market for care homes ideally needs to diversify, there is a gap 

for learning disability and mental health focussed supported living and care homes in 

NS, evidenced by mental health teams placing out of county to move people from 

hospital units, as being placed away from NS can cause issues when people settle, 

but do not have a local connection. However, the data to evidence this needs to be 

strengthened to inform our commissioning practices. 

 

Moving forward, key themes will be developing individual services to support specific 

areas, such as learning disability and mental health, specialist nursing care for 

complex dementia, as well as a range of several types of accommodation to meet 

unique needs, including extra care housing, supported living and lower end mental 

health, and learning disability placements. As per our ASC practice framework, 

commissioned services need to align to a Home First approach to maximise 

independence; be relationship based; person centred; promote positive risk raking; 

be trauma informed, and evidence based. We have come a long way from 

commissioning on inputs and outputs and are moving to outcomes and approaches, 

which are much better for individuals with care and support needs. We publish 

annually a commissioning intentions report, which is on the Forward Plan. 

 

Our commissioning intentions have been cross referenced to the action plan using 

themes in the ‘Area/Theme’ column. Please note they will not be in the same order 

below, as actions have been grouped according to short, medium and long-term 

priorities in the action plan and more generally by support area below. 

 

Early Intervention & Prevention, Community & Voluntary Sector Support (EI) 
i. Increase tailored community-based approaches to health and wellbeing, as 

well as preventative services. Link strengths-based approaches to the Better 

Health offer to prevent escalation of social care needs, Empowering 

Communities Strategy, Carers Strategy and Volunteering Strategy, which will 

connect communities to become more collaborative and resilient. Community-

based strengths will help people to draw on their own resources, be it family, 

Page 185



  

78 

 

friends, and/or in communities. People with higher levels of wellbeing should 

remain heathier for longer, as per the Care Act wellbeing principle. 

ii. Reablement in the community will be developed to keep and promote 

independence and ideally delay or prevent other forms of ASC being needed. 

iii. Increase the number of sessions of Alive meeting centres in the south of the 

district or increase other daycare opportunities. 

iv. We will review some grants where proper and in consultation with providers, 

as grant funded projects can be difficult to plan for longer term. Contracts 

might be better for some, to remove uncertainty for providers and people who 

use services. 

  

Market Position Statement and Quality Assurance (MPS) 
i. Adult Social Services has a Quality Monitoring Team that undertakes quality 

monitoring and assurance of providers in the social care sector, including 

domiciliary care, nursing and residential care homes. The Quality Assurance 

Framework (QAF) is currently under development to ensure quality provision 

in North Somerset. 

ii. In collating our market position statement, we will provide up-to-date 

information on supply/demand which will help with our Care Act Market 

management duties.  

iii. Information on our market can be utilised by providers to inform where they 

might like to set up to meet care and support needs in NS, as well as further 

across the southwest. 

 

Homecare/Domiciliary Care (DOM) 
i. Further strengthen support available to homecare providers in terms of 

recruitment, retention, and training. This can be offered through various 

sources of support; fee increases utilising grants, the Proud to Care Campaign 

and learning and development support to help staff teams find gaps to support 

knowledge and skills in being able to supply more robust/diverse specialist 

services. This is relevant across all areas in our Commissioning Intentions. 

 

Page 186



  

79 

 

Accommodation with Care and Support (HWS) 
i. Development of different accommodation models will be helpful to meet 

housing needs, including supported living for people with various needs who 

may have carers, and able to share carer resource (learning disability, mental 

health and/or physical and sensory disabilities), or for homeless people. 

ii. Extra care housing provision has been provided this year from an extension to 

an existing scheme, but we would like to accelerate new provision, including a 

feasibility study commissioned to look at options including in-house delivery.  

iii. Supported housing future developments will be TEC focussed. 

iv. Joined up working between us, government, and providers of housing to plan 

supported housing development to meet needs, including a focus on under 

occupancy (see Housing with Support Strategy and LDAHN report 2023).  

v. We are considering developing a framework for developers to join to maximise 

the right provision, particularly for accommodation with support requirements. 

 

Care Homes (nursing and residential) (CH) 
i. Improvement of care home environments. Sources of funding, governmental 

and other grants, will continue to be on our radar. 

ii. Support diversification across a range of client groups, tied into our market 

position statement and capacity plan (2023). We need more specialist 

provision for complex and high-level needs including nursing and dementia 

care, so they are available at the right time for people who need them. 

 

Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment (PD/SI) 
i. Increase suitable accommodation and support options for people with a 

physical disability in North Somerset. Includes respite options where people 

may have a PD/SI, particularly for under 65-year-olds who are being placed 

out of county and/or inappropriately in care homes.  

ii. We will review how we support people into paid work in North Somerset who 

may have a disability. 

iii. Ensure commissioned services are available for digitally excluded people, due 

to a high prevalence of people with VI not able to access the internet. 

 

Page 187



  

80 

 

Learning Disability and/or Autism (LD/A) 
i. Development of more specialist services locally with a focus on supported 

living/housing and support for individuals with learning disabilities and/or 

autism and/or mental health conditions. This may include developing of a 

housing developer dynamic purchasing system. A range of different 

accommodation models may need to be utilised at different points for people 

with support needs and carers.  

ii. Improve Pathways to Adulthood as a programme to prepare young people into 

more independence, as well as exploring models of service delivery to be 

more outcome focused, including development of a micro-provider market.  

iii. We will review how we support people into paid work in North Somerset who 

may have a disability. 

iv. Individual Service Funds (ISFs)/Transforming Care will find gaps to support 

transitions and people in services to live independently, such as using positive 

behavioural support programme (PBS)/Flourishing lives projects. 

v. Promote up to date communication channels for community-based activities.  

vi. Support increased capacity of providers to meet care and support needs with 

the Proud to Care campaign and other initiatives.  

Transitions (TRA) 
i. Development of a range of accommodation models to fit the needs of the 

population transitioning to adult services from children’s, with learning 

disabilities and/or autism, and/or physical and/or sensory impairments.  

ii. To work closely with children’s services and Education Partnerships to ensure 

better outcomes for young people who are transitioning to adult services, 

including the provision of information and advice. 

iii. We will review how we support people into paid work in North Somerset who 

may have a disability. 

 

Mental Health (MH) 
i. Development of a range of accommodation models to fit the needs of the 

population, including people with substance misuse and complex needs. 

Residential homes are not always right and there are few other options due to 

the lack of one bed properties that people can afford.  

Page 188



  

81 

 

ii. Develop a range of multi-agency approaches for complexities such as self-

neglect and hoarding, as well as more options for people with autism. 

iii. We will review how we support people into paid work in North Somerset who 

may have a disability. 

 

Micro-providers, Direct Payments (DPs) and Personal Assistants (PAs) 
i. Growing the market for DPs may help to meet needs that providers cannot, 

especially low hours and if people live rurally, PA’s can collaborate with 

multiple people locally which saves transport costs. This market is key to 

working alongside commissioned ‘services’ to give more choice and control. 

ii. We will explore Individual Service Funds. Like DPs, ISFs can further strength-

based outcomes by provider management, rather than the person/or LA. 

 

Self-Funders (SF) 
i. NS has a substantial self-funder population that we will be required to 

undertake social work and financial assessments for, as well as put in place 

the care metering arrangements and commission services on their behalf. We 

are continuing to use Care Navigators to support self-funders to purchase 

homecare directly, building on the use of technology and continuing to work 

across interdependent markets.  

 

System Wide (SW) 
i. People with lived experience and their families and carers need to be at the 

centre of our work.  

ii. We will ensure we are working with our colleagues across adult social care, 

children’s social care, procurement, climate emergency, business intelligence, 

placemaking and growth and the wider ICB to meet our priorities collectively.  

 

Page 189



  

82 

 

15. Feedback and Accessibility 

Feedback 
We welcome complaints, compliments and comments from residents and other 
stakeholders, to help us shape our services.  If you wish to give any feedback, please 
contact: 

 

Complaints Manager  

North Somerset Council  

Town Hall  

Weston-super-Mare  

BS23 1UJ 

 

Accessibility 
All North Somerset Council documents can be made available in large print, audio, 
and other formats. Documents on our website can also be emailed as plain text files. 
Help is available for people who require council information in languages other than 
English. Please email asshsstrategyandpolicyteam@n-somerset.gov.uk or ring 
01934 888 888. 
 

 

 

Page 190

mailto:asshsstrategyandpolicyteam@n-somerset.gov.uk


 

 

16. Appendices 

Action Plan 2023/2024 (to be updated annually)   

Action Term Area/Theme Outcome Lead Officer(s) Date  

1. Launch a refreshed care homes contract for older 

people and specialist services including dementia, 

learning disability and mental health 

Short CH/LD/MH 

(CH) 

Consistency 

across NS in 

relation to fees 

and service 

delivery 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Team Manager 

Jan 

2024 

2. Develop and maintain our market position 

statement (MPS) for adult social care and support 

services 

Short All 

(MPS/QA) 

A published MPS • Strategy and Policy 

Development 

Officer 

March 

2024 

3. Develop and implement a regional and local 

approach to market sustainability, market failure, and 

ongoing improvement (includes fair fees/rates) 

• Annual fee review to be completed  

• Review of ‘who buys care homes’ in NS  

Short All  

(MPS/QA) 

A thriving and 

sustainable 

market; positive 

relationships; 

adherence to our 

Care Act 2014 

duties 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions  

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

• Head of Early 

Intervention and 

Prevention 

March 

2024 

P
age 191



  

84 

 

4. Implement Quality Assurance Framework by end of 

March 2024  

• To quality monitor all North Somerset based 
care homes and community care providers 
annually.  

• Set action plans where necessary and ensure 
effective monitoring for action completion. 

 

Short All 

(MPS/QA) 

Services are 

quality monitored 

and assured; we 

meet CQC ‘good’ 

standard for as 

many care homes 

and community 

care providers as 

possible whilst 

recognising QA 

will not by itself 

drive up homes’ 

standards to be 

‘good’ 

• Head of Early 

Intervention and 

Prevention  

• Quality Monitoring 

Manager 

March 

2024 

5. Ongoing support to providers around workforce 

development and recruitment. Local delivery plan to 

support ADASS international recruitment processes 

• Assist with Care Academy development, focus 

being on recruiting people  

• Develop and launch a health and social care 

ambassador scheme in partnership with ICB  

• Motivate staff to volunteer for the Health and 

Social Care Ambassador Programme 

Short All 

(DOM/CH/ 

LD/A) 

Improved 

recruitment and 

retention within 

support services 

• Proud to Care 

Project Lead  

• Learning and 

Development 

Officer 

March 

2024 

P
age 192



  

85 

 

• Take on 100 staff members offering 3 hours 

per month to the programme  

• Deliver over 200 schools engagement 

activities over 12 months (Oct 2023-2024) 

In relation to social media: 

• 20% increase to number of enquiries coming 

through the Proud to Care inbox  

• 20% increase to number of people following 

Proud to Care social media pages  

• 20% increase to people attending Proud to 

Care events due to our social media page 

6. Ongoing support to providers around workforce 

development and training to develop outcomes 

focussed, strengths-based commissioning practices  

• Visit 2 services a week to assess need(s) 

• 80% of providers to have been met to establish 

training needs and support providers 

appropriately 

Short All 

(DOM/CH/ 

LD/A) 

Our services 

have people’s 

wellbeing at their 

centre; CQC 

provider rating 

improvements 

whilst recognising 

that workforce 

development and 

training will not 

drive these up in 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer  

• Learning and 

Development 

Officer  

• Proud to Care 

Project Lead 

March 

2024 

P
age 193



  

86 

 

isolation; Care 

Academy delivery 

7. Skills pipeline work with the Place directorate and 

Economy Team specifically around their work on 

supporting various groups of people into employment, 

with a focus on the social care workforce in North 

Somerset  

• Closer alignment of digital developments in 

social care with the growth of the wider digital 

economy. 

Short All 

(DOM/LD/A) 

Cross directorate 

working to ensure 

maximised 

opportunities for 

the future 

workforce within 

social care 

• Learning and 

Development 

Officer  

• Proud to Care Lead 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning  

• Head of Economy 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions  

• Head of Service 

Development  

• Care Providers 

March 

2024 

8. Increase preventative services such as 

reablement, wellness, homecare, and TEC to keep 

people at home for longer in line with a Home First 

approach. 

• TEC Strategy to be written and rolled out 

• Commissioning of TEC projects/pilots in 

2023/2024: 

Short All 

(EI) 

TEC is 

commissioned 

appropriately and 

confidently by 

social care 

workers to meet 

Care Act eligible 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions; 

• Head of Service 

Development  

March 

2024 

P
age 194



  

87 

 

o 400 Acoustic monitoring units to 7 care homes  

o 1000 Vayyar units to 500 residents  

o 25 Technicare fit bits across BNSSG (including 

18 to Healthy Lifestyles Team) 

o 90 whzan digital-health units to be distributed 

across the BNSSG 

o 40 Genie units to be rolled out across NS 

needs; delay 

admission to 

hospital; 

decrease costs of 

care packages; 

increase carers’ 

confidence in 

meeting the 

person they care 

for needs; More 

people to stay as 

independent as 

possible and stay 

home for longer 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

9. Develop and deliver projects to support people to 

live at home, in their communities, for people with 

unexpected behaviours  

• Commission a positive behavioural support 

programme in NS 

Short LD 

(LD/A) 

More people who 

can live at home 

with support if 

they wish 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer 

March 

2024 

10. Recommission Pathways to adulthood/respite 

service(s) for learning and physical disabilities 

Short LD/PD 

(LD/A) 

People can have 

a break when 

needed 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer 

March 

2024 

P
age 195



  

88 

 

11. Research Housing Bill changes to understand 

implications for us, people who use care and support 

services, and providers 

Short All 

(HWS) 

To maximise 

opportunities and 

ensure 

compliance with 

legislation 

• Accommodation 

Change Manager 

• Accommodation 

Change Officer 

March 

2024 

12. Ensure NS Online Directory, NSOD (and its 

successor) and public website is up to date on NSC 

commissioned services  

• Refresh quarterly, or as needed if more 

frequently 

Short All 

(EI) 

Increased 

awareness for 

people who may 

need support 

services 

• Proud to Care 

Project Lead 

On-

going 

13. Ongoing communication with social work teams, 

providers, and the public, about up-to-date available 

commissioned care and support services 

• Increase attendance at Provider Forum - 2 

providers per quarter 

• Attendance at Team Meetings – 1 per quarter 

Short All 

(CH/SW) 

Increased 

awareness for 

signposting to 

support services; 

providers to work 

collaboratively 

with us  

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Team Manager 

On-

going 

14. Strengthen climate emergency priorities within 

commissioning practices and promote preventative 

measures with providers  

• Climate will continue to be considered in all 

policy, procedure, specifications and tender 

documents 

Short All 

(SW) 

To support the 

climate 

emergency 

response as an 

ongoing concern 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

On-

going  

P
age 196



  

89 

 

15. Develop and improve data collection processes to 

support future needs projections and service planning 

and delivery 

• Commissioning performance data to be 

represented in a BI Dashboard  

• Commit to local and regional analysis which 

will identify our cost profile and target 

resources more efficiently 

Short/ 

Mediu

m 

All 

(SW) 

Services are 

evidence based 

and meet NS 

residents’ needs 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

March 

2024 

16. Review Commissioning Strategy action plan with 

people using services, parents, carers, and/or 

families. Link to Coproduction Policy in development 

Short/ 

Mediu

m 

All 

(SW) 

Annual review to 

ensure our 

priorities are 

outcomes 

focussed 

• Accommodation 

Officer  

• Participation and 

Engagement Officer 

On-

going 

17. Review how we support people into work who 

may have a disability 

• Joint working with the Economy Team around 

their work on supporting various groups of 

people into employment  

• Investigate how employment is discussed with 

people as part of support planning 

Short/ 

Mediu

m 

PD/SI/LD/A/ 

MH 

 

(PD/SI/LA/A

/MH) 

Everyone is given 

a fair chance to 

find paid work in 

North Somerset 

• Learning and 

Development 

Officer 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer  

• Head of Locality 

Teams  

On-

going 

P
age 197



  

90 

 

• Head of Mental 

Health & Learning 

Disability  

• Head of Economy 

18. To develop a complex care / specialist care 

framework to improve service provision specifically to 

meet the more complex and challenging needs of 

individuals  

Short/ 

Mediu

m 

LD/MH 

(LD/A/MH)  

Appropriate 

range of support 

options to be 

available for 

people 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer 

March 

2024 

19. Disaggregate the Transforming Care Section 256 

funding envelope held by Bristol City, to support 

commissioning intentions in North Somerset for the 

specific cohort of clients and wider planning.  

Mediu

m 

LD 

(SW) 

Appropriate 

range of support 

options to be 

available for 

people 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions  

Jan 

2024 

20. Identify, as part of the refreshed TEC strategy, the 

opportunity to target TEC interventions as part of the 

transition to adulthood   

Mediu

m 

LD  

(TRA) 

Appropriate 

range of support 

options to be 

available for 

people 

• Head of Service 

Development 

March 

2024 

21. To review the process around accessible 

accommodation and undertake an audit of accessible 

accommodation available 

Mediu

m 

All 

(HWS) 

A range of 

suitable housing 

options will be 

available for 

• Accommodation 

Change Officer 

• Accommodation 

Change Manager 

On-

going 

P
age 198



  

91 

 

people to choose 

what type of 

accommodation 

suits them 

• Assistant Director 

Placemaking and 

Growth 

22. We will ensure that all specific grants and central 

government funding targeted at care providers are 

allocated in full 

• Maximise effectiveness of monies distributed 

and provider implementation 

Mediu

m 

All 

(SW) 

Grant money and 

funding is well 

spent and 

accounted for 

appropriately. 

Long term plan 

using earmarked 

govt funds to 

address issues 

identified from the 

Fair Cost of Care 

exercise 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

On-

going 

23. Improve integrated systems and collaborative 

working within NSC, and across health and social 

care (BNSSG ICP) at a system and locality level 

• To represent commissioning within ASS&H at 

appropriate boards, panels, and groups 

• Commit to joint commissioning coterminous to 

locality partnership boundaries; to maximise 

Mediu

m 

All 

(SW) 

Less duplication 

of resources, 

improved 

experience(s) for 

people within 

health and social 

care  

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

On-

going 

P
age 199



  

92 

 

our opportunities, including system priorities 

such as Home First and D2A 

24. Contribute to multi-agency approaches to 

complex service delivery (such as safeguarding from 

a commissioning perspective) 

Mediu

m 

MH/SG 

(SW) 

Appropriate 

range of support 

options to be 

available for 

people 

• Head of Mental 

Health and Learning 

Disabilities 

• Safeguarding Adults 

Manager 

On-

going 

25. Work with Place to determine the appropriate 

model for bidding as Investment Partner for the 

Affordable Homes Programme, utilising strategic and 

operational housing needs to bid for bespoke 

specialist housing to meet vulnerable adults and 

complex homelessness needs 

Mediu

m/Lon

g 

All 

(SW) 

A range of 

suitable housing 

options will be 

available for 

people to choose 

what type of 

accommodation 

suits them 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Assistant Director 

Placemaking and 

Growth 

March 

2024 

26. Increase and co-develop/commission more 

specialist services based on needs analysis and what 

people tell us they need 

• Use eConsult to gather local intelligence 

• Utilise Engagement Officer to engage people 

with lived experience and their families/carers 

for commissioning 

Long All 

(SW) 

Support is 

available for 

people when they 

need it 

• Accommodation 

Change Officer 

• Accommodation 

Change Manager 

• Contracts & 

Commissioning 

Officer(s) 

On-

going 

P
age 200



  

93 

 

27. Continued work with providers to ensure unpaid 

carers have support to carry on in their caring roles.  

• Development and roll out of a Carers Strategy 

in NS (March 2024) 

Long All 

(EI) 

Unpaid carers 

feel supported; 

there are fewer 

breakdowns of 

carer support 

• Contracts & 

Commissioning 

Officer(s) 

• Accommodation 

Change Officer 

On-

going 

28. Grow the micro-provider and PA market 

• PA register to be promoted/managed by 

Connecting Lives Direct Payment Coordinator 

• CLDPC to match people with PA’s using the 

register and specific recruitment 

• Training provided to social care staff and 

produce a good practice guide, enabling all 

practitioners to understand/give DP options 

• Recruitment and engagement will be prioritised 

where there is a lack of commissioned 

services 

• Check DCAW weekly for people who a DP 

may benefit and support to recruit a PA 

• CLDPC will engage with and create support 

networks for PA’s 

Long Homecare 

(DP/PA) 

More choice and 

take up of direct 

payments; 

Increase no. of 

PAs 

• Direct Payments 

Development 

Officer  

• Connecting Lives 

Direct Payment 

Coordinator 

• Brokerage Manager 

– Direct Payments 

On-

going 

29. Ensure Commissioning voice is influencing the 

determination of Joint Strategic Need Assessment, 

and future Health and Wellbeing Board Strategies 

Long  All 

(SW) 

Fulfilment of 

commissioning 

cycle, 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

On-

going 

P
age 201



  

94 

 

which are used to shape and determine 

commissioning plans  

engagement in 

corporate 

planning and 

needs 

assessments   

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

30. Implementation of the Better Care Plan 

performance and strategies, ensuring that 

commissioning arrangements support the delivery of 

the BCF and in particular the Hospital discharge and 

intermediate care plans  

Long All  

(SW) 

BCF Plan  

Hospital 

Discharge  

Joint 

Commissioning 

and pooled 

budgets  

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Contracts and 

Commissioning 

Officer 

On-

going 

31. Investigate Valuing People funds as an 

opportunity to improve commissioning capacity within 

LD to increase options for community and mental 

health support 

Long LD/MH 

(SW/LD/A/ 

MH) 

More flexibility for 

people to get 

what support they 

need, when, they 

need it 

• Head of Mental 

Health and Learning 

Disabilities  

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

On-

going 

32. Supported accommodation partnership to be set 

up and work collaboratively across housing, Liberata 

and landlords 

• Link to Housing Bill legislation changes 

(improving housing standards in supported 

living and ECH/housing with support) 

Long LD/MH 

(HWS) 

Partnership 

agreements and 

monitoring will be 

improved  

• Accommodation 

Change Manager 

• Accommodation 

Change Officer 

2025 

P
age 202



  

95 

 

33. Commission a report on strategic housing needs 

for people aged under 65 with specific reference to 

Learning Disability, Autism and Transforming Care 

cohort (this would complement the existing Older 

Persons Housing needs report completed in 2022 - 

2035 by the Housing Lin, and the current report being 

undertaken for ECH)  

Long PD/LD/A/ 

MH/ 

(SW) 

To inform future 

housing options 

and development  

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

March 

2024 

34. Develop/commission appropriate models of 

accommodation including specialist housing and 

accessible accommodation: see Housing with 

Support Strategy 

• Encourage future planning decisions 

• Repurpose housing stock (care homes) 

• Link with Place Directorate and Housing  

Long LD/MH/ 

dementia 

(HWS) 

A range of 

suitable housing 

options will be 

available for 

people to choose 

what type of 

accommodation 

suits them 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Housing 

Solutions 

• Accommodation 

Change Manager 

On-

going 

35. Work with Procurement to agree annual 

commissioning and procurement plans to ensure 

procurement processes are appropriate for social 

care and adopt opportunities to demonstrate co- 

production and local delivery models.  

Long  All 

(SW) 

Annual 

Commissioning 

and procurement 

plans. 

 

 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

• Procurement 

Manager 

On-

going 

P
age 203



  

96 

 

36. Develop more local and/or BNSSG wide - 

specialist services offering support to people with 

LD/MH/dementia  

• Increase dementia specific support sessions or 

other daycare in NS 

Long LD/MH/ 

dementia 

(EI) 

Support will be 

available for 

people when they 

need it, without 

having to travel 

too far to access 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

On-

going 

37. Engagement with NSC colleagues and wider 

partners across health and BNSSG to develop the 

voluntary sector strategy 

Long Vol. and 

community 

based 

(EI) 

Value for Money, 

efficiency, and 

effectiveness; 

improved working 

practices to meet 

whole system 

priorities  

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Business 

Insight, Policy and 

Partnerships  

On-

going 

38. Work with the libraries service to ensure that via 

digital or other means recipients of care services can 

access these services to maximise independence 

and wellbeing 

 

Long All (SW) Increased 

independence 

and wellbeing by 

people being able 

to access Library 

based services 

• Assistant Director, 

Commissioning, 

Partnerships and 

Housing Solutions 

• Head of Strategy 

and Commissioning 

• Head of Service 

Development 

• Head of Libraries 

and Community 

March 

2024 

P
age 204



 

 

Glossary of Terms 
Action Plan A proposed strategy or course of action. 
Autism Also referred to as autism spectrum disorder (ASD), autism 

constitutes a diverse group of conditions related to 
development of the brain (World Health Organisation). 

Adult Social 
Services 

In this context referring to services provided by the 
government (local and national) for the benefit of those over 
the age of 18 who may have ‘Eligible Care Needs’ in the 
context of Social Care, but also more widely in terms of 
information and guidance that might be provided in terms of 
accessing services, for example to benefit older people, or 
who may be vulnerable due to a disability. Promotion of 
welfare is fundamental. 

Best Value A Duty on councils to consider overall value – including social 
value – when considering service provision, so it plays to the 
long-term strengths of voluntary and community groups and 
small businesses. 

Carbon Neutral To offset carbon usage, for example by planting trees or 
adopting other greener and sustainable ways of living. 

Care Act 2014 An Act of Parliament to help improve people’s independence 
and wellbeing relating to care and support for adults and 
support for Carers as well as placing responsibilities upon 
Local Authorities for ensuring a diverse care market. It makes 
clear that local authorities must provide or arrange services 
that help prevent people developing needs for care and 
support or delay people deteriorating that they need ongoing 
care and support. 

CIPFA CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy, is the professional body for people in public 
finance. There is a social care dataset as part of this which 
helps to establish a service delivery base, find efficiency gains 
that can be achieved and help to plan for future service 
delivery. 

Climate 
Emergency 

The threat to the future of life on Earth due to the 
consequences of global warning and climate change due to 
carbon emissions. There has been rising sea levels, increases 
in the core temperature of the Earth, all which will have and 
are currently having, disastrous impacts including 
displacement of people living in certain areas and flooding, to 
give just a few examples. 

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) were created 
following the Health and Social Care Act in 2012 and 
replaced primary care trusts on 1 April 2013. They were 
clinically led statutory NHS bodies responsible for the 
planning and commissioning of health care services for their 
local area. As of 1 April 2021, following a series of mergers, 
there were 106 CCGs in England. However, they were 
dissolved in July 2022 and their duties taken on by the new 
Integrated Care Systems (ICSs). (NHS Confederation) 

Page 205

https://www.nhsconfed.org/articles/what-are-clinical-commissioning-groups


  

98 

 

Commissioning The act of assessing needs of a population and putting in 
place services to meet those needs (NHS England). This could 
involve the planning for and procurement of services to meet 
needs, as well as ongoing monitoring of quality. 
Commissioning is often used in conjunction with Contracting, 
but that relates more to the steps a commissioner would take 
to ensure a Commissioned Service is set up correctly for 
example following Procurement Contract Regulations (2015). 

Community 
Fridge Network 

Community Fridges can be accessed by anyone locally who 
wants to share food, volunteer, or get involved with some of 
the other activities the group have to offer. Spaces in Weston. 
Portishead and Pill, to eat, connect and reduce food waste. 

Corporate Plan Sets out the Council’s Strategic aims and priorities for all 
departments over a set period (currently 2024-2028) 

Cost of Living 
crisis 

The ‘cost of living crisis refers to the fall in ‘real’ incomes that 
the UK has experienced since late 2021 (Institute for 
Government). 

Covid Pandemic Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is an infectious disease 
caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Most people infected with 
the virus will experience mild to moderate respiratory illness 
and recover without requiring special treatment. However, 
some will become seriously ill and require medical attention. 
Older people and those with underlying medical conditions like 
cardiovascular disease, diabetes, chronic respiratory disease, 
or cancer are more likely to develop serious illness. Anyone 
can get sick with COVID-19 and become seriously ill or die at 
any age (WHO).  

Direct Payments 
(DPs) 

If you or someone you care for, get help from social services, 
you can apply for direct payments. These let you choose and 
buy the services you need yourself, instead of getting them 
from your council (gov.uk). DPs promotes choice and control. 

Domestic Abuse A broad term of abuse of intimate partners or family members, 
which includes violence and intimidation, as well as economic 
abuse, coercive control, online, sexual, and emotional abuse. 

eConsult Council surveys via the website, where consultations are 
posted to obtain comments from the population in North 
Somerset. 

Equality Act 2010 A piece of legislation that brought many other strands of 
legislation into one Act of Parliament in relation to ensuring 
certain groups are not discriminated against based on 9 
protected characteristics including Disability and Age. There is 
a further duty on Local Authorities (The Public Sector Equality 
Duty) to have due regard to achieve the aims set out under 
s149 of the Equality Act 2010 to: 
(a) end discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 
2010; 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it; 

Page 206

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted#tab=tab_1


  

99 

 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it. 
To ensure transparency, and to aid in the performance of this 
duty, the Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties) Regulations 2011 
require public authorities, named on, to publish: 

• equality aims, at least every four years (from 6th 
April 2012) 

• information to show their compliance with the public 
sector equality duty (from 31st January 2012) 

Equality Impact 
Assessment  

A process which helps to ensure that protected groups of 
individuals have not been disadvantaged in some way by a 
policy, project, or scheme, as set out in the Equality Act 2010. 

Extra Care 
Housing 

A step up from Sheltered Housing, in that other support can be 
supplied for people, often older, who have support needs but 
want to remain living independently and not go into a 
residential care home. 

Fair Cost of Care 
/ Cost of Care 
Exercise 

Cost of care best describes the actual costs a care provider 
incurs in delivering care at the point in time that the exercise is 
undertaken. It is typically presented as a unit cost for an hour 
of domiciliary care or a bed per week in a care home. ‘Fair’ 
means the median actual operating costs for supplying care in 
the local area (following completion of a cost of care exercise) 
for a series of care categories. This must include and evidence 
values for return on capital and return on operations, and 
travel time for domiciliary care. Together this is what is 
described as the ‘fair cost of care’ and is, on average, what 
local authorities must move towards paying providers. 

• In the context of specific rates for care paid, fair means 
what is sustainable for the local market. 

• For providers, this means they will be able to cover the 
cost of care delivery and be able to make a reasonable 
profit (including re-investment in their business), surplus 
or meet their charitable aims. 

• For local authorities, it recognises the responsibility they 
have in stewarding public money, including securing 
best value for the taxpayer (gov.uk). 

Home First 
Approach / 
Discharge to 
Assess (D2A) 

Supplying short-term care and re-ablement in people’s homes 
or using ‘step-down’ beds to bridge the gap between hospital 
and home means people no longer need to wait unnecessarily 
for assessments in hospital. In turn this reduces delayed 
discharges and improves patient flow (Local Government 
Association). 

Index of Multiple 
Deprivation 

An index ranking small areas of the country from 1 (most 
deprived) to 32,844 (least deprived). These areas are known 
as Lower layer Super Output Areas and there are circa 1500 
residents in each LLSOA. 

Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) 

A statutory NHS organisation responsible for developing a plan 
for meeting the health needs of the population, managing the 
NHS budget, and arranging for the provision of health services 

Page 207



  

100 

 

in the ICS area. The establishment of ICBs resulted in clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs) being closed (NHS England). 

Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) 

A statutory committee jointly formed between the NHS 
Integrated Care Board and all upper-tier local authorities that 
fall within the ICS area. The ICP will bring together a broad 
alliance of partners concerned with improving the care, health, 
and wellbeing of the population, with membership determined 
locally. The ICP is responsible for producing an integrated care 
strategy on how to meet the health and wellbeing needs of the 
population in the ICS area (NHS England). 

Integrated Care 
System 

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) are partnerships of 
organisations that come together to plan and deliver joined up 
health and care services, and to improve the lives of people 
who live and work in their area (NHS England). 

Joint Strategic 
Needs 
Assessment 
(JSNA) 

A Public Health led report that sets out the Health and 
Wellbeing needs of a local community. Services are then 
commissioned appropriately to meet the needs identified in the 
JSNA. North Somerset’s was most recently updated in 2022. 

Learning 
Disability 

Affects the way someone understands information and can 
communicate. It is estimated that 1.5 million people have a 
learning disability in the UK (Mencap). Problems can arise with 
learning new skills, living independently and understanding 
and retaining information. Many more people have a Learning 
Difficulty, which is not necessarily diagnosed but can still 
impact upon someone’s day-to-day life. 

Local 
Government 
Association 

The LGA (Local Government Association) is the national 
membership body for local authorities, and we work on behalf 
of our member councils to support, promote and improve local 
government (LGA). 

Market Position 
Statement (MPS) 

A document produced by a commissioning authority that 
outlines the support and care services people need and how 
they need them to be provided; the support and services 
available, what is not available but needs to be; what support 
and care services the council thinks people will need in the 
future; what the future of care and support will be like locally, 
how it will be funded and purchased; as well as how 
commissioners want to shape the opportunities that will be 
available. The main aim of an MPS is to encourage 
commissioners, people who use services, carers, and provider 
organisations to work together to explain what care services 
and support is needed in the area and why (Think Local Act 
Personal/TLAP). 

Market 
Sustainability 
Plan (MSP) 

Councils were required to publish a final MSP by March 2023, 
which was returned to the Department of Health and Social 
Care (DHSC). Reviewing the returns will support DHSC’s 
understanding of key issues facing 65+ residential and 18+ 
domiciliary care in different LA areas. In turn this will help 
DHSC to understand market sustainability and risk with 
regards to services and will be used to help inform future 
policy making. 

Page 208



  

101 

 

Micro Provider / 
Micro Providers 

In many ways, micro-providers in social care embody 
personalisation. Typically employing no more than five staff, 
they are often run by disabled people, provide something 
different to traditional care options and their small-scale can 
enable them to offer a more personalised service than larger 
providers (Community Care). 

North Somerset 
Council 

A small Unitary Local Authority in the Southwest of England 
which has boundaries with Bristol, Somerset, and Bath and 
Northeast Somerset. The Council are responsible for public 
health, as well as social care functions, alongside other 
services for business and local people. 

Personal 
Assistant (PAs) 

PAs usually support individuals in their own home or to go out 
in the community. You can be employed directly by an 
individual. You can be employed directly by one employer or 
work for several different people (Skills for Care). 

Policy In this strategy refers to a course of action adopted by an 
organisation or individual e.g. An Assessment Policy. 

Public/Community 
Living Rooms 

Community living rooms help provide a safe, welcoming, and 
non-judgemental space for people to be together to stay warm. 

Sheltered 
Housing / 
Accommodation 

Accommodation designed specifically for older people and 
people who may have additional needs which enables them to 
continue living independently. There may be pull cords and a 
Warden or Scheme Manager available, usually based ‘off site.’ 

Social Policy As well as being the study of how societies meet needs and 
respond to global challenges in relation to social, economic 
and demographic changes and the role of the family, 
governments and other organisations in relation to many areas 
including health, social care and housing, in this strategy social 
policy refers to the government response, such as by issuing 
legislation and grants to help meet social care needs. 

Stakeholder An involved group or individuals who may be affected in some 
way by an organisation’s activity. For this Commissioning 
Strategy providers, social work colleagues, Care recipients 
and Carers were all considered to be stakeholders. 

Strategy A plan of action designed to achieve a long term or overall 
aim. 

Supported 
Housing / 
Accommodation 

Where housing with support and/or care is provided to those 
who live there. This could be older people, people with mental 
health issues, or people with a learning disability. If the 
Supported Housing / Accommodation is Exempt, it means that 
they can claim money from Housing Benefit to cover the extra 
costs of providing the support alongside the housing 
management e.g., they are a charity. 

Sustainable 
Market 

A sustainable market has a sufficient supply of services but 
with provider entry and exit, investment, innovation, choice for 
people who draw on care, and sufficient workforce supply. It 
also refers to a market which runs efficiently and effectively, 
linked to the market shaping duty placed on local authorities 
under section 5 of the Care Act 2014. 

Page 209

https://www.communitycare.co.uk/
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Home.aspx


  

102 

 

Unpaid Carers A carer is anyone who cares, unpaid, for a friend or family 
member who due to illness, disability, a mental health problem 
or an addiction cannot cope without their support (Carers 
Trust). 

References 
Allan, S., Roland, D., Malisauskaite, G., Jones, K., Baxter, K., Gridley, K., & Birks, 
Y. (2021). The influence of home care supply on delayed discharges from 
hospital in England. ‘BMC Health Services Research,’ 21(1), 1– 11, available at: 
https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-021-07206-5  
 
Autism Act (2009) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/15/contents  
 
Care Act 2014 available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted 
 
Children and Families Act (2014) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted  
 
Community Care (2013) ‘The Social Workers guide to micro-providers in social 
care’ available at: https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2013/06/10/the-social-workers-
guide-to-micro-providers-in-social-care/  
 
Department for Communities and Local Government (2015) ‘Best Value Statutory 
Guidance’, available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/408077/Revised_Best_Value_Statutory_Guidance_Consultation_Paper
__for_England___2_.pdf 
 
Department of Health (2010) ‘Valuing People Now: Summary Report March 2009 
- September 2010’ available at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/215891/dh_122387.pdf  
 
Department of Health and Social Care (2023), ‘Fair Cost of Care Exercise / 
Sustainable Market 2022 to 2023: Guidance’, available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-
care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-
2022-to-2023-guidance  
 
Department of Health and Social Care (2022) ‘Health and wellbeing boards: draft 
guidance for engagement (November 2022)’ available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-draft-
guidance-for-engagement  
 
Department of Health and Social Care (2022), ‘Health and social care Integration: 
joining up care for people, places and populations’, available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-
joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations  

Page 210

https://carers.org/
https://carers.org/
https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-021-07206-5
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2013/06/10/the-social-workers-guide-to-micro-providers-in-social-care/
https://www.communitycare.co.uk/2013/06/10/the-social-workers-guide-to-micro-providers-in-social-care/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408077/Revised_Best_Value_Statutory_Guidance_Consultation_Paper__for_England___2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408077/Revised_Best_Value_Statutory_Guidance_Consultation_Paper__for_England___2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408077/Revised_Best_Value_Statutory_Guidance_Consultation_Paper__for_England___2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215891/dh_122387.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/215891/dh_122387.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-draft-guidance-for-engagement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-draft-guidance-for-engagement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations


  

103 

 

Department of Health and Social Care (2021) ‘People at the Heart of Care: adult 
social care reform’ (updated 2022) available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-
care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform  
 
Department of Health and Social Care (2021) ‘Valuing people: a new strategy for 
learning disability for the 21st century’, available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-people-a-new-strategy-for-
learning-disability-for-the-21st-century  
 
Department of Health and Social Care and Department of Education (2021) 
‘National Strategy for autistic children, young people and adults: 2021-2026’ 
available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-
autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026  
 
Department of Health and Social Care, Association of Directors Adults Social 
Services, Local Government Association, Think Local Act Personal, Care Providers 
Alliance (2018) ‘Integrated Commissioning for Better Outcomes, a 
commissioning framework’, available at: https://www.local.gov.uk/icbo  
 
Department for Work and Pensions, Disability Unit, Equality Hub (2021) ‘National 
Disability Strategy’ available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-disability-strategy  
 
Dementia UK (2014) ‘Update prepared by King’s College London and the 
London School of Economics for the Alzheimer’s Society’, available at: 
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/dementia-uk-report  
 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) /Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) 
available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-
safeguards-factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are  
 
Domestic Abuse Act 2021 available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted  
 
Equality Act 2010 available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents  
 
Equality Act 2010 Public Sector Equality Duty available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-equality-duty  
 
Gov.uk, ‘Apply for direct payments,’ available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enactedhttps://www.gov.uk/ap
ply-direct-payments  
 
Health and Care Act 2022 available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted  
 
Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations (2014) 
available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111117613/contents  

Page 211

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-people-a-new-strategy-for-learning-disability-for-the-21st-century
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/valuing-people-a-new-strategy-for-learning-disability-for-the-21st-century
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-strategy-for-autistic-children-young-people-and-adults-2021-to-2026
https://www.local.gov.uk/icbo
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-disability-strategy
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/about-us/policy-and-influencing/dementia-uk-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-safeguards-factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-safeguards-factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/17/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-equality-duty
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/apply-direct-payments
https://www.gov.uk/apply-direct-payments
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2022/31/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111117613/contents


  

104 

 

Health and Social Care Act (2012) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents  
 
Healthier Together (2022) ‘Our Future Health’, available at: 
https://bnssg.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/OurFutureHealth-Sept-2022-
1.pdf  
 
Healthwatch (2022) ‘Unheard Carers from Minority Groups in North Somerset’, 
available at: 
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/fi
les/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somers
et%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf  
 
Human Rights Act 1998 available at: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights/human-rights-act  
 
Institute for Government (2023), ‘Cost of Living Crisis’, available at: 
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/cost-living-crisis  
 
Learning Disability and Autism Housing Network (2023) ‘A lifeline for lifetime 
independence: Supported housing for people with learning disabilities and 
autistic people in England’ available at: 
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Report
s/LDAHN-Research-summary-062023-1.pdf   
 
Local Government Association, ‘Home First Approach / Discharge to Assess,’ 
available at: https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-
health-improvement/systems-resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess   
 
Local Government Association, ‘Who we are and what we do,’ available at: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/who-we-are-and-what-we-do  
 
Department of Health and Social Care (2023) ‘Market sustainability and fair cost 
of care fund 2022 to 2023’, available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-
care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-
2022-to-2023-guidance  
 
Mental Capacity Act (2005) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents  
 
Mental Health Act (1983) available at 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents  
 
Ministry of Defence (2021) ‘Armed Forces Bill’ available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/armed-forces-bill-2021  
 
Ministry of Defence (2002) ‘Armed Forces Covenant Duty Statutory Guidance’, 
available at: 

Page 212

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
https://bnssg.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/OurFutureHealth-Sept-2022-1.pdf
https://bnssg.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/OurFutureHealth-Sept-2022-1.pdf
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf
https://www.healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/sites/healthwatchnorthsomerset.co.uk/files/Unheard%20carers%20from%20minority%20groups%20in%20North%20Somerset%20-%20FINAL_0.pdf
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/human-rights/human-rights-act
https://www.instituteforgovernment.org.uk/explainer/cost-living-crisis
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Reports/LDAHN-Research-summary-062023-1.pdf
https://www.housinglin.org.uk/_assets/Resources/Housing/Support_materials/Reports/LDAHN-Research-summary-062023-1.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/systems-resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/our-improvement-offer/care-and-health-improvement/systems-resilience/overall-approach/discharge-to-assess
https://www.local.gov.uk/about/who-we-are-and-what-we-do
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance/market-sustainability-and-fair-cost-of-care-fund-2022-to-2023-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1983/20/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/armed-forces-bill-2021


  

105 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/1116148/Armed_Forces_Covenant_Duty_Statutory_Guidance.pdf  
 
New Economics Foundation (2008), ‘Five Ways to Wellbeing’, available at: 
https://neweconomics.org/2008/10/five-ways-to-wellbeing  
 
NICE Guidance ‘Various,’ available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance  
 
NHS Confederation (2021), ‘What are clinical commissioning groups’, available 
at: https://www.nhsconfed.org/articles/what-are-clinical-commissioning-groups  
 
NHS England, ‘Better Care Fund’ available at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/better-care-fund/  
 
NHS England, ‘What is Commissioning?’ available at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/what-is-commissioning/  
 
NHS England, ‘What is Integrated Care,’ available at: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/  
 
NHS Digital (2022) ‘Adult Social Care Activity and Finance Report England’, 
available at: https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-
social-care-activity-and-finance-report  
 
NHS Digital (2017) ‘Health Survey for England’, available at: 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-
england/health-survey-for-england-2016  
 
NHS UK (2019) ‘The NHS Long Term Plan’ available at: 
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/  
 
National Health Service, Social Care, Public Health (2010) ‘Care Quality 
Commission Regulations 2009’ available at: 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/2009_3112s-care-quality-commission-
regulations-2009.pdf  
 
North Somerset Council (2018) ‘People and Communities ‘Maximising 
Independence and Wellbeing the Vision for Adult Social Care’ available at: 
https://n-
somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Present
ation%20-
%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf 
 
North Somerset Council (2020), ‘Corporate Plan 2024-2028’, available at: https://n-
somerset.gov.uk  
 
North Somerset Council (2021), ‘Procurement Strategy 2021-2025’, available at: 
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-
10/30714%20Procurement%20Strategy%20ACC.pdf  
 

Page 213

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1116148/Armed_Forces_Covenant_Duty_Statutory_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1116148/Armed_Forces_Covenant_Duty_Statutory_Guidance.pdf
https://neweconomics.org/2008/10/five-ways-to-wellbeing
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance
https://www.nhsconfed.org/articles/what-are-clinical-commissioning-groups
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/better-care-fund/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/what-is-commissioning/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/adult-social-care-activity-and-finance-report
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2016
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/health-survey-for-england/health-survey-for-england-2016
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/2009_3112s-care-quality-commission-regulations-2009.pdf
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/2009_3112s-care-quality-commission-regulations-2009.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Presentation%20-%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Presentation%20-%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Presentation%20-%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Executive/201809041430/Agenda/10.1%20Presentation%20-%20Vision%20for%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20in%20North%20Somerset.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/30714%20Procurement%20Strategy%20ACC.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/30714%20Procurement%20Strategy%20ACC.pdf


  

106 

 

North Somerset Council (2022), ‘Annual Directorate Statement Adult Social 
Services 2022/2023’ available at: https://n-
somerset.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3628/7.2%20Adults%20Services%20Directo
rate%20Annual%20Diectorate%20Statement%202022-23.pdf  
 
North Somerset Council (2022), ‘Climate Emergency Action Plan’ available at:  
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-
03/31208%20Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan%20ACC.pdf  
 
North Somerset Council (2022) ‘Community Living Rooms’, available at: https://n-
somerset.gov.uk/my-services/north-somerset-together/community-living-rooms-north-
somerset  
 
North Somerset Council (2022) ‘Empowering Communities Strategy and Action 
Plan 2022-2024’, available at: https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-
03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%
20Plan%20LR.pdf  
 
North Somerset Council (2022), ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2022’, 
available at: https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-
data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care/joint-
strategic-needs-assessment-overview  
 
North Somerset Council and Better Health North Somerset (2023) ‘Get Active – a 
Physical Activity for North Somerset 2023-2038’ available at: Get Active – a 
Physical Activity Strategy for North Somerset | Better Health North Somerset 
(betterhealthns.co.uk) 
 
North Somerset Council (2023), ‘Adult Social Services Practice Framework: 
“Your Strengths, Your Rights, Your Goals”, available at: Strategy and Policy 
Governance Board - 31449 North Somerset Adult Practice Framework C.pdf - All 
Documents (sharepoint.com) 
 
North West Joint Improvement Partnership (2010), ‘How to Commission the Adult 
Social Care Workforce: a practical guide for commissioners’, available at: 
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/how-to-commission-the-adult-social-care-
workforce  
 
Office for Health Improvement and Disparities (2023) ‘A consensus on healthy 
ageing’, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-ageing-
consensus-statement/a-consensus-on-healthy-ageing   
 
Office for National Statistics (2022) How the Population Changed in North 
Somerset: Census 2021, available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E06000024/  
 
Office for National Statistics (2018) Demand for adult social care across counties 
and unitary authorities in England, available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthc

Page 214

https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3628/7.2%20Adults%20Services%20Directorate%20Annual%20Diectorate%20Statement%202022-23.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3628/7.2%20Adults%20Services%20Directorate%20Annual%20Diectorate%20Statement%202022-23.pdf
https://n-somerset.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s3628/7.2%20Adults%20Services%20Directorate%20Annual%20Diectorate%20Statement%202022-23.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31208%20Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan%20ACC.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31208%20Climate%20Emergency%20Action%20Plan%20ACC.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/north-somerset-together/community-living-rooms-north-somerset
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/north-somerset-together/community-living-rooms-north-somerset
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/my-services/north-somerset-together/community-living-rooms-north-somerset
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://www.n-somerset.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/31135%20Empowering%20Communities%20Strategy%20v2%20and%20Action%20Plan%20LR.pdf
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-overview
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-overview
https://n-somerset.gov.uk/council-democracy/north-somerset-insight-data-statistics/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-health-social-care/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-overview
https://www.betterhealthns.co.uk/information/get-active-strategy/
https://www.betterhealthns.co.uk/information/get-active-strategy/
https://www.betterhealthns.co.uk/information/get-active-strategy/
https://nsomerset.sharepoint.com/sites/StrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023%2F31449%20North%20Somerset%20Adult%20Practice%20Framework%20C.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023&p=true&wdLOR=cC727FEDB-3532-4B19-AD4C-0BE3CDDCE80B&ct=1687945562357&or=Outlook-Body&cid=29A325E1-347B-451E-97C5-4A3F8286399D&ga=1
https://nsomerset.sharepoint.com/sites/StrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023%2F31449%20North%20Somerset%20Adult%20Practice%20Framework%20C.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023&p=true&wdLOR=cC727FEDB-3532-4B19-AD4C-0BE3CDDCE80B&ct=1687945562357&or=Outlook-Body&cid=29A325E1-347B-451E-97C5-4A3F8286399D&ga=1
https://nsomerset.sharepoint.com/sites/StrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023%2F31449%20North%20Somerset%20Adult%20Practice%20Framework%20C.pdf&parent=%2Fsites%2FStrategyandPolicyGovernanceBoard%2FShared%20Documents%2FGeneral%2F5.%20Documents%20approved%20by%20gov%20board%20and%20sent%20to%20DLT%2FFeb%202023&p=true&wdLOR=cC727FEDB-3532-4B19-AD4C-0BE3CDDCE80B&ct=1687945562357&or=Outlook-Body&cid=29A325E1-347B-451E-97C5-4A3F8286399D&ga=1
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/how-to-commission-the-adult-social-care-workforce
https://ipc.brookes.ac.uk/publications/how-to-commission-the-adult-social-care-workforce
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-ageing-consensus-statement/a-consensus-on-healthy-ageing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-ageing-consensus-statement/a-consensus-on-healthy-ageing
https://www.ons.gov.uk/visualisations/censuspopulationchange/E06000024/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/articles/demandforadultsocialcareacrosscountiesandunitaryauthoritiesinengland/2018-12-18


  

107 

 

aresystem/articles/demandforadultsocialcareacrosscountiesandunitaryauthoritiesinen
gland/2018-12-18  
 
Procurement Contract Regulations (2015) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made  
 
Public Services (Social Value) Act (2012) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted  
 
Quilter-Pinner, H. & Hochlaf, D. (2019) ‘Social Care: free at the point of need’ 
Institute for Public Policy Research, available at: 
https://www.caremanagementmatters.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/05/Social_care_free_at_the_point_of_need.pdf  
 
RNIB (2022) ‘Key information and statistics on sight loss in the UK’ available at: 
https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/health-social-care-education-
professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics-on-sight-
loss-in-the-uk/  
 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 and the protection of Freedoms Bill 
available at: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents  
 
Skills for Care, ‘Think Care Careers: Personal Assistants,’ available at: 
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Careers-in-care/Job-roles/Roles/Personal-
assistant.aspx  
 
The Alzheimer’s Society ‘How much does dementia care cost,’ available at: 
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/how-much-does-dementia-care-cost 
  
The Hubbub, ‘Community Fridge Network,’ available at: 
https://www.hubbub.org.uk/the-community-fridge  
 
The King’s Fund (2019), ‘What is Commissioning and How is it Changing?’ 
available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-
how-it-changing  
 
The Manual Handling Operations Regulations (1992) available at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/2793/made  
 
Think Local Act Personal, ‘Market Position Statements,’ available at: 
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/co-production-in-commissioning-
tool/commissioning-market-shaping/In-more-detail/Market-Position-Statements/  
 
World Health Organization ‘Coronavirus disease (COVID-19)’ available at: 
https://www.who.int/health-topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_1  
 
World Health Organization ‘Autism’ available at: https://www.who.int/news-
room/fact-sheets/detail/autism-spectrum-disorders  
 

Page 215

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/articles/demandforadultsocialcareacrosscountiesandunitaryauthoritiesinengland/2018-12-18
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthcaresystem/articles/demandforadultsocialcareacrosscountiesandunitaryauthoritiesinengland/2018-12-18
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/3/enacted
https://www.caremanagementmatters.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Social_care_free_at_the_point_of_need.pdf
https://www.caremanagementmatters.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Social_care_free_at_the_point_of_need.pdf
https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/health-social-care-education-professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics-on-sight-loss-in-the-uk/
https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/health-social-care-education-professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics-on-sight-loss-in-the-uk/
https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/health-social-care-education-professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics-on-sight-loss-in-the-uk/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Careers-in-care/Job-roles/Roles/Personal-assistant.aspx
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/Careers-in-care/Job-roles/Roles/Personal-assistant.aspx
https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/blog/how-much-does-dementia-care-cost
https://www.hubbub.org.uk/the-community-fridge
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-how-it-changing
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/what-commissioning-and-how-it-changing
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1992/2793/made
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/co-production-in-commissioning-tool/commissioning-market-shaping/In-more-detail/Market-Position-Statements/
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/co-production-in-commissioning-tool/commissioning-market-shaping/In-more-detail/Market-Position-Statements/
https://www.who.int/health-topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_1
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/autism-spectrum-disorders
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/autism-spectrum-disorders


  

108 

 

Woodspring Locality Partnership (2022) ‘Woodspring Dementia Directory’, 
available at: https://aliveactivities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Woodspring-
Dementia-Directory-DC.pdf  

Page 216

https://aliveactivities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Woodspring-Dementia-Directory-DC.pdf
https://aliveactivities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/Woodspring-Dementia-Directory-DC.pdf


 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 21/3/2024 
 
Subject of Report: Update on the management of 'Transitions’ between 
Children’s social care and adult social care. 
 
Town or Parish: N/A 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Martin Hawketts  
 
Key Decision: NO  
 
Reason: 
Report provided for update and information. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
Report provided for Information. 
 
1. Summary of Report 
 
This report provides an overview on the following:  
 

• The overall process and governance of ‘transitions’ 
• Demand and financial impact 
• Planned actions and mitigations.  

 
2. Policy 
 
From the Directorate statement and risk register: 
 
A-6.2 Further embed an effective transitions pathway: There will be a seamless transition 
and needs led support and services for young people. 
 
A-RISK5 Risk around resources to address the increasing demand in complex transitional 
cases (also in children's directorate). 
 
3. Details 
 
The overall process and governance of ‘transitions’ 
 

In North Somerset the adults ‘transitions’ team was established in 2019 as a ‘restructure’ of 
exiting adult care resources, and is currently a ‘sub team’ of the ‘Community team for 
people with Learning disabilities’ and is overseen by a Senior Social Worker (Grade 9) 

Page 217

Agenda Item 11



having a staffing establishment of 5.42 Full time equivalent (a mixture of social work 
qualified and support staff)  

 
The current active team caseload (at the date of this report) is 112 allocated cases, 
averaging approx. 20 cases per full time worker (it should be noted that the team works with 
individuals up to age 25) 

 
Young people are identified and referred by Children’s social care to adult social care (i.e. 
between directorates).  The ambition is that this is done at age 14.  These young people are 
then placed into a ‘tracking list’ by the Transitions team.  There is a referral form is in place 
for use by Childrens social care.  Adult social care accepts individuals who are eligible 
under the criteria laid out in the Care Act 2014.  

 
The Transitions teams have a training offer to Children’s social care to support knowledge 
of adult services which is run regularly.   We have established good working relationships 
between the Directorates.  

 
Active work with families usually takes place between the ages of 16 and 18 years old, 
there may be several assessments during this period as needs can vary greatly as young 
people mature. The final assessment is normally completed within 6 months of 18th Birthday 
for accuracy. 

 
Whilst the ambition is for all young people to be identified early, this is not always possible – 
for example Children and Adolescent Mental Health services do not usually transfer to Adult 
Mental health services until after 17 years of age.     

 
In addition to the referral process the Transitions team undertake some proactive 
identification work of young people for example we have a yearly meeting with both SEND 
schools (Ravenswood and Bay tree) on a yearly basis to identify school leavers. 

 
Currently 95% of all referrals are received into the team prior to a young person’s 17th 
Birthday. 

 
There is information contained on the ‘local offer’ regarding ‘pathways to adulthood’; which 
can be viewed here: 
https://nsod.nsomerset.gov.uk/kb5/northsomerset/directory/advice.page?id=EeD-ZI9i0ws 

 
In order to improve the process, there is a plan to establish a formal ‘Pathways to adulthood 
panel’ where individual young people can be escalated and discussed in greater detail; and 
specific plans and service identified – this will be chaired at Head of Service level and 
include a range of partners.  The specific terms of reference are in development.  This 
should be in place by April 2024. 

 
Demand and financial impact 
 

The overall number of young people who ‘transition’ across from Childrens to adult services 
is a comparatively small number.  The below diagram was produced in February 2024 by 
IMPOWER (consultancy working with children’s services) which provides a useful 
illustration of the scale of the work.  The numbers quoted here should be as broadly 
illustrative of the scale of transitions to adult social care per annum comparative to 
population.   (EHCP – Educational Health and Care Plan)  

Page 218

https://nsod.nsomerset.gov.uk/kb5/northsomerset/directory/advice.page?id=EeD-ZI9i0ws


 

 

The level of acuity of need, and therefore cost of care and support for the young people is 
high.  

Setting a National Context for these costs, In 2022 the Local Government association 
referred to ‘broken markets’ stating that that: 

• 8 of ten largest children’s providers have a private equity involvement, the trend is 
spreading to adults.  

• Spending on children’s residential care rose by 85% between 2015 and 2022. 

• Profit from top 20 providers of care homes/fostering amount to 20% of income.  

 
A lack of suitable housing including supported housing is nationally recognised, and 
reflective locally.  NHS England has recently published an action plan: ‘Building the Right 
Support for People with a learning disability and Autistic People’, with a key action to 
increase the provision of supported housing, acknowledging that the Government needs to 
increase their understanding of the size, cost and demand of the supported housing sector. 

 
Locally we have 201 units of supported living across 48 schemes, with an average capacity 
of 98%.  
 
In a recent analysis we have considered 125 individuals known to the Transitions team 
since 2020.  Of these - 44 individuals required a funded care and support package at age 
18 by virtue of Care Act eligibility.  6 care packages ceased within 12 months, 25 were 
within what could be described as a broadly average range.  Critical, 13 individuals required 
care and support averaging £4073 weekly, an overall annual commitment of 2.76 million.  
This was because of: 
 

• High levels of 1:1 support to address the management of ‘risk’ and ‘behaviors’ 
because of significant learning disability, mental health presentations or significant 

Page 219



trauma.  This can lead to potential ‘over prescription’ of care services because of 
providers taking a highly ‘risk adverse’ approach – potentially as result of lacking 
skilled staff or access to an appropriate accommodation which provides a suitable 
longer term stable housing environment.  
 

• Lack of market and accommodation options can lead to singular choices in provision 
where negotiation of costs is often moot – there are material differentiations between 
children’s and adult providers based on regulation which can cause costs impacts on 
transitions; and often change cannot be facilitated until there is a switch in providers.  
 

It is predicted that there are between 13 and 16 individuals currently between the ages of 
14 and 18 (who will require transitions into adult social care) over the next 4 years who will 
represent a similar level of cost.  

The Medium-Term Financial Plan places a 750K ‘growth’ figure against transitions (and has 
done over the last few MTFP cycles) – the implementation of the action plan is aimed at the 
mitigation of this growth within the budget.  
 
Nationally, It is projected that the population aged 18 – 64 with a learning disability in 
England will increase from 1.16m in 2020 to 1.19m by 2040.  In 2021/22 the number of 
people with learning disabilities / autistic people in England, receiving local authority funded 
care / support is 150,970; this is estimated to increase to c 169,500 by 2037. It is suggested 
that there will be 21,677 children with learning disabilities likely to transition to adult 
services in 2027, increasing to 65,031 by 2037 in England.  
 

Planned actions and mitigations.  
 

Across the BNSSG region there is an ongoing project to commission a ‘Positive Behavioral 
Support (PBS)’ provision to provide intense ‘in reach’ to providers to mitigate and manage 
complex and challenging behaviors; the funding for which derives from NHS Section 256 
monies (currently held by Bristol City Council); and is aimed to work with approximately 10 
North Somerset residents. This service is not specifically aimed at transitions cases, but the 
goal is to upskill providers locally in techniques to manage and mitigate behavior with the 
wider impact on the skills held within the provider market.  The tendering process is due to 
commence in April 2024 with proposed implementation towards the end of the year.  

Adult commissioning now has a clearer understanding of the number and type of 
accommodation with support provision that is required, both now and over the next 2 years.    
We have agreed that for any ongoing scheme that doesn’t already have a signed ‘voids and 
nominations agreement’, if the scheme is approved and supported by the council, we will 
assume the risk around the signing of this agreement, as we understand this will remove a 
perceived barrier for developers and encourage further engagement.  There are 36 
individuals with an identified need for accommodation, or which 19 individuals are under 25; 
6 of which are leaving education, 10 are moving on from the parental home, and the 
remaining 3 are moving on from other types of care provision (such as care homes); 
developing resources to match this demand and provide the right type of accommodation 
will mitigate care costs.  

There is continued development and usage of technology enabled care for younger people 
which can enhanced and sustain care provisions. We will ensure that all specifications for 
supported housing will maximise the technology opportunities.  We will also ensure that we 

Page 220



work more closely with the adult social care tech hub to ensure that the pilot equipment 
being considered for adults will be more widely considered for young people. 

There is work in progress to develop an overarching ‘pathways to adulthood’ strategy 
across the directorates which will cover the following main themes:  

• Early Identification and Assessment 

• Person-centred approach 

• Personalisation 

• Co-production 

• Measurable outcomes 

This strategy is envisioned to encompass a wide range of pathways for young people of 
which adult social care are an aspect.  

 
4. Consultation 
 
Consultation for this report has been with internal teams within the respective Directorates.  
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
Costs 
There are no specific costs associated with this report. 
 
Funding 
There is no specific funding associated with this report. 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 
 
Transitions work and legal duties defined under the Care Act (2014) 
 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
 
No specific implications noted.  
 
8. Risk Management 
 
There are associated risks round the demand management for transitions cases which are 
outlined in the detail of the report (above) 
 
9. Equality Implications 
 
Have you undertaken an Equalities Impact assessment? 
No - Report provided for update and information. 
 
10. Corporate Implications 
 
No specific implications noted.  
 

Page 221



11. Options Considered 
 
Report provided for information – no specific options considered  
 
Author: 
Martin Hawketts, Head of Service Adult Social care   
 
Appendices: 
 
Power Point presentation to accompany report. 
 
Background Papers: 
 
None  
 
 
 

Page 222



Update on the management of  
'Transitions’  between Children’s 
social care and adult social care.
Martin Hawketts
Head of Service – Adult social care                                        March 2024

P
age 223



Process and governance of ‘transitions’

• Adult team established in 2019 – focusing on staff developing 
skills in this area and managing all incoming referrals in a single 
place.

• 95% of all referrals are now received prior to 17th Birthday, 
continuing ambition for referrals to be received at age 14 

• Work with individuals up to age 25 (handover to ongoing 
support)

• We are Developing a more formal ‘panel’ process for the 
handover of cases.

P
age 224



Demand and Financial Impact 

Diagram by IMPOWER 
(Feb 2024) – illustrates the 
broad scale of transitions to 
adult care 

P
age 225



‘Broken Markets’ for care and Support (LGA 2022 Report)

Analysis of 125 Cases since 2020:

80 – No funded care and support required
6 – Care and support provided for under 12 months post-18
25 – ‘normal range’ of service provision
13 – High-cost cases (£4073 weekly, 2.76 million annually total)

Similar (or slightly greater demand predicted) across next 4 years:

High acuity / risk alongside  limited provision options. 

National indicators show number of young people likley to transition to increase by 
67thousand  by 2037

P
age 226



Planned Actions and Mitigations 
• Commissioning work to predict demand and design service 

provision to match – working with housing and care providers. 

• Positive Behavioural Support project

• Technology enabled care

• Development of ‘Pathways to adulthood strategy’ 

P
age 227



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

North Somerset Council 
 
Report to the Adult Services and Housing Policy and Scrutiny Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 21 March 2024 
 
Subject of Report: Finance Update (as at month 10) 
 
Town or Parish: All 
 
Officer/Member Presenting: Principal Accountant (Adults) 
 
Key Decision: No 
 
 
 
Recommendations 
That the panel notes the current forecast spend against budget for 2023/24 and the risks 
and opportunities associated with the medium-term financial position for the directorate. 
 
 
1. Summary of Report 

1.1 This report summarises and discusses current forecast spend against budget for 
adult services, highlighting key variances, movements, and contextual information. 
The forecast is based on figures at the end of month 10 (January 2024). 

 
1.2 The current overall forecast year end position for Adult Social Services is £1.178m 

net favourable variance (1.37% of the net budget). It should be noted that this 
forecast underspend includes £678k additional reserve drawdown following a 
corporate review of reserves to offset overall council overspends. Without this 
drawdown the underlying underspend is £500k. 

 
1.3 This forecast continues to rely on assumptions about factors such as short-term 

placements, increases in demand, children transitioning to adulthood, client 
contributions and MTFP savings to materialise. In summary, there is a projected 
overspend of £2.033m associated with individual care packages and support. 
Underspends in other service areas offset this overspend. 

 
1.4 It is worth noting at this stage of the financial year there remains a degree of 

uncertainty with forecasts with several key risks and opportunities that are likely to 
materialise during the rest of the financial year, which will impact on the final 
position. 

 
 
2. Policy 

1.1. The Council’s budget monitoring is an integral feature of its overall financial 
processes, ensuring that resources are planned, aligned, and managed effectively to 

Page 229

Agenda Item 12



achieve successful delivery of its aims and objectives. The revenue and capital 
budgets have been set within the context of the council’s medium-term financial 
planning process, which support the adopted Corporate Plan 2020 to 2024. 

 
3. Details 
 
1.2. The main headline variances to budget are illustrated in the table below and further 

narrative is provided in the following paragraphs. A summary of the outturn position 
against budget is shown in Table 1 below, and a more detailed breakdown is 
contained in Appendix 1. 

 
      Table 1 

NORTH SOMERSET COUNCIL – 2023/24 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 
  31 January 2024     
        

REVISED 
BUDGET OUT-TURN OUT-TURN 

VARIANCE 

Net Net Net 

ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES 

£ £ £ 
        
Learning Disability 33,932,133 33,505,472 (426,661) 
Physical Support 24,579,880 26,669,394 2,089,514 
Mental Health 9,344,110 8,927,871 (416,239) 
Memory & Cognition 6,404,259 7,093,117 688,858 
Social Support: Support for Carer 1,123,062 1,259,102 136,040 
Social Support: Substance Abuse 268,103 186,045 (82,058) 
Sensory Support 165,280 208,757 43,477 
Individual Care and Support 
Packages 75,816,827 77,849,758 2,032,930 
        
Social Care Activities 15,050,822 13,589,389 (1,461,433) 
Information & Early Intervention 949,576 752,088 (197,488) 
Assistive Equipment & Technology  404,829 313,963 (90,866) 
Other Social Care 16,405,227 14,655,440 (1,749,787) 
        
Commissioning & Service Strategy (6,737,171) (8,169,157) (1,431,986) 
Commissioning & Service Strategy (6,737,171) (8,169,157) (1,431,986) 
        
Housing Services 579,258 550,219 (29,039) 
Housing Services 579,258 550,219 (29,039) 
        
ADULT SOCIAL SERVICES TOTAL 86,064,141 84,886,259 (1,177,882) 

 
 
 
1.3. Individual Care & Support (£2,032k overspend); this is by far the biggest area of 

spend and the forecast position is 2.7% different from the budget. This area is 
discussed in detail in Appendix 2. 

 

Page 230



1.4. Major variances outside Individual Care and Support Packages. 
 

1.4.1. Social Care Activities (£1,461k underspend); the largest overspend in this 
area relates to Community Meals, where increases in the cost of meals and 
additional transports costs are leading to a £150k overspend. Unallocated 
growth funding of £650k (that originated from a corporate social care grant) 
is being held to offset this community meals overspend as well as 
contributing to other overspend across the directorate. Along with 
Commissioning and Service Delivery this is where the majority of staffing 
costs are coded, across the two areas there are vacancy savings of £600k, 
which include the effects of the vacancy freeze. 

 
1.4.2. Information and Early intervention (£197k underspend); savings on 

recommissioning services and the correct allocation of funding sources (from 
Public Health and Better Care Fund) will result in an underspend in this area. 

 
1.4.3. Assistive Equipment and Technology (£91k underspend); there are savings 

in the costs of the Technology Enabled Care Hub as well as some savings 
on the procurement of general Aids and Adaptations.  

 
1.4.4. Commissioning & service delivery (£1,432k underspend); the additional 

£678k reserve drawdown is included here as well as some of the vacancy 
freeze saving effect. Additional, unbudgeted Better Care Fund inflation is 
also contributing to the underspend in this area. 

 
1.4.5. Housing Services (£29k underspend); within Housing Services there is 

increased cost pressures arising from additional demand for emergency B&B 
accommodation, but this is more than offset by salary savings from 
vacancies across the teams as well as savings against the prevention 
initiatives. 

 
 
Medium Term Financial Planning 
 
1.5. The 2024/25 budget was approved by full Council in February 2024, following 

previous considerations at Executive. The budget includes the following key 
changes from the 2023/24 budget. 

 
1.6. Pay inflation; this amount included the difference in the 2023/24 pay rise as well as the 

anticipated 2024/25 pay award. 
 

1.7. Growth has been allowed for inflation to care packages, including increasing rates to 
cover the cost of the living wage increases. There are also increases from anticipated 
increased demand for services. 

£'000
2023/24 Base Budget 84,517
Growth items

Pay Related inflation 782
Inflation, demographics, transitions 6,347
New funding 2,628

Savings -5,767
Budget transfers (from other directorates) 313
2024/25 Budget 88,820

Page 231



 
 
3.7 New funding is an increase to the Market Sustainability and Improvement Fund, which 

is specific funding awarded to help close the Cost of Care gap. 
 
3.8 The Budget transfers relate to Housing functions which are being brought back into 

the directorate from Public Health. 
 

3.9 The budget also includes £5.8m of planned savings in the following primary areas, 
which are consistent with the principles of our Maximising Independence and 
Wellbeing Vision. 

 
• Undertaking timely reviews of care assessments and Direct Payment 

arrangements to ensure that they continue to reflect needs and take 
opportunities to maximise independence. 
 

• Reviewing care pathways to ensure the maximum benefit is obtained from the 
new Reablement and Technology Enabled Care Services. 

 
• Ensuring income from health partners represents a fair and appropriate 

contribution, as required by legislation. 
 

• Bringing forward additional alternative care accommodation solutions (such as 
Supported Living and Extra Care Housing) that are more cost effective and 
increase independence when compared, for example, to residential care. 

 
• Increased client charges to cover inflation and to reflect increase in benefits 

and pensions. 
 

 
Risks and opportunities 
 
1.8. There are a number of risks associated with the adult social care budget, some of 

which were heightened by the Covid-19 pandemic, and we are still experiencing 
ongoing effects. The following is a non-exhaustive list of some of the key risks in 
achieving a balanced budget. 

 
1.9. We are experiencing increased demand for support across all parts of adult social 

care. Numbers of placements has increased in all settings in 2023/24, following 
several years of reduced placement numbers. Nursing, in particular, is now higher 
than pre-Covid. 

 
1.10. Whilst we have received additional funding to start to close the cost of care gap 

highlighted in the fair cost of care exercise, the sector continues to see increased 
costs which could affect the financial stability of the care market generally. The 
sector also continues to struggle with the recruitment and retention of care staff. 

 
1.11. The MTFP savings targets continue to be challenging, demand and cost factors 

outside of our control could reduce our ability to meet these targets. 
 

1.12. Inflationary pressures from the cost-of-living wage, will impact on service provision 
as well as within the council. Higher inflation for fuel, energy and food will impact 
community meals and other service provision such as homecare. 

Page 232



 
1.13. The Social Care reforms have been delayed but the results of the “Fair Price for 

Care” model will still need to be addressed. 
 

1.14. The ability to achieve income targets could be affected by the general increases in 
the cost of living as clients may have less disposable income and there is a risk that 
arrears will increase.  
 

1.15. There is a risk that the funding we receive from government or health will change, 
or conditions attached to the funding could be updated. 

 
 
4. Consultation 

1.16. Not applicable. 

 
5. Financial Implications 

1.17. Financial implications are contained throughout the report. 
 
6. Legal Powers and Implications 

1.18. The Local Government Act 1972 lays down the fundamental principle by providing 
that every local authority shall make arrangements for the proper administration of 
their financial affairs, although further details and requirements are contained within 
related legislation. The setting of the council’s budget for the forthcoming year, and 
the ongoing arrangements for monitoring all aspects of this, is an integral part of the 
financial administration process. 

 
7. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

1.19. Adult Social Services is developing a Carbon Literacy and Climate Action Plan, of 
which investment in TEC (Technology Enabled Care) and other means of prevention 
and early intervention, will be critical to reducing the size and number of care 
packages/visits and therefore reducing carbon footprint. 

 
8. Risk Management 

1.20. See paragraphs 3.10 to 3.17. 
 
9. Equality Implications 

1.21. Not applicable to this report directly. The 2023/24 revenue budget incorporates 
savings approved by Members in February 2023, all of which are supported by an 
equality impact assessment (EIA). These EIAs have been subject to consultation and 
discussion with a wide range of stakeholder groups to ensure all risks have been 
identified and understood. 

Page 233



 
10. Corporate Implications 

1.22. There are no specific corporate implications within the report. 

 
11. Options Considered 

1.23. Not applicable. 
 
 
 
 
Author: 
Graham Booth, Principal Accountant (Adults). 
graham.booth@n-somerset.gov.uk 
 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – Breakdown of major 2023/24 variances to budget. 
Appendix 2 – Narrative in relation to Care and Support packages. 
Appendix 3 – Detailed breakdown of Care and Support outturn. 
Appendix 4 – Activity and Unit cost data. 
  

Page 234

mailto:graham.booth@n-somerset.gov.uk


Appendix 1 – Breakdown of major 2023/24 forecast variances to budget. 

 

Directorate Summary
Original 
Budget 
2023/24

Virements Revised 
Budget 
2023/24

Provisional 
Out-turn 
2023/24

Provisional Out-
turn Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
 - Gross Expenditure 125,374 3,262 128,636 133,568 4,932
 - Income (40,659) (1,277) (41,936) (47,384) (5,447)
 - Transfers to / from Reserves (381) (255) (636) (1,298) (663)
= Directorate Totals 84,334 1,730 86,064 84,886 (1,178)

Provisional Out-turn Variance -1.37%

 - Individual Care and Support Packages 75,817 0 75,817 77,850 2,033
 - Social Care Activities 13,699 1,352 15,051 13,589 (1,461)
 - Information & Early Intervention 978 (28) 950 752 (197)
 - Assistive Equipment & Technology 339 66 405 314 (91)
 - Commissioning & Service Delivery Strategy (7,122) 384 (6,737) (8,169) (1,432)
 - Housing Services 624 (44) 579 550 (29)

= Directorate Totals 84,334 1,730 86,064 84,886 (1,178)
Provisional Out-turn Variance -1.37%

Extract showing material variances compared to the revised budget

Service area and projected budget variance
Revised 
Budget 
2023/24

Provisional 
Out-turn 
2023/24

Provisional Out-
turn Variance

£000 £000 £000

 - Individual Care and Support Packages
Expenditure - Long Term Care Packages (residential) 51,233 56,118 4,885
Client Income - Long Term Care Packages (residential) (12,593) (14,564) (1,970)
Expenditure - Long Term Care Packages (non-residential) 40,197 42,941 2,744
Client Income - Long Term Care Packages (non-residential) (4,358) (4,793) (435)
Expenditure - Short Term Care Packages 7,811 5,778 (2,033)
Client Income - Short Term Care Packages (333) (565) (232)
Other income (including CCG contributions) (6,779) (7,614) (835)
Other 640 548 (91)

 - Social Care Activities
Community Meals - increased cost of meals, additional transport costs & shortfall in income 84 234 150
Vacancies across teams 10,627 9,927 (700)
Hold unalloacted growth funding to cover Community Meals and other overspends 2,969 2,369 (600)

 - Information & Early Intervention
Savings on recommisiioning and allocation of Public Health income to correct projects 247 23 (223)

 - Assistive Equipment & Technology
Savings on procurement of Aids & Adapataions and Technology Enabled Care Hub 396 253 (144)
Delay on achieving MTFP savings related to closing Technical Centre 5 57 53

 - Commissioning & Service Delivery Strategy
Suppporting People Commissioning 1,393 1,348 (44)
Court of Protection, increase in number of clients, resulting in incresed income 125 99 (26)
Vacancies across teams 2,226 2,076 (150)
Additional inflation on BCF (10,723) (11,142) (419)
Reserve drawdown - release reserves following Corporate review of reserves 0 (678) (678)

 - Housing Services
Housing Solutions - Emergency Accommodation - additional demand for B&B 15 107 92
Staffing savings from vacancies 469 408 (61)
Savings on Prevention initiatives 58 (7) (65)

Sub total - material budget variances (783)

Other minor variations to the budget (395)

= Directorate Total (1,178)

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW OF THE ADULTS SOCIAL SERVICES DIRECTORATE
31 January 2024

The forecast out-turn position of the 2023/24 financial year for the Adult Social Services directorate is a net underspend of £1.178m 
when compared to the revised budget of £86,064m that was set for the year. The table below provides additional information on where 
spending or income plans are different to the budget that was approved at the start of the year.

Page 235



Appendix 2 – Narrative in relation to Care and Support packages. 
 
The predominant area of spend within the directorate relates to individual care and support 
packages, the net budget for this area is £75.817m which represents over 88% of the net 
budget for the directorate. 
 
Overall Income and Expenditure Trends  
 
The forecast gross expenditure on care packages for 2023/24 is 13.2% higher than 
2022/23, this increase is a combination of increased fees paid to providers to meet 
inflationary pressures as well as an increase in the number of placements. The overall uplift 
given to providers was 9% whilst package numbers have increased by nearly 8% since the 
start of the year.  
 
The 2023/24 budget includes £2m of savings on expenditure within care and support 
packages, and anticipated additional income of £1m, we are currently forecasting that we 
will achieve these savings. 
 
The forecast for client income is an increase of 19.2% from last year, this reflects the 
higher-than-average increases in pensions and other benefits due to the government 
enacting the triple-lock (this was built into the budget in the £1m saving above). The 
increase in other contributions reflects actual anticipated contributions from health. 
 
This means that the increase in total net spend from 2022/23 to 2023/24 is forecast to be 
11.2%, 2.7% higher than budgeted. 
 
 

 
 
  

2022/23 2023/24 2023/24

Outturn Budget Forecast Change from PY

Gross spend 94,167,403 101,048,099 106,552,571 12,385,168 13.2% 5,504,472 5.4%
Client income (16,711,569) (17,273,547) (19,922,102) (3,210,532) 19.2% (2,648,555) 15.3%
Other contribution (7,019,279) (7,509,725) (8,332,711) (1,313,432) 18.7% (822,986) 11.0%
Use of reserves (441,000) (448,000) (448,000) (7,000) 1.6% 0 0.0%
Net spend 69,995,555 75,816,827 77,849,758 7,854,203 11.2% 2,032,930 2.7%

2023/24 2023/24

Variance from budget

Page 236



Number of Care Packages 
 
Activity data is indicating increases in all types of packages, for nursing care we now have 
more packages than pre-Covid, residential packages are also increasing, but not yet to the 
same numbers as 2019/20. Previous years have seen reductions in the number of home 
care clients, but these numbers are now also starting to rise. We have seen an increase in 
the total number of long-term packages for the first time in several years, with the total 
number of packages of 3,221 as at end of January 2024, compared with 2,987 at the end of 
March 2023. 
 
Analysis has been carried out by BI team focusing on admissions to Residential & Nursing 
placements. The headlines from this piece of work are that there are several factors leading 
to an increase in admissions with a steady number of admissions coming from the 
community, and hospital discharges. There are also a significant number of people coming 
from being self-funding (when their funds fall below threshold) into being LA funded, part of 
the reason for this could be general cost-of-living increases as well as increased cost of 
care together with people living longer. In some quarters of the year the number of self-
funders converting to LA funding is 20% of the total of new packages. The other factor 
which is leading to an increase is that numbers of deceased clients is slowly reducing and 
falling from the high mortality levels in care during Covid. The impact of the mortality rate 
and self-funder conversion is significant and outside of ASC control.  

 
 

 

 
 
  

Page 237



 
Average Unit Costs of Packages 
 
We are starting to see a return to previous years patterns where the average cost of 
packages is increasing by more than the inflationary increase given to providers. For 
residential and nursing placements the average unit cost increase is almost exclusively 
related to the inflationary uplift given to providers, however home care, in particular has 
seen average costs increase by 15% compared to the 9% uplift, so package size and/or 
complexity must be increasing. In overall terms, the average weekly unit cost of a long-term 
care package has increased by c. 10% in the last year, with the majority of this reflecting 
price inflation as opposed to package size. 
 
 

  

Page 238



Other Factors 
 
 
Supported Living 
 
Package numbers in this area continue to increase. From an average of 240 in 2019/20, 
there are now 349 placements; this is an expected rise, which is particularly associated with 
bringing forward new schemes as a more cost-effective alternative to residential 
placements with ESN and to support transitions from childrens services. 
 
Exceptional Special Needs 
 
Finally, it is worth noting that whilst the proportion of residential and nursing placements 
with Exceptional Special Needs (ESN) is relatively stable, the value of these ESN payments 
is actually lower as a proportion of the total residential and nursing spend. So even though 
there are more ESN payments awarded they are of a lower value.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 239



Appendix 3 – Detailed breakdown of Care and Support outturn. 
 

 
  

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24 2023/24

Outturn Outturn Outturn
Revised 
Budget

P10 Forecast Change from PY Variance from budget

Expenditure
Nursing CLT01 11,297,314 11,241,753 13,501,443 14,499,393 16,279,371 2,777,928 20.6% 1,779,978 12.3%
Nursing ESN CLT02 1,641,031 1,728,176 2,255,798 2,335,960 2,132,976 (122,822) -5.4% (202,984) (8.7%)
Residential CLT05 20,979,629 20,459,192 21,448,983 22,764,621 24,288,767 2,839,784 13.2% 1,524,146 6.7%
Residential ESN CLT06 11,792,743 11,848,126 11,795,273 11,633,132 13,416,777 1,621,504 13.7% 1,783,645 15.3%
Shared Lives CLT10 1,627,656 1,686,194 1,787,624 1,911,000 1,979,222 191,598 10.7% 68,222 3.6%
Homecare CLT20 8,968,914 9,340,179 9,523,092 9,381,030 10,864,196 1,341,103 14.1% 1,483,166 15.8%
Extra Care CLT25 1,712,432 1,602,612 1,652,682 1,669,461 1,749,330 96,648 5.8% 79,869 4.8%
Daycare CLT30 1,495,512 1,330,715 1,571,781 1,827,519 1,527,415 (44,366) -2.8% (300,104) (16.4%)
Supported Living CLT40 11,366,867 12,857,390 15,236,333 16,688,887 18,388,718 3,152,385 20.7% 1,699,831 10.2%
Direct Payments VAA01 7,729,415 7,416,395 8,073,715 9,018,422 8,360,359 286,644 3.6% (658,063) (7.3%)
DPs Carers VAA03 7,295 31,636 48,991 50,413 70,927 21,935 44.8% 20,514 40.7%
Sub-total Long-Term 78,618,809 79,542,366 86,895,717 91,779,838 99,058,058 12,162,341 14.0% 7,278,220 7.9%
Enablement Nursing CST01 57,178 411,730 303,577 363,348 61,215 (242,363) -79.8% (302,133) (83.2%)
Enablement Res CST05 61,242 308,108 250,619 305,871 171,433 (79,186) -31.6% (134,438) (44.0%)
ST Nursing CST11 858,075 1,522,904 1,585,962 1,714,778 2,107,914 521,952 32.9% 393,136 22.9%
ST Residential CST15 2,009,944 2,716,947 3,088,878 3,805,356 2,129,329 (959,549) -31.1% (1,676,027) (44.0%)
Reablement CST20 108,767 265,862 747,896 1,621,347 1,307,951 560,055 74.9% (313,396) (19.3%)
Sub-total Short-Term 3,095,206 5,225,551 5,976,932 7,810,700 5,777,841 (199,091) -3.3% (2,032,859) (26.0%)
Various Other CIC Expd 521,141 687,690 1,294,754 1,457,561 1,716,672 421,918 32.6% 259,111 17.8%
Income
Daycare FSC01 (32,009) (104,674) (104,777) (117,403) (116,358) (11,581) 11.1% 1,045 (0.9%)
Direct Payments FSC02 (389,961) (714,951) (829,615) (870,716) (966,762) (137,147) 16.5% (96,046) 11.0%
Extra Care FSC03 (351,391) (380,133) (417,962) (397,985) (464,915) (46,953) 11.2% (66,930) 16.8%
Homecare FSC05 (1,549,146) (2,044,276) (2,051,777) (2,105,848) (2,250,428) (198,651) 9.7% (144,580) 6.9%
Nursing FSC08 (4,076,181) (3,084,340) (4,656,154) (4,425,199) (5,780,028) (1,123,874) 24.1% (1,354,829) 30.6%
Residential FSC10 (7,812,866) (7,267,349) (7,416,543) (8,168,290) (8,783,519) (1,366,977) 18.4% (615,229) 7.5%
Shared Lives FSC14 (249,574) (178,074) (193,956) (207,618) (217,004) (23,048) 11.9% (9,386) 4.5%
Supported Living FSC15 (469,663) (595,979) (641,358) (647,914) (778,587) (137,229) 21.4% (130,673) 20.2%
ST Nursing FSC16 (127,089) (79,513) (136,163) (106,388) (222,553) (86,391) 63.4% (116,165) 109.2%
ST Residential FSC17 (180,867) (135,168) (263,265) (226,186) (341,947) (78,682) 29.9% (115,761) 51.2%
Sub-total client income (15,238,747) (14,584,456) (16,711,569) (17,273,547) (19,922,102) (3,210,532) 19.2% (2,648,555) 15.3%
Contributions LA GCO02 0 (1,709) (6,741) 0 0 6,741 -100.0% 0 #DIV/0!
NHS Cont Residential GCO03 (2,019,758) (2,348,176) (2,459,275) (2,483,860) (2,499,798) (40,523) 1.6% (15,938) 0.6%
Contributions Nursing GCO04 (295,899) (454,449) (507,949) (563,200) (657,447) (149,498) 29.4% (94,247) 16.7%
Contributions Home Care 0 0 (284,582) (273,454) (354,252) (69,670) 24.5% (80,798) 29.5%
Contributions DPs GCO06 (163,277) (182,819) (231,654) (192,861) (280,709) (49,055) 21.2% (87,848) 45.5%
Contributions General GCO07 (718,741) (955,738) (418) (1,214,788) (745,000) (744,582) 177919.7% 469,788 (38.7%)
Contributions Other GCO16 0 (181,404) (228,553) (209,564) (170,910) 57,644 -25.2% 38,654 (18.4%)
Contributions Extra Care 0 0 (18,337) (18,251) (4,583) 13,754 -75.0% 13,668 (74.9%)
Contr'ns Supported Living 0 0 (915,436) (864,161) (1,348,049) (432,614) 47.3% (483,888) 56.0%
Cntributions Day Care 0 0 (2,136) (2,136) (4,259) (2,123) 99.4% (2,123) 99.4%
Sub-total other income (3,197,675) (4,124,296) (4,678,349) (4,937,727) (4,708,115) (988,943) 21.1% 229,612 (4.7%)
Contns Better Care Fund 0 0 (583,836) (583,836) (583,836) 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
Contns  BCF - D2A 0 0 (844,502) (844,502) (844,502) 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
Recoveries General 0 0 (178,253) 0 (119,466) 58,787 -33.0% (119,466) #DIV/0!
Other CIC Income 0 0 (734,339) (1,143,660) (2,076,792) 0.0% (933,132) 81.6%
Various Other CIC Inc (521,141) (1,199,693) (2,340,931) (2,571,998) (3,624,596) (1,283,666) 54.8% (1,052,598) 40.9%
Use of Res (to revenue) 0 0 (441,000) (448,000) (448,000) (7,000) 1.6% 0 0.0%
Tr to Reserves (from Revenue) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
Use of Reserves ZRG01 0 0 (441,000) (448,000) (448,000) (7,000) 0.0% 0 0.0%
Gross spend 82,235,155 85,455,607 94,167,403 101,048,099 106,552,571 12,385,168 13.2% 5,504,472 5.4%
Client income (15,238,747) (14,584,456) (16,711,569) (17,273,547) (19,922,102) (3,210,532) 19.2% (2,648,555) 15.3%
Other contributions (3,718,816) (5,323,988) (7,019,279) (7,509,725) (8,332,711) (1,313,432) 18.7% (822,986) 11.0%
Use of Reserves (441,000) (448,000) (448,000) (7,000) 1.6% 0 0.0%
Net spend 63,277,592 65,547,163 69,995,555 75,816,827 77,849,758 7,854,203 11.2% 2,032,930 2.7%

Page 240



Appendix 4 – Activity and Unit cost data. 
 
Activity data 
 

 
  

COST & VOLUME SUMMARY - PACKAGES OF CARE TREND MONTHLY BY VOLUME

Provision Type 4 years ago 3 years ago 2 years ago 1 year ago 6 month 3 month 2 month 1 month current YTD
Long Term Care Ave. 19/20 Ave.  20/21 Ave.  21/22 Ave.  22/23  @ Jul 23  @ Oct 23 @ Nov 23  @ Dec 23 @ Jan 24 Ave. 23/24 Trend Line (1Y) Current 1Y Change Change Change
Nursing CLT01 341 308 306 340 362 379 384 380 373 369 373 29 8%
Nursing Extra CLT02 51 55 61 83 84 85 84 79 80 83 80 0 0%
Residential CLT05 736 705 669 641 681 683 693 699 697 681 697 41 6%
Residential Extra CLT06 243 263 260 265 299 309 326 327 326 307 326 42 16%
Shared Lives CLT10 48 47 48 49 51 50 50 48 54 50 54 1 2%
Home Care CLT20 949 924 875 738 699 737 741 741 744 717 744 21-              -3%
Extra Care CLT25 123 125 120 118 128 132 133 131 127 129 127 11 9%
Day Care CLT30 256 226 178 162 150 161 162 161 162 156 162 6-                -4%
Supported Living CLT40 240 263 281 296 325 341 345 342 349 332 349 36 12%
Direct Payment VAA01 333 319 300 301 301 299 302 307 309 301 309 0 0%
Total Long Term Care 3,321 3,234 3,098 2,993 3,080 3,176 3,220 3,215 3,221 3,126

Short term Care Ave. 19/20 Ave.  20/21 Ave.  21/22 Ave.  22/23  @ Jul 23  @ Oct 23 @ Nov 23  @ Dec 23 @ Jan 24 Ave. 23/24 Trend Line (1Y) Current 1Y Change Change Change
Enablement - Nursing CST01 10 2 13 9 3 - 3 1 1 2 1 7-                -80%
Enablement - Residential CST05 14 3 14 8 15 9 11 12 9 10 9 1 13%
Short term - Nursing CST11 18 19 24 24 46 29 28 28 28 34 28 10 40%
Short term - Residential CST15 43 35 40 52 40 38 43 42 52 47 52 5-                -9%
Reablement CST20 15 12 11 4 5 1 1 1 5 3 5 1-                -23%
Total Short Term Care 100 70 103 97 109 77 86 84 95 95

TOTAL 3,421 3,304 3,201 3,090 3,189 3,253 3,306 3,299 3,316 3,222

P
age 241



Unit Cost Data 
 
 
 

 
 
 

COST & VOLUME SUMMARY - PACKAGES OF CARE TREND BY UNIT COST

Provision Type 4 years ago 3 years ago 2 years ago 1 year ago 6 month 3 month 2 month 1 month current YTD
Long Term Care Ave. 19/20 Ave.  20/21 Ave.  21/22 Ave.  22/23  @ Jul 23  @ Oct 23 @ Nov 23  @ Dec 23 @ Jan 24 Ave. 23/24 Trend Line (1Y) Current 1Y Change Change Change
Nursing CLT01 603.75£          640.31£         663.41£         720.94£         801.65£  798.35£  801.78£ 803.60£  803.24£  800.32£   £803 79.38£       11.0%
Nursing Extra CLT02 464.92£          551.11£         503.18£         489.68£         511.10£  452.03£  456.87£ 458.65£  461.37£  482.20£   £461 7.48-£         -1.5%
Residential CLT05 528.54£          559.33£         577.53£         619.68£         680.97£  688.48£  687.44£ 685.12£  691.36£  682.19£   £691 62.52£       10.1%
Residential Extra CLT06 820.73£          850.80£         864.74£         839.05£         814.22£  798.34£  789.28£ 802.02£  805.18£  809.46£   £805 29.60-£       -3.5%
Shared Lives CLT10 445.84£          503.82£         503.64£         503.67£         513.35£  514.07£  514.07£ 523.22£  487.86£  517.80£   £488 14.13£       2.8%
Home Care CLT20 178.98£          200.28£         224.21£         253.36£         284.83£  290.52£  308.81£ 305.62£  300.31£  291.28£   £300 37.92£       15.0%
Extra Care CLT25 239.65£          242.66£         245.81£         239.26£         235.21£  242.56£  237.58£ 239.60£  244.58£  238.63£   £245 0.63-£         -0.3%
Day Care CLT30 135.21£          144.24£         153.32£         181.79£         194.00£  191.29£  191.64£ 192.15£  189.24£  193.42£   £189 11.63£       6.4%
Supported Living CLT40 684.26£          701.82£         770.62£         853.77£         930.18£  945.10£  960.70£ 969.56£  957.37£  943.23£   £957 89.46£       10.5%
Direct Payment VAA01 487.35£          495.12£         525.91£         561.61£         578.51£  578.50£  580.43£ 586.45£  569.46£  583.11£   £569 21.51£       3.8%
Ave. Long Term Care 421.60£          451.32£         483.01£         533.46£         584.82£  584.32£  591.26£ 593.56£  590.65£  586.51£   

Short term Care Ave. 19/20 Ave.  20/21 Ave.  21/22 Ave.  22/23  @ Jul 23  @ Oct 23 @ Nov 23  @ Dec 23 @ Jan 24 Ave. 23/24 Trend Line (1Y) Current 1Y Change Change Change
Enablement - Nursing CST01 588.96£          588.96£         666.24£         700.62£         756.82£  -£        748.90£ 751.94£  751.94£  678.17£   £752 22.45-£       -3.2%
Enablement - Residential CST05 487.63£          487.63£         562.77£         587.61£         769.76£  756.97£  777.14£ 810.94£  786.05£  719.13£   £786 131.52£     22.4%
Short term - Nursing CST11 595.75£          595.75£         681.90£         742.32£         739.80£  748.66£  734.28£ 747.22£  755.99£  751.83£   £756 9.51£         1.3%
Short term - Residential CST15 536.07£          536.07£         553.97£         603.04£         600.04£  630.05£  698.13£ 620.83£  755.51£  676.64£   £756 73.60£       12.2%
Reablement CST20 224.42£          224.42£         242.79£         246.65£         522.03£  335.86£  335.86£ 184.45£  573.26£  371.39£   £573 124.74£     50.6%
Ave. Short Term Care 498.81£          498.58£         566.00£         630.82£         683.11£  685.74£  717.57£ 686.48£  748.91£  697.78£   

OVERALL WEIGHTED AVERAGE 423.86£          452.33£         485.67£         536.52£         588.18£  586.72£  594.55£ 595.92£  595.18£  589.81£   

P
age 242



Page 1 of 4 
 

ASH Policy and Scrutiny Work Programme March 2024  
(to be updated following each Panel meeting) 

 
The Panel will consider issues of significant public concern, areas of poor performance and areas where Members think the Council 
could provide better value for money.  This is a “live” document and is subject to change as priorities or circumstances change. 
 

Section One – planned panel working groups.   
Topic Reason for scrutiny and approach 

(including reporting arrangements) 
Progress and Outcomes Contact 

KPIs for Adults 
Social Services 

To feed into upcoming CQC inspection; Report 
back to 21MAR24 Panel with recommendations 
to the Director, Adults Services. 

Met 12DEC23 and 15JAN24. Report to March 
Panel with recommendations arising from the two 
meetings.  

Abby 
Murphy, 
Katie Lyddon 

Carers Strategy To implement the ‘Think Carer’ agenda This will be revisited at March ASH meeting Kathryn 
Benjamin 

Affordable Housing To look at NSC’s affordable housing provision This to revert to being a steering group only 
meeting when required. The Housing Standards 
Inquiry Day group to be run separately. 

Sarah 
Stillwell 

    
 
 

Section Two – briefings, workshops, and informal panel meetings.  Outcomes may, with Chairman’s agreement, 
generate panel agenda items (for inclusion in S4 below) or, with panel agreement, be escalated to S1 above:  
Topic Reason for scrutiny  Date Progress and Outcomes Contact 
Housing Standards 
Inquiry Day 

to better understand what is needed 
locally to improve the standards of 
homes 

20 June 
2024 

 Sarah 
Stillwell; 
Hayley 
Verrico 

     
     
     

 

  

P
age 243

A
genda Item

 13



Page 2 of 4 
 

Section Three - agenda reports to the Panel meetings as agreed by the Chairman.   This section provides for the forward 
planning of agendas and a record of panel meeting activity.    
 

ASH 2 November 2023 
Report Title Purpose of Report Outcome 

(actions) 
Contact 

Better Care Fund Plan 2023-25 To note the Better Care Fund Plan. Panel assurance 
received 

Gerald Hunt 

Performance Report Note the performance monitor for the 2023/24 financial 
year; endorse the service delivery achievements and the 
proposed actions to further improve performance; 
identify any areas for further investigation. 

Panel feedback 
received, service 
delivery 
achievements 
endorsed. 

Abby 
Murphy 

Housing Strategy Year 1 Review Endorse proposed changes to North Somerset Council 
Housing strategy as part of the annual review.  

Changes endorsed Sarah 
Stillwell 

Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Plan 

Note and comment on the Annual Report. 
 

Feedback given Jo Purser, 
Teresa Bell 

Adult Social Services 
Commissioning Strategy 

ASH Panel to contribute, make comments on and  
endorse the Adult Social Services Commissioning  
Strategy. 

Feedback given, 
Strategy endorsed 

Teressa 
Stanley, 
Gerald Hunt 

Finance Update (as at month 5) To note the current forecast spend against budget for 
2023/24 and the risks and opportunities associated with 
the medium-term financial position for the directorate. 

Feedback given Graham 
Booth 

 

ASH 21 March 2024 
Report Title Purpose of Report Outcome 

(actions) 
Contact 

Alliance Homes Update To update and receive feedback from the Panel on the 
activities of Alliance Homes. 

 Iain Lock, 
COO, 
Alliance 
Homes 

P
age 244



Page 3 of 4 
 

Quality Assurance and 
Preparedness for Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection 

To note the report and its contents as part of their 
preparation for a future assurance visit from CQC. 
 

 Kaite 
Lyddon 

Report of the ASH Adult Social 
Care Performance Measures 
working group  

That the Panel endorse the recommendations in the 
report; and that the recommendations be sent to the 
relevant Executive Members; and that the Key 
Performance Indicators listed in this report be collected 
and regularly shared with the Panel.   

 Dan 
Thomas 

Healthwatch report: Time to think 
differently about Adult Social 
Care    

That the Panel review and feedback on the Healthwatch 
Report “Time to Think Differently about adult social 
care”. 

 Georgie 
Bigg 

Adults Social Services and 
Housing Commissioning Intentions 
2024-25 

For the Panel to support the recommendations set out in 
the Full Council Decision report attached. 

 Teresa 
Stanley 

Update on the management of 
'Transitions’ between Children’s 
social care and adult social care 

To update and receive feedback on the management of 
transitions between Children’s and Adult social care 
 

 Martin 
Hawketts 

Finance update (as at month 10) That the panel notes the current forecast spend against 
budget for 2023/24 and the risks and opportunities 
associated with the medium-term financial position for 
the directorate. 

 Graham 
Booth 

 

ASH 2 July 2024 
Report Title Purpose of Report Outcome 

(actions) 
Contact 

Transitions from Children to Adults 
Services 

Brought forward to 21 March 2024  Martin 
Hawketts 

One year review of Carers Inquiry 
action plan 

  Kathryn 
Benjamin 

Finance update   Graham 
Booth 

    
    

P
age 245



Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 
Section Five - Recommendations - Response from Executive Member 

Area for investigation/ 
Recommendations 

When were the 
recommendations to the 

Executive agreed? 
Expect answer by (first panel meeting after 

recommendations were submitted) 
 

Section Six - Progress and follow-up on implementing Panel recommendations 
Panel Recommendation Date of response Actions – implementation progress 

 

P
age 246


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 Alliance Homes Update
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	6.2 2024-03-21 Report to ASH From Alliance Homes

	7 Quality Assurance and Preparedness for Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	7.2 21.3.24 Presentation to ASH re CQC Assurance Programme

	8 Report of the ASH Adult Social Care Performance Measures working group
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered

	9 Healthwatch Report: Time to think differently about Social Care
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	9.2 Time to Think Differently about Care FINAL REPORT
	9.3 Slide deck Adult Social Care report from Healthwatch NS March 2024 ASSH
	Slide 1: Time To Think Differently  about adult social care
	Slide 2: Time To Think Differently  - recommendations


	10 Adult Social Services and Housing Annual Commissioning Intentions Report 2024/25
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	10.2 ASC Annual Commissioning Intentions Report to Full Council
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered

	10.3 ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix A (New Activity)
	10.4 ASC Commissioning and Procurement Plan Appendix B (Existing or previously agreed Activity)
	10.5 ASS Commissioning Strategy 2024 – 2031
	Commissioning Strategy
	1. Executive Summary
	2. Strategy Purpose, Aim and Vision
	3. Corporate Plan
	4. What is Adult Social Care?
	5. Putting the ‘Health’ in Health and Social Care – our Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
	6. Technology Enabled Care (TEC)
	7. National and Local Context
	8. Policy, Legal and Regulatory Framework
	Legislation and White Papers
	Guidance and Strategies

	9. Demographics and Need Analysis
	Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA)
	Physical Health
	Mental Health
	Learning Disabilities

	Early Intervention and Prevention (EIAP)
	Older People
	Ethnicity
	Gender
	Living and Support Arrangements, including Carers
	Dementia
	Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment
	Learning Disability and/or Autism
	Transitions
	Mental Health

	10. Overview of our Market, Commissioned Services and Spend
	North Somerset Market Overview
	Social Care
	Health
	Contracts
	Grants
	Spend

	11. Engagement and Other North Somerset Council Strategies
	Key Themes from Initial Engagement
	North Somerset Council Strategies
	Housing / Housing with Support / Connecting Lives
	Voluntary, Community and Faith Based / Coproduction
	Health and Wellbeing / Mental Health / Loneliness and Isolation / Food / Substance Misuse / Physical Activity
	Occupational Therapy / Technology Enabled Care
	Carers
	Direct Payments


	12. Climate Emergency
	13. Procurement and Social Value
	14. Commissioning Intentions
	Early Intervention & Prevention, Community & Voluntary Sector Support (EI)
	Market Position Statement and Quality Assurance (MPS)
	Homecare/Domiciliary Care (DOM)
	Accommodation with Care and Support (HWS)
	Care Homes (nursing and residential) (CH)
	Physical Disability and Sensory Impairment (PD/SI)
	Learning Disability and/or Autism (LD/A)
	Transitions (TRA)
	Mental Health (MH)
	Micro-providers, Direct Payments (DPs) and Personal Assistants (PAs)
	Self-Funders (SF)
	System Wide (SW)

	15. Feedback and Accessibility
	Feedback
	Accessibility

	16. Appendices
	Action Plan 2023/2024 (to be updated annually)
	Glossary of Terms
	References




	11 Update on the management of 'Transitions' between Children's social care and adult social care.
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered
	11.2 Transitions - scrutiny 210324 PPT

	12 Finance Update (as at month 10)
	1.	Summary of Report
	2.	Policy
	3.	Details
	4.	Consultation
	5.	Financial Implications
	6.	Legal Powers and Implications
	7.	Climate Change and Environmental Implications
	8.	Risk Management
	9.	Equality Implications
	10.	Corporate Implications
	11.	Options Considered

	13 The ASH Panel Work Plan March 2024
	Section Six - Progress and follow-up on implementing Panel recommendations


